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To the Hon. Dean Nalder MLA 
Minister for Transport
In accordance with section 63 of the 
Financial Management Act 2006, I submit 
for your information and presentation to 
Parliament, the annual report of the Public 
Transport Authority of Western Australia for 
the year ended 30 June 2016. It has been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions 
of the Financial Management Act 2006.

Reece Waldock 
Chief Executive Officer

About this report 

This annual report covers the performance 
of the Public Transport Authority (PTA) and 
our operating areas. We fulfil our reporting 
obligation by identifying the relevant strategic 
outcomes and our contribution to them in 
2015-16 through: 

• operational reports that summarise 
the performance of our services and 
business activities (pages 17–62).

• governance and compliance reports  
(pages 63–82).

• audited key performance indicators  
(pages 83–112).

• audited financial statements (pages 113-188).

Performance management framework
To honour the Government’s vision for Western 
Australia, the PTA has targetted two outcomes: 

• An accessible, reliable and safe public 
transport system

• Protection of the long-term functionality of the 
rail corridor and railway infrastructure 

Indicators of success in achieving the first of 
these outcomes are based on patronage and 
service provision, accessibility, reliability, customer 
satisfaction, safety and cost efficiency. 

For the second outcome, success results from 
quality management of the railway corridor and 
residual issues of the rail freight network, which 
was leased to private sector operators in 2000.

Refer to the key performance indicators  
(pages 83–112).
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Chief Executive Officer’s overview

An efficient, sustainable public transport system 
is essential to moving large numbers of people 
during peak periods and alleviating the pressure 
on our roads.

It is in the interest of all Western Australians to 
ensure an effective public transport network is 
supported by key infrastructure to continue to 
develop Perth’s world-class integration of train, 
bus and ferry services.

This year, one of the PTA’s largest infrastructure 
projects, the Forrestfield-Airport Link, reached 
a major milestone with a contract signed to 
deliver the main package of works on the rail 
line to Perth’s eastern foothills. This is a huge 
achievement on the path to delivering this project, 
which will change the face of Perth’s eastern 
corridor and give people direct access to the 
airport by public transport.

It was also a big year for the second stage of 
the Perth City Link project – the underground 
Perth Busport. This project is transforming public 
transport across the metropolitan area, as well as 
the CBD landscape, by reconnecting the inner city 
with Northbridge for the first time in 100 years.

When it is opened (expected early in the new 
financial year), this state-of-the-art facility will 
enable 50 per cent more buses to use it than the 
old Wellington Street Bus Station. Each week day, 
about 1400 buses will travel through the facility and 
there will be about 28,000 passenger movements, 
which is expected to increase to 38,500 by 2031.

Another big 2015-16 milestone was the completion 
of the concrete pad and columns for the Aubin 
Grove Station project. Almost 4000 people a day 

are expected to board Mandurah Line trains  
at this station, which will be serviced by  
six new feeder bus services.

As well as the new station between Cockburn 
Central and Kwinana, the project involves a 
significant upgrade to Russell Road and is just 
one example of the Transport Portfolio working 
together to ensure an integrated transport network.

This year also saw the first of 23 new-generation 
Transwa luxury road coaches arrive in Perth as 
part of a $16.3 million investment in regional 
public transport services. 

Transwa services 240 regional communities and 
these new road coaches will ensure that those 
who cannot or choose not to drive the long 
distances between the city and the regions will 
continue to have accessible, comfortable and 
convenient public transport options into the future. 

Since 2010, we have been working together with 
our portfolio partners, the Department of Transport 
and Main Roads, to enhance the coordination of 
our operations and develop unified policies and 
regulatory functions.

The Transport Portfolio Planning Day saw leadership 
colleagues from across the three agencies come 
together to consider our State’s changing transport 
needs, and how political and economic landscapes 
as well as social and environmental factors will 
influence our way forward.

The collaboration resulted in the Transport Portfolio 
Strategic Framework which centres on our 
promise to strive towards providing world-class 
outcomes for our customers through integrated 

and intelligent transport systems and services.

Building on this promise, work continued on 
the Perth Transport Plan for 3.5 million People 
and Beyond, which looks at options for roads, 
river crossings, mass transit, cycling, demand 
management and future technologies and is set  
to be released early in the new financial year. 

The plan looks at innovative ways to serve  
growth corridors, enhance travelling experience 
and lift operating performance – all key priorities 
now and in the future. 

At the core of everything we do at the PTA  
and across the wider Transport Portfolio are  
our customers, the travellers – our community. 
Together, we will continue to keep WA moving  
by helping each and every Western Australian 
to get to where they need to be as safely and 
efficiently as possible. 

As I prepare to step back from my role as  
Chief Executive Officer and subsequent portfolio 
positions I am immensely proud of what we have 
been able to achieve over the past six years and 
I am confident that the structures are in place to 
ensure that the portfolio will continue to evolve 
along its path long after I have gone, for the 
benefit of the State and the generations to come.

Reece Waldock 
Chief Executive Officer
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Managing Director’s overview

There are lots of metrics by which the success of  
a business can be determined.

Sales growth, dividend return, and market 
capitalisation can all stake a valid claim but 
profitability will always be number one. The public 
transport business, however, is an exception to 
this rule. Public transport is considered to be an 
essential service – it’s subsidised by governments 
to make it readily available to everyone and is not 
expected to run at a profit. In fact, there are very 
few public transport operations anywhere in the 
world that run at a profit. (We are no exception in 
this regard – over the year and across our whole 
operation, the fare box typically returns only about 
30 per cent of our operating costs.)

Traditionally, we have relied on patronage growth – 
the more passenger trips we chalk up, the better 
we’re doing. It was a model that served us well 
for many years, certainly since well before the 
formation of the PTA in 2003. But no more –  
the significant changes which have transformed 
the WA economy over the past couple of years 
have also made us re-evaluate the way in which 
we measure our success. I say this because 
– though I think we are doing pretty well – 
Transperth patronage has just dropped for the 
second time in three years and, at 145.5 million,  
is the lowest it has been since 2011-12.

To some extent, we are victims of our own 
success. In 2003, when the PTA was formed,  
total Transperth system boardings (paid and  
unpaid boardings, transfers and all forms of 
concession travel) were at 90.6m, of which rail  
was 31.1m. In 2012-13, the respective figures 
were 149.7m (up 65 per cent over the 10 years) 
and 65.7m (up 111.25 per cent).

That protracted growth cycle came to an end  
the following year, and we recorded our first 
patronage downturn in more than 15 years.  
This was initially thought to be an anomalous 
glitch due mainly to lots of project-related rail 
closures including two extended shutdowns to 
complete the Fremantle Line tunnel. With the 
benefit of hindsight, we now see it as one of 
the early indicators that the WA economy had 
plateaued after years of growth. Eventually the 
sharp and sustained downturn in the mining 
sector was felt across the whole economy. Our 
Transwa country services have also felt this trend.

Two of the related shockwaves had particular 
implications for the PTA – after several years 
of massive growth, the flood of interstate and 
international migration to WA slowed to a trickle; 
and, probably even more importantly for us, the 
contraction in the mining industry (and much wider 
mining services sector) put a significant hole in our 
core market – Perth CBD commuters.

The widely-reported and well-documented 
procession of jobs and businesses out of the CBD 
– which is also reflected in falling City of Perth 
parking revenue and rising office vacancy rates –  
is the biggest single factor behind the patronage fall. 

While there is only anecdotal evidence of the 
number of CBD jobs which have disappeared, 
10,000 would translate to five million trips a year, 
which would put us well and truly back on trend.

So, with patronage no longer the one and only 
yardstick, we must look elsewhere for ways in 
which to determine how we are faring.

CANSTAR Blue provides a good starting point 
– last year the well-respected and independent 
national pollster announced that Transperth had 
won its City Trains – Most Satisfied Customers 
survey for the fourth time (out of the four surveys 
it has conducted over the past five years). 
Transperth was awarded the maximum five-star 
rating in six of the eight categories, with only  
one other five-star rating awarded anywhere  
else in Australia.

Praise from our national and international  
peers is another pointer to the success of the 
fully-integrated Transperth “model” in which 
all public transport service planning, fares 
and ticketing, operation and infrastructure is 
consolidated in the one organisation. This year 
we hosted official study tours from transport 
authorities in India (who were particularly 
interested in the operation of our underground 
infrastructure), Singapore (the Transperth bus 
system contract model and CAT buses) and  
Hong Kong (rail security).

Our own passengers also provide an obvious 
benchmark: both Transperth’s and Transwa’s 
PSMs (Passenger Satisfaction Monitor) returned 
exceptionally high levels of customer satisfaction 
across the board.
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Seeking to build further on this satisfaction 
rating, and reflecting our strong customer 
service pedigree, we took a number of initiatives 
designed to enhance the passenger experience. 
We continued to expand our urban bus and train 
fleets; we started taking delivery of Transwa’s new 
five-star Volvo/Irizar road coaches; we continued 
our station upgrade program, with special 
emphasis on disability access; we expanded 
our bus priority program; following the opening 
of Elizabeth Quay in late January, we upgraded 
ferry services to and from the new jetty (this was 
extremely well received and significantly increased 
ferry patronage for the year); and we changed 
the name of Esplanade Station (to Elizabeth Quay 
Station) and Esplanade Busport (to Elizabeth Quay 
Bus Station) to provide greater service legibility.

In August we completed work on a rail crossover 
and electrical sub-station at City West, both 
designed to increase operational flexibility and 
system resilience, and minimise passenger 
inconvenience in the event of service disruptions.

In November we introduced Route 380, a special 
bus to run between the airport (T1 and T2) and 
Elizabeth Quay Bus Station and, in May, we 
announced plans to build on the outstanding 
success of the Route 950 with the introduction 
of another high-frequency service between 
Mirrabooka and Curtin University via the new Perth 
Busport. This is scheduled to launch in the second 
quarter of the new financial year.

Meanwhile, significant progress was made on the 
infrastructure front in 2015-16 to expand, enhance 
and upgrade our system. The three “flagship” 
projects are the Forrestfield-Airport Link, Perth 
Busport and Perth Stadium’s transport solution.

The Busport was effectively finished by balance 
date, in line with the projected mid-year completion 
date. On June 16, Transport Minister Dean Nalder 
announced that it would be officially opened on 
July 13, with bus operations starting on July 19.

Significant progress was made on the six-platform  
Perth Stadium Station, with the steel superstructure 
being installed in February, and a nine-day shutdown 
of the Armadale-Thornlie Line planned for early in 
the new financial year to accommodate a transfer 
of operations to some new track. In a related 
project,work started on the Swan River pedestrian 
bridge, a job which is being managed on PTA’s 
behalf by Main Roads WA.

Though it is still in its early stages, the FAL project 
passed some major milestones during the year. 
In February, a joint venture between the Italian 
company Salini Impregilo and Australia’s NRW Pty 
Ltd was announced as the preferred tenderer for 
the major rail works, and a $1.18 billion contract 
was duly signed late in April.

Other significant projects started throughout the 
year which are due for completion in 2016-17 
and which will improve our passengers’ travel 
experience include the Charles Street bus bridge 
(another project being carried out for us by MRWA) 
which will greatly enhance the operations of the 
new Busport; Aubin Grove Station in the southern 
suburbs; and the Edgewater multi-storey car park 
in the northern suburbs.

These exciting developments are a key part 
of our strategy to further improve our public 
transport network and will help to arrest the drop 
in patronage. However the last word on how 
we performed through the year must go to our 
passengers – and a record-equalling 94 per cent 
of bus passengers, 92 per cent of train passengers 
(one point off a record), and a record 100 per cent 
of ferry passengers said they were happy or very 
happy with our services. That’s a good result in 
anyone’s language.

Mark Burgess 
Managing Director
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1.1 Organisational profile

Corporate plan

Vision
To be recognised as a leader in providing  
world-class public transport services and solutions.

Purpose
To provide safe, customer-focussed, integrated 
and efficient transport services.

Values
Our values guide our efforts to create the 
organisation and workforce we need to meet 
current and future challenges.

• Safety – We are committed to safety and 
protecting your future. 

• Respect – We value and respect our 
customers, suppliers and each other.

• Recognition – We recognise each other for 
achievement, initiative and innovation.

• Integrity – We are honest and ethical.

• Sustainability – We consider the long-term 
impact of everything we do – economic,  
social and environmental.

Key Result Areas
We have five KRAs (Key Result Areas) to ensure 
we are focussed on realising our vision:

1. Improve system and service resilience through 
the strategic management of all critical assets.

2. Secure a workforce with the right capabilities 
and attitudes.

3. Provide public transport services  
that meet community demand and  
customer expectations.

4. Make strategic and timely decisions  
through the use of integrated information  
and knowledge management systems.

5. Apply communication strategies to improve 
patronage and increase customer satisfaction.

The PTA is responsible for the operation 
of all bus, train and ferry public transport 
services in the greater metropolitan area 
under the Transperth brand. We operate 
public transport services in regional centres 
under the TransRegional brand; road coach 
and rail passenger services to regional areas 
under the Transwa brand; and administer and 
manage School Bus Services. 

In addition to operating these transport 
services, we design, build and maintain 
public transport infrastructure and protect 
the long-term viability of Western Australia’s 
rail corridor and railway infrastructure. 

We deliver public transport services seven 
days a week and in some cases, deliver 
supporting services up to 24 hours a day.
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Customer Service Charter
The PTA is a customer service-oriented 
organisation, responsible for the delivery of 
efficient and sustainable passenger transport 
services to the public.

• We are committed to providing a quality 
passenger transport service to the public.

• Our bus, train and ferry staff and  
contractors are focussed on delivering  
safe and reliable services.

• Our staff and contractors will treat customers  
in a respectful and professional manner.

• Our buses, trains, ferries and facilities will  
be clean and well presented.

• Current information about all PTA services 
will be available from customer service staff, 
brochures, timetables, our call centres and  
our website.

• We will plan and review passenger transport 
services in consultation with the community  
to get the best results.

• We will plan and provide transport  
systems that respect the environment  
and improve sustainability.

To help us improve our services we maintain  
a telephone InfoLine (13 62 13) for feedback.  
Our websites include www�pta�wa�gov�au,  
www�transperth�wa�gov�au and  
www�transwa�wa�gov�au

“We will plan and provide 
transport systems that 

respect the environment 
and improve sustainability.”
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1.2 Organisational structure

How we operate
Service provision
We operate four major service systems:

Transperth
The Transperth integrated public transport 
network is centrally-controlled, planned, marketed 
and coordinated by the Transperth division of  
the PTA. Transperth has a range of contracted 
service providers including Transperth Train 
Operations (a separate PTA division), three 
contracted bus companies, one contracted  
ferry operator and numerous ancillary contracts 
such as cleaning, maintenance, signage, ticketing 
and printing.

Transwa
The Transwa division operates four rail services 
(Australind, Prospector, MerredinLink and 

AvonLink) and a fleet of coaches to regional WA. 
We service more than 240 locations. 

TransRegional
Our small Regional Town Bus Services (RTBS) 
branch manages contracted intra-town and  
inter-town bus services operating as 
TransRegional in regional centres around  
the State. 

School Bus Services
The School Bus Services (SBS) branch plans 
school services in WA and contract-manages  
their delivery by contracted school bus operators. 
SBS manages more than 950 school bus 
contracts around WA.

Infrastructure delivery
We are also responsible for designing, building 
and maintaining transport infrastructure in WA.

Our Network and Infrastructure (N&I) division 
manages and maintains the metropolitan railway 
infrastructure. Other N&I works include:

• Signal and crossing maintenance

• Resleepering and ballasting tracks

• Upgrading and improving accessibility of 
station facilities

• Planning and constructing expansion of the rail 
network 

Our Safety and Strategy division protects  
the long-term viability of the State’s freight rail 
corridor and infrastructure, with input also from 
N&I and our Infrastructure Planning and Land 
Services (IPLS) division.

IPLS provides railway engineering support,  
and land and environmental management.  
Most major new infrastructure is planned by  
IPLS, with the actual construction carried out 
through our Major Projects Unit.

Corporate services
Our divisions – Finance and Contracts,  
People and Organisational Development, 
Safety and Strategy, and the Corporate 
Communications, Corporate Issues, and 
Investigations branches – provide a range of 
professional services and administrative support 
to facilitate the work of the PTA.
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Pat Italiano
General Manager, Transperth Train Operations

Pat has direct line responsibility for all customer service 
personnel, train controllers, train drivers, service 
planners, depot staff, security personnel and rollingstock 
procurement and maintenance. He is responsible 
for promoting and managing the delivery of urban 
passenger rail to the highest customer service standards 

and is committed to ensuring the successful integration and delivery of 
expansions to the network.

Reece Waldock
Chief Executive Officer

As head of the State Government’s three Transport 
Portfolio agencies, Reece holds a unique leadership 
position within the WA public sector, as Director General 
of the Department of Transport (DoT), Commissioner  
of Main Roads WA (MRWA) and CEO of the PTA.  
In this capacity, he is responsible for setting the strategic 

direction of transport in the State, shaping the development of major 
integrated transport plans and leading the implementation of some of WA’s 
most transformational capital projects.

Our Executive

Mark Burgess
Managing Director

Mark is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the 
PTA. Before moving to this position six years ago, he 
was executive director of the Transperth system  
– Perth’s integrated bus, train and ferry system –  
for 12 years. Mark joined the PTA after six years with 
DoT and the Department for Planning and Infrastructure 

(DPI), when Transperth was managed under those agencies. He gained 
extensive logistics, transport and people management skills during 21 years 
in the army and 19 years in senior public transport management roles.

Martin White
Executive Director, Transperth System, Regional 
and School Bus Services

Martin’s responsibilities include managing and marketing 
the Transperth system, comprising commercial bus 
contractors, a commercial ferry contractor and the 
urban passenger rail services. He also oversees the 
management of Regional Town Bus Services and 

School Bus Services. Martin has 26 years’ experience in public transport, 
having previously worked in both DoT and DPI and as the general manager 
of Transwa and the Eastern Goldfields Transport Board.
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Tim Woolerson
General Manager, Transwa

Tim’s responsibilities include managing the delivery of 
transport services through the regional train and road 
coach network, the maintenance of infrastructure, and 
the management of contracts. Before joining the PTA, 
he spent six years in the private sector working in the 
vehicle fleet management field, and 21 years in the 

military, where he acquired extensive logistics and management experience 
and expertise.

Richard Wales
General Manager, Network and Infrastructure

Richard’s responsibilities include the asset management 
of the railway infrastructure and the provision of IT 
services to support the PTA’s operations. He joined the 
PTA from the British rail industry where he was the head 
of engineering for enhancement projects. He previously 
held roles in the private sector as a general manager 

responsible for maintenance and as a business development manager for an 
engineering consultancy.

Ross Hamilton
Executive Director, Major Projects

Ross is responsible for the delivery of major  
projects such as the Perth City Link bus project,  
the transport infrastructure component of the  
Perth Stadium project, the new Aubin Grove Station,  
the multi-storey car park at Edgewater Station  
and the Forrestfield-Airport Link. Ross has worked for  

Westrail and the PTA in various roles including construction, planning, land 
rationalisation and maintenance.

Owen Thomas
Executive Director, Infrastructure Planning and 
Land Services

Owen oversees the planning for the future of Perth’s 
rail network including its integration within the wider 
transport system and urban development. He also 
manages the PTA’s wider land assets and environmental 
obligations. Previously he worked as the PTA’s manager 

for Route and Infrastructure Utilisation Planning, and was a senior transit 
planner in the MAX Light Rail project team.
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David Hynes
Manager, Corporate Communications

David has contributed significantly to the PTA’s 
communications expertise and activities, specially  
in media relations. He has previously worked as a media 
adviser to a senior Cabinet Minister; contributed to 
national and international publications as a freelance 
journalist; and run his own public relations consultancy. 

This followed a 20-year career at WA Newspapers, culminating in a  
three-year stint as Business and Finance Editor of The West Australian.

Brian Appleby
Executive Director,  
People and Organisational Development

Brian is responsible for strategic people management, 
as well as overseeing the delivery of functional human 
resource services for the PTA’s people. He has more 
than 30 years’ experience in labour relations, human 
resource management, workforce services and learning 

and development. Brian is also vice-chair of the Logistics Training Council, 
and chair of the Australasian Railways Workforce Development Committee.

David Browne
Executive Director, Safety and Strategic 
Development

David is responsible for strategic services in safety, policy, 
business and information management, workers’ 
compensation, risk management, disability access, 
environment, emergency management and strategic 
planning, as well as management of the freight rail 

network leases and the PTA’s involvement in freight rail network development 
initiatives. Before joining PTA predecessor WAGRC, he spent 20 years in the 
aviation industry including 15 years in the RAAF.

Kevin Kirk
Executive Director, Finance and Contracts

As the Chief Finance Officer, Kevin is responsible 
for maintaining the PTA’s financial management and 
procurement systems and processes. Kevin is a FCPA 
and a fellow of the Institute of Public Accountants. He 
has more than 40 years’ experience in public service 
and has held senior roles in MRWA and DoT.
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Aubin Grove Station gets a lift 
Three carefully-planned consecutive weekends 
of work, involving major road and rail 
shutdowns, allowed the Aubin Grove Station 
and Russell Road Upgrade project to reach a 
significant construction milestone. 

Services excel at Elizabeth Quay
Perth’s newest waterfront landmark, Elizabeth 
Quay, attracted record crowds over summer, 
and Transperth starred alongside it, connecting 
passengers to and from the iconic precinct. 

Smart transport 
transforms Perth
Completion of the Perth Busport 
has helped reconnect the 
CBD with Northbridge and will 
revolutionise the way public 
transport operates  
in and around the city. 

 see story p39

 see story p24

 see story p56

Safety in the spotlight 
In our efforts to keep safety core to our 
business and service delivery, a major 
overhaul of our safeworking rules and 
procedures came to fruition. 

 see story p68

Forrestfield-Airport Link:  
Preparing for change
A $1.176 billion contract has been awarded 
to pave the way for the next steps of 
designing and constructing the Forrestfield-
Airport Link in consultation with the 
community and key stakeholders, and with 
minimal disruption.

 see story p52

Bringing WA closer
Transwa is Bringing WA closer with the 
introduction of a $16.3 million, 23-vehicle order 
to revitalise the regional road coach fleet and 
provide a superior service for passengers. 

 see story p29

1.3 Cases in point: 2016 spotlight

Inclusive education gets 
everyone on board
The Get On Board program 
connects thousands of future and 
first-time public transport users 
to the Transperth network each 
year – particularly building the 
confidence of seniors, students, 
people with a disability and those 
who are culturally and linguistically 
diverse. 

 see story p49
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1.4 Financials at a glance

During the financial year, we delivered public transport services to the people of Western Australia at a cost of $1371 million.  
The following graphs show how these funds were spent across each service.
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Expenditure by service $ million 
 Transperth metropolitan bus and ferry operations 492.114
 Transperth train operations 506.615
 Regional bus operations 17.938
 Country passenger rail and road coach services 47.389
 Regional school bus services 127.866
 Rail corridor and residual freight issues 179.309

1371�231

Expenditure by type $ million
 Employee benefits expense 167.494
 Supplies, services and energy 291.881
 Depreciation and amortisation 337.578
 Finance costs 83.508
 Bus, ferry and regional bus operators 370.891
 School bus operators 119.879

1371�231

Revenue and funding sources $ million
 State 780.283
 User charges and fees 210.453
 Other income 54.174

1044�910
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2.1.1 Metro (Transperth)
Transperth is the brand and operating name 
of the public transport system in the greater 
Perth metropolitan area.

The Transperth system consists of a bus network, 
a fully-electrified urban train system and a ferry 
service. It is managed by our Transperth branch 
and covers key functions such as system 
planning, bus service delivery, bus service security, 
passenger information services, ticketing and bus 
fleet procurement.

Transperth bus and ferry services are provided 
under commercial contract arrangements; train 
services are provided by our TTO division under 
an internal service-level agreement.

Passenger information comprising InfoCentre, 
InfoLine and customer feedback services are 
provided under contract by Serco.

Fleet

Trains
TTO operates more than 1085 services on an 
average weekday and 6850 services weekly.  
At June 30, the fleet consisted of 294 railcars  
(48 two-car A-Series and 66 three-car B-Series 
railcar sets) that can be coupled in sets of four  
or six-car trains.

The system covers 180.8km of track with  
70 stations on five lines: Joondalup (40.9km), 
Fremantle (19km), Midland (16km), Armadale/
Thornlie (30.5km and a 3km spur line to Thornlie), 
and Mandurah (71.4km).

Buses
Transperth operated 1439 buses (up 0.6 per cent), 
consisting of 909 diesel buses (including 560 
buses delivered under a Volvo contract) and 
530 CNG buses. The number of diesel buses 
increased by 2.7 per cent; CNG bus numbers fell 
2.8 per cent. The Volvo contract will deliver 848 
new diesel buses over an eight-year period.

Within the fleet, 570 buses conform to Euro5 and 
Euro6 emission standards (39.6 per cent of the 
total), and 497 buses to Euro4 (34.5 per cent). 
The other 372 buses conform to Euro0 and Euro3.

Transperth buses covered 280 standard timetabled 
bus routes (plus 32 non-timetabled special event 
routes), 297 school routes and 10 CAT (Central 
Area Transit) routes. On a typical weekday this 
involved operating 15,147 standard service trips, 
293 school service trips and 981 CAT service trips.

The Transperth bus network is divided into  
11 geographic contract areas which are 
periodically subject to tender. As at June 30,  
three contractors operated our bus services:
• Path Transit – Kalamunda, Morley.
• Swan Transit – Canning, Claremont,  

Marmion, Midland (including Midland Shuttle), 
and Southern River.

2.1 Our servicesThis section summarises our performance in 
2015-16 in providing safe, customer-focussed, 
integrated and efficient transport services.  

It is broken down as follows:

• 2�1 Our services –  
fleet, patronage, reliability, capacity and  
key operational activities.

• 2�2 Fares and other revenue –  
overview of revenue and expenditure.

• 2�3 PTA in the community –  
our commitment to providing  
satisfactory, safe, well-communicated  
and sustainable operations.

• 2�4 Infrastructure delivery –  
planning, projects, maintenance,  
upgrades and asset management.

• 2�5 Our people –  
overview of our workforce and our strategy for 
developing, attracting and retaining employees.

A detailed overview of our targets and 
performance is available in the key  
performance indicators (pages 83–112)�

Corporate snapshot / Organisational profile18 Operational report / Our services



• Transdev – Fremantle (including  
Fremantle CAT), Joondalup (including 
Joondalup CAT), Rockingham-Mandurah,  
and the Perth CAT contract.

Ferries
Two ferries (MV Phillip Pendal and MV Shelley 
Taylor-Smith) operate the Transperth ferry service 
between the city (Barrack Street/Elizabeth Quay) 
and South Perth (Mends Street). The service is 
provided under contract by Captain Cook Cruises. 

Ferry timetables were changed from January 31, 
to coincide with the opening of Elizabeth Quay. 
Under the new summer timetable, the ferry service 
operated 122 trips a day Monday to Thursday 
(previously 92), 134 trips on Friday (previously 
100), 118 trips on Saturday (previously 74),  
and 104 trips on Sunday/public holidays 
(previously 58). In the new winter timetable, the 
number of trips Monday to Friday is unchanged 
at 60 trips a day while on weekends and public 
holidays the number was increased to 56 a day 
(previously 54).

The average trip length from Elizabeth  
Quay to South Perth increased to 1.42km 
(previously 1.38km).

Patronage

There was an overall downward trend in Transperth patronage:

Categories 2014-15 2015-16 Change

Total boardings 148.762m 145.633m -2.1%

Total initial boardings 104.234m 101.731m -2.4%

Cash and SmartRider initial boardings 86.759m 85.115m -1.9%

Fare-paying boardings 81.188m 79.305m -2.3%

Individual results were mixed: Free travel by seniors, aged and disability pensioners and carers 
increased 1.6 per cent; boardings on the Fremantle CAT service fell 8.7 per cent; and on the Midland 
Shuttle by 2.4 per cent; while the Joondalup CAT recorded an increase of 7.1 per cent.

Patronage by mode is reported in four categories:

• Fare-paying boardings – cash, paid SmartRider, and special event boardings.

• Cash and SmartRider initial boardings – fare-paying boardings plus free travel on 
SmartRider*.

• Total initial boardings – cash and SmartRider initial boardings plus free travel on Free Transit 
Zone (FTZ) services, on CAT services in Perth, Fremantle and Joondalup, and on the Midland 
Shuttle service.

• Total boardings – total initial boardings plus transfer boardings.

*Free travel on SmartRider refers to free travel by WA seniors, aged and disability pensioners, and 
carers on: weekdays before 6am, from 9am to 3.30pm, and after 7pm; and all day on weekends 

and public holidays. It also includes all-day free travel by veterans.
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The decline in overall patronage resulted in the per-capita public transport 
usage within the Perth metropolitan area (including the City of Mandurah) 
falling to 50.3 initial boardings (previously 52.2).

The factors contributing to the continuing decline in fare-paying boardings 
include:

• The adverse impact of the higher rate of unemployment, linked to the 
downturn in the WA mining industry. While the majority of jobs directly 
related to mining are outside Transperth’s service area, the flow-on 
effect, particularly on professional services, has impacted CBD-based 
employment and is reflected partly by the highest office vacancy rate in 
20 years in the Perth CBD. This has resulted in declining standard fare 
boardings which fell 5.4 per cent (concession fare boardings were down 
1.1 per cent).

• Major improvements to most of Perth’s key arterial roads over the past 
few years, and low fuel prices make driving a more attractive option.

• The decline in the population rate of growth over the past few years, 
particularly the drop in interstate migration.

• Cost-of-living pressures have impacted on discretionary travel, reflected in 
continuing low sales of FamilyRider and DayRider tickets.

Trains
Total boardings on trains declined by 2.5 per cent (up 1.2 per cent  
in 2014-15). Cash and SmartRider initial boardings fell 1.8 per cent  
(previously down 0.8 per cent), and fare-paying boardings recorded  
a significant 2.3 per cent decline (previously down 1.2 per cent).

Transperth train patronage (millions)

On a per-service kilometre basis, total train boardings fell to 3.214  
(down 11.3 per cent).

Total boardings by line were: 

Line 2014-15 2015-16 Change

Armadale Line 9.067m 8.508m -6.2%
Fremantle Line 8.228m 8.245m 0.2%
Joondalup Line 17.106m 16.917m -1.1%
Mandurah Line 20.700m 20.595m -0.5%
Midland Line 6.661m 6.437m -3.4%
Total 61�762m 60�702m -1�7%

Note: Excludes boardings on special event services, free travel on special 
occasions and boardings on rail replacement services provided by bus which 
are not reported by line.
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Buses
Total boardings on Transperth buses fell 2.1 per cent (up 0.5 per cent in 
2014-15). Cash and SmartRider initial boardings fell 2.3 per cent (previously 
down 1.5 per cent), and fare-paying boardings declined 2.6 per cent 
(previously down 1.7 per cent).

Transperth bus patronage (millions) 
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Bus total boardings per service kilometre fell 4.2 per cent to 1.23 due to the 
continuing increase in service kilometres against a marginally declining patronage.

Total boardings by contract area were:

Contract area 2014-15 2015-16 Change

Kalamunda 7.261m 6.934m -4.5%
Morley 11.379m 11.154m -2.0%
Canning 8.416m 8.395m -0.2%
Claremont 4.320m 4.197m -2.9%
Marmion 7.510m 7.366m -1.9%
Midland 2.445m 2.470m  1.0%
Southern River 3.944m 3.850m -2.4%
Fremantle 9.412m 9.177m -2.5%
Joondalup 7.096m 6.905m -2.7%
Rockingham 6.155m 6.025m -2.1%
Total 67�938m 66�472m -2�2%

Note: Excludes boardings on special event services, free travel on special 
occasions and boardings on FTZ and CAT services.
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Ferries
The ferry service represents a small proportion of Transperth system 
patronage (less than 0.5 per cent). Fluctuations in the tourism market have  
a significant impact on ferry boardings with tourists accounting for about half.

Transperth ferry patronage (millions)

The opening of the Elizabeth Quay Jetty on January 31, and the extra 
services provided under a new timetable, resulted in a substantial increase  
in ferry patronage, to a level not seen since the formation of the PTA.

Total boardings increased by 51.4 per cent (previously down 9.3 per cent). 
Cash and SmartRider initial boardings increased 42.5 per cent (previously 
down 12.1 per cent), and fare-paying boardings increased by 39 per cent 
(previously down 13.5 per cent).

The “EQ effect” is evident in the following table:

Period 2014-15 2015-16 Change
July to January 32,165 33,310 3.6%
February to April 39,144 90,804 132%
May-June 25,865 45,671 76.6%

Ferry total boardings per service kilometre increased 26.2 per cent to  
13.21 due to the significant increase in boardings and despite the substantial 
increase in service kilometres.

Reliability

Transperth uses technology-based monitoring methods which allow  
precise data-gathering to measure on-time running (OTR). On bus and  
ferry services, OTR is measured using the GPS information functions in 
SmartRider; the train control system is used to measure train OTR. Bus  
on-time performance is monitored through a random sample of one per cent 
of trips in each bus contract area. GPS information functions in SmartRider 
help to identify under-performing services which, after a careful review,  
can be re-scheduled to ensure improved performance.

Targets were exceeded on all three modes in 2015-16, with the bus service 
recording its best OTR result in five years.

Transperth OTR performance (per cent)
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Transperth reliability targets
• Trains – 95 per cent of services to arrive within 4min of schedule.

• Buses – 85 per cent of services to arrive at the timing point within 
4min of schedule, and never leave a terminus, or travel through  
a mid-way timing point early.

• Ferries – 98 per cent of services to arrive within 3min of schedule.

Corporate snapshot / Organisational profile22 Operational report / Our services



Capacity
The carrying capacity of the Transperth bus, 
train and ferry network is measured by a metric 
called passenger place kilometres. This is based 
on service kilometres and the average carrying 
capacity of the fleet, and has been increasing 
steadily in recent years as new buses and trains 
come on stream and the network expands.

Transperth passenger place kilometres 
(millions)

On this basis, total capacity on the Transperth 
system increased 8.1 per cent. Train capacity  
rose 11 per cent, bus 3.3 per cent, and ferry  
20 per cent.

The expansion was due to an increase  
in service kilometres for all three modes,  
which increased by 3.9 per cent in the year.  
On the rail network, the introduction of  
additional B-Series railcars also allowed more  
six-car trains to be brought into service. 

Key activities

Trains
• Began installing the Automatic Dropping 

Device, Overreach and Platform Detection 
System on railcars to enhance passenger  
and asset safety.

• Upgraded the communications system 
in B-Series railcars to standardise the 
communication configuration of the fleet.

• Took delivery of nine three-car B-Series train 
sets, increasing the number of new trains that 
have entered service to 20.

• Started negotiations for the purchase  
of 10 three-car B-Series trains for the  
Forrestfield-Airport Link.

• Launched a trial to fit USB ports inside railcars 
for recharging passenger phones and other 
personal devices.

• Implemented operational and timetable 
changes required for the construction and 
future operation of the Aubin Grove Station 
being constructed on the Mandurah Line.

• Began planning for the introduction of the  
new Perth Stadium Station.
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Services excel at Elizabeth Quay
The opening of the long-awaited Elizabeth Quay on January 31 
introduced not only a new entertainment precinct for Perth,  
but also a central landmark for locals and visitors to move around  
the city and beyond�

Alongside the buzz of activity that attracted record crowds to the quay over 
the last months of summer, Transperth was on board to provide a smart and 
fully-integrated public transport service for passengers.

Coinciding with the opening of the fully-accessible Elizabeth Quay jetty, 
the ferry summer timetable was revised to provide 478 trips in the week 
(previously 322). 

The extra services and crowds saw a boom in ferry travel and, in the  
quay’s first week alone, there were more than 3700 passengers using the 
ferry each day – a 450 per cent increase on the same period of the previous 
year. Since the quay’s opening, ferry patronage has more than doubled.

Due to demand, the Transperth ferry service has since been permanently 
expanded to continue providing passengers with a convenient way to travel 
to and from the city.

To make the precinct even easier to locate, the positioning of  
Transperth services in the area included the renaming of Esplanade  
Station and Esplanade Busport to Elizabeth Quay Station and Elizabeth  
Quay Bus Station. A number of metropolitan bus services were also 
amended to better link to the destination.

Convenient and identifiable public transport was key to the transformation  
of Elizabeth Quay. The overall enhancement has improved access, 
connectivity and convenience; and reduced the amount of walking people 
need to do from one service to the other.

CASE STUDY
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Buses
• As part of the Bus Priority Program, continued 

to address the impact of road congestion 
(particularly in peak periods) on bus service 
reliability and patronage:

 – Introduced peak-period bus-priority lanes  
at Fitzgerald St and Ranford Rd.

 – Introduced a bus-only lane on Mounts  
Bay Rd.

 – Started constructing the Charles St bus 
bridge and upgrading the bus interchange  
at Glendalough Station.

 – Began work on a bus-only lane from  
North Lake Rd to Cockburn Central.

• Our Service Expansion Program, which  
began in 2011-12, added a further 1.453 
million service kilometres during the year to 
deliver a total 66.983m service kilometres,  
up 2.2 per cent from 65.531m in 2014-15.

• Introduced the route series 900 premium  
bus services:

 – Route 910 between Elizabeth Quay  
Bus Station and Fremantle Station via 
Canning Highway (incorporating routes  
105 and 106 and withdrawing Route 104).

 – Route 930 between Elizabeth Quay Bus 
Station and Thornlie with routes 210, 211, 
212 revised to operate from Thornlie to 
Gosnells stations and Huntingdale.

• Implemented other new bus services in the 
year, such as:

 – Route 301 from Midland Station to  
Midland Health Campus.

 – Route 380 from Elizabeth Quay Bus  
Station to Perth International Airport.

 – Route 566 feeder service from Baldivis to 
Warnbro Station, via Hillsborough Ave.

 – Trialled Route 14 from Brady/Tasman streets 
to The Mezz shopping centre.

• Improved a number of existing bus services:

 – Extended routes 955 and 956 to Annie’s 
Landing and Route 334 to Malvern Springs 
Estate to improve services to Ellenbrook.

 – Straightened Route 15 in Mount Hawthorn 
with extension to Glendalough Station.

 – Increased peak-period services on  
Route 97 to Leederville Station and 
withdrew weekend services.

 – Extended Route 340 Suffolk Street  
in Caversham.

 – Changed circle route numbers 98 and 99 to 
998 and 999 to better identify them as part 
of Transperth’s premium bus services.

• Evaluated the bus route network and  
examined timetable changes for the opening  
of Perth Busport.

• Replaced car bays at Maylands Station with  
a bus layover for the trial of Route 41 and other 
bus services to the train station.

Looking ahead
• Delivery of the final sets of B-Series 

railcars under the 22 three-car train 
order is expected in late 2016.

• First deliveries of an order for  
a further 10 three-car B-Series trains 
will start with a view to having the 
order completed by the time the 
new Forrestfield-Airport Link starts 
operations in 2020.

• Plan future railcar depot requirements 
for increased capacity and maintenance.

• Commission the new multi-storey car 
park at Edgewater Station in late 2016.

• Commission the new Aubin Grove 
Station for train operations to start  
in 2017; plan new bus services to  
the station.

• Begin a new bus fleet supply  
contract tender.

• Plan services for new Perth Stadium 
special events.

• Develop the Greater Curtin Bus Station.

• Commission Elizabeth Quay Bus 
Station fire system upgrade.

• Implement the new Route 960 
Mirrabooka to Curtin bus service.
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2.1.2 Regional (Transwa)
Transwa is the brand and operating name 
for the road coach and rail public transport 
system serving regional centres.

Our Transwa network extends to Kalbarri 
and Meekatharra in the north, east to 
Kalgoorlie, and south-east to Esperance. 
The services link 240 regional locations to 
the Perth metropolitan area (and locations 
in between) and are used by a variety of 
passengers for a range of travel purposes.

Fleet

Trains
Transwa employs 20 railcar drivers based at  
East Perth and Bunbury to operate 14 railcars 
under four distinct services:

• The Prospector – a daily service (and two  
on Mondays and Fridays) each way between 
Perth (East Perth terminal) and Kalgoorlie for  
a total of 18 services a week.

• The Australind – two daily return services 
between Bunbury and Perth for a total of  
28 services a week.

• The AvonLink – three Northam-to-Midland 
return services on Monday, Tuesday, Thursday 
and Friday (except public holidays), one return 
service on a Wednesday and one return service 
on the weekend (either Saturday or Sunday), 
for a total of 28 services a week.

• The MerredinLink – an all-stop return service 
between Perth (East Perth terminal) and 
Merredin on a Wednesday, for a total of two 
services a week.

Australind onboard services are provided by 
Bunbury-based Transwa staff, while a contractor 
provides onboard services on the Prospector, 
AvonLink and MerredinLink trains.

Road coaches
Transwa road coaches operate 130 services  
each week, employing 34 operators for the fleet  
of five-star, luxury road coaches. 

In May 2015, a contract was awarded for the 
supply of 23 new Volvo/Irizar road coaches  
(that comply with Euro5 emission standards)  
to replace the ageing Scania fleet. Transwa  
took delivery of nine of these road coaches in 
the year and five of the old Scania fleet were 
decommissioned to be sold at public auction. 
Proceeds of the sale will be used to partially  
fund the new road coaches.
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Patronage

Trains
Patronage on regional trains decreased by 2.74 per cent, attributed  
to lower numbers on the Australind, as well as a number of services  
cancelled during the south-west bush fires in January. Maintenance  
issues also resulted in a decreased passenger capacity which directly  
relates to carrying fewer passengers.

Transwa train patronage

The increase in AvonLink services from 10 per week in 2013 to the current 
28 per week, part of a Government trial to determine the future of the 
service, has continued to increase gross patronage. However, average 
service occupancy per service has dropped to 15 per cent and will fall short 
of the targets set in the business case for the operation of the trial. Overall 
patronage on the AvonLink and MerredinLink surpassed 2015-16 targets 
with an average occupancy of 74 and 26 per cent respectively. Patronage on 
the MerredinLink was boosted by group bookings from schools.

Road coaches
Transwa road coach patronage slipped 4.48 per cent through the year, 
reflecting lower demand across the board.

Transwa road coach patronage

The biggest decline was recorded on routes travelling to Albany, Augusta and 
Bunbury. This was partly offset by slight increases in the numbers for  
the East Perth to Geraldton, via Bremer Bay.
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Reliability

Reliability for the road coaches and the Australind remained above targets.

Proportion of Transwa services meeting OTR targets (per cent)

Extensive track works conducted by Brookfield Rail impacted the OTR 
performance of rail services on the Eastern Goldfields Railway, primarily 
around Moondyne and Jumperkine. The Prospector, AvonLink and 
MerredinLink attributed delays to crossings (46 per cent), signalling works  
(18 per cent) and track works (15 per cent).

Capacity
The number of passengers per service kilometre is a comparative measure 
of our available passenger capacity (a higher number represents better 
utilisation of our capacity).

Transwa passengers per service kilometre

The decline across road and rail services is attributed to two factors:

• The decline in patronage on the Australind and road coach services  
while maintaining the same number of services. 

• Additional services added to the AvonLink have had a negative effect  
on the number of passengers per service kilometre, as the changes  
have added 36,516 additional service kilometres without bringing a 
proportional increase in patronage.

Transwa reliability targets
• Prospector – 80 per cent of services to arrive within 15min of 

schedule.

• Australind – 90 per cent (10min).

• AvonLink and MerredinLink – 97 and 95 per cent respectively  
(10min).

• Road coaches – 95 per cent (10min).
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Bringing WA closer
Nine new state-of-the-art road coaches were delivered to Transwa  
as part of a three-year project to replace and expand our entire,  
decade-old regional coach fleet�

The $16.3m contract (including $15.1m funding from the Royalties  
for Regions program) began in May 2015 and will see 23 coaches  
commissioned by joint venture partners Volvo Buses Australia and  
Spanish company Irizar.

The Volvo/Irizar road coaches are purpose-built to connect communities 
across the 240 locations on the Transwa network, and continue improving 
services for people living, working and travelling in regional areas.

With most Transwa journeys averaging six hours, passenger comfort  
was central to the design. Each road coach features an aeroplane-like 
interior with luxury seating, onboard entertainment, air conditioning,  
USB charging ports and rest rooms. 

All coaches include a wheelchair lift and will be compliant with the 
Disability Discrimination Act 1992 to ensure optimum accessibility for  
all passengers. The coaches also comply with Euro5 emission standards, 
making them more environmentally friendly than earlier fleets.

The first road coaches delivered are already operating across the State. 
The remaining 14 are due to be delivered and commissioned over the  
next financial year.

CASE STUDY
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Key activities
• Continued the AvonLink Enhancement Project, 

including implementing feeder services in 
regional locations, to increase cost recovery 
ratio of the AvonLink service.

• Introduced nine new Transwa Volvo/Irizar road 
coaches into service.

• Completed an interior refurbishment of the 
booking centre at Kalgoorlie Station, through 
which more than 25 per cent of Transwa 
passengers pass.

• Investigated our approach to Transwa road 
coach maintenance. 

• Introduced the Fare Determination Strategy 
outlining mechanisms for fare setting.

• Implemented the Agents’ Portal – an extension 
of the Transwa booking system that allows 
travel agents to directly create, refund and 
review bookings online.

• Reviewed a number of road coach  
stop locations and, in conjunction with  
local and State Government authorities, 
introduced changes to enhance passenger 
access, comfort and safety. Katanning is  
one location where a new stop and shelter  
was built.

• Tendered for major overhaul programs  
for components fitted to the Prospector  
and Australind train fleets. The value of the 
tenders amounts to about $12m over the life  
of the contracts.

• Prepared a business case to introduce  
a mobile ticketing solution on all services.

• Developed a maintenance schedule and  
spare provision for the Australind train.

• Completed the Bringing WA closer project  
to enhance the Transwa brand.

• Continued targetted marketing campaigns 
aimed at increasing patronage.

“Tendered for major overhaul 
programs for components 

fitted to the Prospector and 
Australind train fleets.”

Looking ahead
• Continue to address declining 

patronage through an aggressive 
marketing strategy and the  
introduction of promotional and 
discounted ticketing structures.

• Review the way service changes  
are communicated to passengers, 
allowing for automated SMS updates 
on service changes.

• Take receipt of the remaining 14 new 
road coaches as part of the fleet 
replacement project.

• Improve disability access on the Eastern 
Goldfields Railway and the South West 
Main with the construction of high-level 
platforms at Merredin and Carrabin.

• Finalise a three-year agreement with 
Volvo for a fixed price maintenance 
schedule which will encompass road 
coach maintenance in all the major 
regions in which Transwa operates.
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2.1.3 Regional (TransRegional)
Under the TransRegional brand, our RTBS branch manages Trans 
branded school and town public bus services in 14 major regional 
towns in rural WA, as well as seven inter-town regional bus services 
– four in the Pilbara and one each in the Gascoyne, Goldfields and 
Mid-West regions�

Fleet
RTBS maintained a total fleet of 154 vehicles, including 132 low-floor 
accessible buses. Of this, 145 are PTA-owned.

Patronage
Total TransRegional boardings decreased by 4.8 per cent to 2.403 million 
and total fare-paying boardings decreased 3.3 per cent to 2.104m.  
This reflects the Transperth trend.

The breakdown is as follows:

Service 2014-15 2015-16 Change

Intra-Town

Total boardings (millions) 2.513 2.391  -4.9%

Fare-paying boardings (millions) 2.165 2.093  -3.3%

Inter-Town

Total boardings 10,886 11,994 10.2%

Fare-paying boardings 10,275 11,360 10.6%

Reliability
Some regional town bus services do not have the SmartRider ticketing 
system; therefore OTR is difficult to measure across all TransRegional 
services, and there is no set reliability target.

TransRegional *OTR performance (per cent) 

*SmartRider towns only

In towns where SmartRider is present (i.e. where Trans-branded  
services have been introduced), there has been an ongoing increase in  
OTR performance.

Capacity
TransRegional operated 3.4m kilometres annually.
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Key activities
• Introduced Trans branding to bus operations  

in the State’s regional centres to lift the profile 
of public transport in regional WA.

• Awarded bus operation contracts for  
Port Hedland, Carnarvon and Narrogin.

• Installed and updated bus stops to  
create legible networks in towns such as 
Port Hedland, Carnarvon and Karratha which 
previously did not have this infrastructure. 

• Appointed bus stop maintenance contractors in 
Port Hedland, Karratha, Carnarvon, Geraldton, 
Bunbury, Busselton, Kalgoorlie and Albany.

• Prepared and/or implemented TransRegional 
service reviews for Bunbury, Busselton, 
Carnarvon, Collie and Port Hedland.

• Started construction of the new Albany Depot, 
due for completion in early 2017.

Looking ahead
• Consult Bunbury community prior  

to implementing planned changes  
in the area following a full network 
review. The changes will involve 
network enhancements, significant route 
changes and changes to the frequency 
of services.

• Continue tracking TransRegional 
services Kambalda-Kalgoorlie, 
Coolgardie-Kalgoorlie and Cape 
Burney-Geraldton and, in late-2017, 
review the feasibility of continuing to 
operate these services.
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2.1.4 Regional (orange school buses)
The PTA manages the policy and entitlement framework,  
delivers system support and oversees the contract arrangements  
of more than 900 orange school bus services around the State.

These buses provide access to school for students in rural areas  
(picking them up from the farm gate where appropriate), as well as  
access to schools in the metropolitan area for students attending  
special education facilities. Responsibility for the management of  
these services rests with our SBS branch.

In addition to the orange contract school buses, there are four  
cluster contracts made up of 52 contract school buses that are funded  
by the Department of Education (DoE) and administered by SBS. These 
services do not form part of our Student Transport Assistance Policy 
Framework (STAPF).

Where eligible students cannot be accommodated on a school bus,  
their parents/carers are paid a conveyance allowance to offset the  
cost of getting their children to the nearest appropriate school.

Fleet
The SBS network in 2015-16 consisted of 827 contract school buses 
servicing mainstream schools, and 132 servicing special education facilities.  
All contracted school buses are operated by private contractors under  
the following contract arrangements:

• ECM (evergreen contract model) contracts (five-year contract term) –  
685 contracts (685 services)

• CRM (composite rate model) contracts (remaining balance of  
20-30-year contract term) – one contract (one service)

• Fixed-term contracts (1-15-year tendered term) – 158 contracts  
(158 services)

• Regional school bus cluster contracts (15-year contract term) –  
six contracts (63 services)

• DoE-funded cluster contracts – four contracts (52 services).

SBS initiated 12 new fixed-term contract services across the State:

Region 2015-16 contract services

Kimberley WangkatJungka Galeru Gorge

Metropolitan Coolbellup SE (Special Education) South
Cannington Community College SE South Perth
Kalamunda SE Helena Valley
Mandurah Coolup No. 3
Bullsbrook Morley Road

Mid-West Geraldton Dongara No. 3

South-West Bunbury Bridgetown
Bunbury Glenlyon
Australind Harvey
Capel East

Wheatbelt Northam overload service
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Patronage
Around the State, the services were accessed each school day by  
26,964 students (4.04 per cent fewer than in 2014-15), using mainly  
the contracted school buses.

The decrease in the number of eligible students receiving school  
bus transport assistance can be explained by dividing the data of  
the 959 contract school bus services into two distinct groups:

• Core business – the 907 orange school bus services around  
the State as well as the special education services in the metro area.

• DoE-funded – the 52 services funded by Education but  
contract-managed by SBS outside of the STAPF, for students  
who qualify for assistance through the Intensive English Centres  
and/or other language support programs.

In previous years, patronage combined all core and DoE business in one 
figure. However, a review identified the need to separate the data into the 
two groups, to enable transparent and accurate reporting of the variances.

In the core business group, there were significant declines in some areas in 
the North-West region (a reflection of the weakening mining sector). Student 
patronage on DoE-funded services are operational matters administered 
by DoE. Immigration-intake quotas and Federal funding supply are some 
contributing factors to the variations.

The following table breaks down the 2015-16 student patronage per region 
and group:

Region
Core business 

service patronage
DoE-funded 

service patronage
Total

Gascoyne 139 – 139

Goldfields Esperance 1,136  93 1,229

Great Southern 2,978 – 2,978

Kimberley  817 – 817

Metropolitan 4,332 674 5,006

Mid-West 1,605 – 1,605

Peel 2,271 – 2,271

Pilbara 488 – 488

South-West 7,552 96 7,648

Wheatbelt 4,783 – 4,783

Total 26,101 863 26,964

Reliability

Our reliability measure covers regional mainstream services and  
education-support school buses in the metropolitan area, and is based  
on random observations by a team of mobile school bus inspectors under 
the SBS inspection program.

SBS reliability target
Bus to arrive less than 10min before school starts and depart less than 
10min after school finishes.
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In 2015-16, school bus punctuality was overall 98.3 per cent on time. 

School bus OTR performance (per cent) 

Capacity
Around the State, contract school buses collectively covered an average 
170,518km each school day, totalling 33.4m contract service kilometres  
for the year.

School bus average daily service kilometres (thousands)

The increase is predominately the result of the implementation of 12 new 
fixed-term contract services across the State. School bus routes are also 
reconfigured on a day-to-day basis for operational reasons and to better 
meet transport demands.

The annual service kilometre data per region is detailed below:

Region
2014-15 

Total service km
2015-16 

Total service km
Change

Gascoyne  99,443 85,074 -14.4%
Goldfields Esperance 1,933,987 1,937,745 0.2%
Great Southern 3,914,112 3,886,469 -0.7%
Kimberley 1,002,265 916,361 -8.6%
Metropolitan 5,402,133 5,347,756 -1.0%
Mid-West 2,339,936 2,580,037 10.3%
Peel 2,216,195 2,347,818 5.9%
Pilbara 545,693 670,278 22.8%
South-West 6,033,114 6,316,145 4.7%
Wheatbelt 9,341,844 9,333,796 -0.1%
Total 32,828,721 33,421,478 1�8%

Key activities
• Initiated 12 new school bus contracts across the State.
• Progressed the retrofitting of child-check alarms on all orange school 

buses. More than 50 per cent of the fleet has been upgraded since the 
$1.05m two-year program began in late 2014.

Looking ahead
• Complete the retrofit of child-check alarms into school buses by 

end of calendar 2016.
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2.2.1 Metro

Transperth
Transperth applies a common fare structure across 
its integrated bus, train and ferry service network. 

• Fares are based on a zonal system with  
nine concentric bands. Zone one covers  
a travel distance of 8km; zones two and  
three each cover 9km; and zones four to  
nine each cover 10km.

• Fares are set for travel within a specified 
number of zones. A short distance fare is 
available for trips of up to 3.2km (two sections). 
School students pay a flat fare for all travel 
during the gazetted school year except  
on weekends. In addition, there are  
multi-trip tickets for individuals (DayRider) 
and groups (FamilyRider).

• Passengers are able to transfer between 
services and modes without extra charge 
within two hours on journeys of up to four 
zones and within three hours on journeys of  
five to nine zones. This free transfer facility is 
not available on the two-section fare.

• Ticketing facilities for passengers who choose 
to pay cash are electronic ticket-issuing 
machines (ETIMs) on all buses and ferries, and 
ticket-vending machines (TVMs) at all train 
stations and ferry jetties.

Transperth cash fares schedule
The following fares schedule was implemented 
from July 1.

Category Standard Concession

2 Sections $2.10 $0.80

1 Zone $3.00 $1.20

2 Zones $4.50 $1.80

3 Zones $5.30 $2.10

4 Zones $6.40 $2.50

5 Zones $7.90 $3.20

6 Zones $8.90 $3.60

7 Zones $10.50 $4.20

8 Zones $11.30 $4.50

9 Zones $12.10 $4.80

DayRider $12.10 $4.80

FamilyRider $12.10 – 

Note: The flat fare for school students ($0.60)  
is available only through SmartRider. It is valid 
for all travel on Transperth services from Monday 
to Friday from the first to the last gazetted 
school day of the year; during mid-year school 
term holidays; and on public holidays that 
fall on a weekday during the school year.

SmartRider and SmartParker
Discounts on cash fares are provided through 
the SmartRider system and are based on the 
reload method used. A discount of 25 per cent 
is available to users choosing Autoload through 
direct debit or credit card, and a discount of  
15 per cent is available to those who choose other 
reload methods (BPAY, add-value machines,  
on board bus and ferry, and at retail sales outlets 
and Transperth InfoCentres).

The SmartRider system provides a complete 
and accurate record of all SmartRider boardings 
because users are required to tag-on/tag-off at 
smartcard processors on buses and ferries and at 
train stations on each leg of their journey.

SmartRider accounted for 74.4 per cent of  
total fare-paying boardings compared with  
73.4 per cent in 2014-15.

SmartParker, which allows patrons to pay for PTA 
(mainly train station) parking with their SmartRider, 
accounted for 85 per cent of all paid parking 
transactions in 2015-16, up from 83 per cent in 
2014-15.

2.2 Fares and other revenue
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Patronage profile
• Total boardings in 2015-16 comprised  

53 per cent fare-paying boardings  
(cash and SmartRider) (54 per cent in  
2014-15), 15 per cent free travel and  
30 per cent transfers (both unchanged),  
and 1.2 per cent special event boardings 
(one per cent).

• Excluding special event boardings, standard 
fare passengers accounted for 50.7 per cent 
of cash and paid SmartRider boardings (52 per 
cent), concession passengers 32.3 per cent 
(31.8 per cent) and school students 14.4 per 
cent (13.2 per cent). Boardings on FamilyRider 
tickets contributed 2.4 per cent (2.5 per cent).

• SmartRider users accounted for 80 per cent 
(79 per cent in 2014-15) of total transfers 
during the year.

Cost per passenger kilometre
The total cost per passenger kilometre  
(including annual capital charges) of providing 
Transperth’s bus, train and ferry services increased 
by 7.3 per cent.

Transperth total cost per passenger kilometre

Passenger kilometres are based on average trip 
length and passenger boardings. The decline in 
total passenger boardings with little change in the 
average trip length led to a 2.6 per cent decline 
in total passenger kilometres which contributed 
partly to the higher average cost.

Revenue and expenditure

Total system revenue, which includes income from 
fares, parking, advertising, rent, infringements, 
and miscellaneous items, fell 0.8 per cent. 

Transperth system revenue ($ millions)

Fare revenue alone recorded a decline of  
1.9 per cent, reflecting the decline in fare-paying 
boardings and despite the 2.6 per cent fare 
increase which came into effect on July 1. 

Across the modes, fare revenue on train and 
bus services fell 1.3 per cent and 2.9 per cent 
respectively. The ferry figure rose 50.3 per cent, 
reflecting the significant jump in boardings.

Total expenditure on the Transperth system 
(including annual capital charges) increased  
4.5 per cent, while operating expenditure 
(excluding annual capital charges) rose  
5.6 per cent.
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Across the modes, total expenditure on train 
services increased 3.7 per cent with annual 
capital charges remaining unchanged. Train total 
operating expenditure (direct operating costs and 
transfer expenses) rose 6.1 per cent with direct 
operating costs alone increasing 4.1 per cent. 

The increase in train direct operating costs  
was mainly due to the introduction of additional 
six-car trains to strengthen existing services, 
and the introduction of a new timetable on the 
Mandurah and Joondalup lines to cater for the 
construction (and future operation) of a new 
station at Aubin Grove. These changes resulted in 
increased railcar energy and maintenance costs.

Total expenditure on bus recorded a 5.3 per cent 
increase with annual capital charges going up  
6.1 per cent and operating expenditure increasing 
by 5.2 per cent. In addition to the cost of 
operating the extra 1.453 million service kilometres 
in the year, a significant rise in network repair and 
maintenance contributed to the increase in bus 
operating costs. This included repair of escalators, 
refurbishment of buses, work on fire suppression 
on buses, busport repairs, and the accessible 
walkway program.

Ferry total and operating expenditure increased  
19 per cent and 21.1 per cent respectively  
due to the service expansion that came into 
operation on January 31 following the opening  
of Elizabeth Quay Jetty.

Transperth system expenditure ($ millions)
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Smart transport transforms Perth
Construction of the $217 million Perth Busport 
marks the completion of the transport 
component of the wider Perth City Link project, 
which started with the sinking of the Fremantle 
Line in 2013 and demolition of the 40-year-old 
Wellington Street Bus Station in 2014�

With the official opening scheduled for July 13, it has 
been delivered on time and under budget through 
the City Busport Alliance (PTA, Brookfield Multiplex 
and BG&E). The bus project finally achieves the 
long-standing vision of removing the transport 
infrastructure that divided Perth and Northbridge.

Looking and operating much like an airport 
lounge, the new state-of-the-art underground  
bus station will transform the way services move 
to, through and around the city.

Each week day, about 1400 buses will travel 
through the facility and, by 2031, this activity is 
expected to increase to more than 200 buses 
an hour in peak. The use of a high-tech dynamic 
bus-stand allocation system (where buses are 
allocated vacant stands as needed, rather than 
having wait for fixed stands for specific services) 
allows the number of buses using the Busport to 
grow without expanding the infrastructure. This 
system enables 50 per cent more buses to use 
the facility on roughly the same footprint as the 
now-demolished Wellington Street Bus Station.

Perth Busport features three fully-accessible 
entry points from ground level – Yagan Square, 
Queen Street and King Street. Each has lifts, 
stairs and escalators to connect passengers to 
the underground, fully air-conditioned 16-stand 
lounge level.

The 170m long airport-style lounge has  
160 seats so that passengers can wait in  
comfort, and is fully enclosed with glass panels 
to view approaching buses. Large screens at 
each entrance and throughout the lounge provide 
passengers with up-to-date service information 
including stand locations and departure times.

GPS trackers have been installed in all buses  
to later allow commuters to track them in real time 
through a Transperth app. A Transperth Assist 
app has also been developed for people with 
disabilities, to provide them better access  
to service information.

From the outset, the Busport has been carefully 
planned in accordance with the Disability 
Standards for Accessible Public Transport Act 
2002 to accommodate all passengers. Extensive 
consultation was carried out with a PTA-formed 
disability user group to guide the design.

Passenger information panels at each stand call 
through to Transperth staff for help, and provide 
text-to-speech information from the screens. All 

16 stands, and the help points in each entrance 
and the lounge, have audio loops to help people 
with a hearing impairment. Braille and raised 
lettering has been installed for passengers 
with vision impairment. Tours will be provided 
to disabled passengers so they can familiarise 
themselves with the facility.

The Premier and Transport Minister will  
officially open the Busport on July 13, 2016  
and operations will begin July 17. A Community 
Open Day on July 16 will give the public a sneak 
peek at the underground station, including a 
once-in-a-life-time opportunity to walk around the 
bus circulation zone before buses begin operating.

CASE STUDY
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2.2.2 Regional

Transwa
Cost per passenger kilometre
The average cost per passenger kilometre  
for road coaches was $0.26 (up three per cent  
from 2014-15). This can be attributed to 
patronage targets not being achieved.  
Higher operational expenditure was recorded 
for road coach maintenance and labour costs, 
partially offset by lower fuel charges.

The average cost per passenger kilometre for 
trains was $0.47 (up 5.04 per cent), mainly 
due to lower patronage and higher operational 
expenditure incurred for railcar maintenance.  
This has been partially offset by lower fuel prices 
and a decrease in track access penalty charges.

Revenue and expenditure
Revenue was down at $10 million, with a 
decrease in passenger numbers on the 
Australind service having the biggest impact 
(partially due to the effects of the Waroona/
Yarloop bush fires in January). Higher levels 
of concessional travel on Transwa services 
also contributed to the decrease. 

Transwa system revenue ($ million)

Expenditure increased by 1.56 per cent to 
$47.39m, mainly due to higher costs on the train 
fleet – a reflection of higher levels of maintenance 
and associated labour costs.

Transwa system expenditure ($ million)

TransRegional
Cost of the service
The cost of operating regional town bus services 
in 2015-16 was $18.5m, up 2.8 per cent from 
$18m in 2014-15. 

The cost of intra-town services increased  
three per cent from $16.9m to $17.4m,  
while the inter-town services cost decreased 
1.8 per cent from $1,138,529 to $1,117,711.
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We continue to ensure services are satisfactory, 
safe, secure, accessible, effectively communicated 
and sustainable.

2.3.1 Customer satisfaction
We measure the success of Transperth and 
Transwa services through an annual PSM 
(Passenger Satisfaction Monitor) undertaken by 
an independent market research organisation. 
The survey conducts detailed face-to-face 
interviews with adult public transport users to 
assess passenger satisfaction with aspects 
of our services, safety and security.

The Transperth PSM has been running for 
26 years. In 2016, 4312 passengers were 
surveyed, covering all bus contract areas, all 
rail lines, and the ferry service. The Transwa 
PSM has been running for 14 years and 
surveyed 1227 passengers, covering road 
coach operations and rail services.

PSM results are further outlined in the  
audited key performance indicators and  
can be accessed at www�transperth�wa�gov�au 
and www�transwa�wa�gov�au

Transperth
In 2016, overall customer satisfaction with 
Transperth services system-wide (calculated  
as the weighted average across all modes)  
rose two per cent.

Level of overall customer satisfaction across 
all Transperth services (per cent)

Trains
An overall satisfaction rate of 92 per cent was 
recorded for Transperth trains, maintaining the 
2015 result.

Level of overall customer satisfaction with 
Transperth trains (per cent)

2.3 PTA in the community
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The proportion of passengers who were dissatisfied overall was  
two per cent (same as 2015), equalling the all-time low. The main  
reasons for dissatisfaction were “too crowded in peak times/no seating  
in peak times”, “need extra carriages”, “insufficient off-peak services”.  
To address these issues, Transperth brought an additional number of  
six-car trains into service during the year.

The importance rating of the key service characteristics of Transperth 
train services (other than passenger safety) and the respective levels of 
satisfaction/dissatisfaction were as follows.

Service characteristic 
Importance  
rating (%)

Satisfaction 
(dissatisfaction) 

rating (%)

2015 2016 2015 2016
Cost of fares 72 77 48 (15) 55 (14)
Punctuality 60 65 94 (3) 97 (1)
Cleanliness on board 57 63 91 (2) 93 (3)
Speed of the trip 55 59 92 (2) 90 (2)
Service frequency 
weekdays

53 56 77 (10) 81 (7)

Availability of seats 55 55 78 (14) 83 (10)
Service frequency  
peak times

53 48 81 (10) 85 (8)

Cleanliness of  
train stations

– 39 – 91 (3)

SmartRider 39 – 97 (1) –

Buses
Overall satisfaction with all Transperth bus services was 89 per cent –  
an improvement of 3.5 per cent and the highest satisfaction rating  
recorded since 1996.

Level of overall customer satisfaction with Transperth  
buses (per cent) 

The proportion of users who were dissatisfied was six per cent, the lowest 
since 1996. The main reasons for dissatisfaction in 2016 were “insufficient 
off-peak services”, “poor service on weekends”, “buses and trains don’t 
connect well”, “more feeder services required”, and “route has changed”, 
“takes longer than before”.
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The importance rating of the key service characteristics of Transperth 
bus services (other than passenger safety) and the respective levels of 
satisfaction/dissatisfaction were as follows:

Service characteristic 
Importance  
rating (%)

Satisfaction 
(dissatisfaction) 

rating (%)

2015 2016 2015 2016
Punctuality 68 68 78 (12) 85 (9)
The cost of the fare 64 68 56 (13) 57 (13)
Cleanliness on board 52 57 94 (2) 96 (1)
Shelter provided  
at the bus stop

54 52 78 (15) 82 (11)

Availability of seats – 49 – 95 (2)
Service frequency 
weekdays

48 47 71 (18) 75 (16)

Ease of connecting 
between buses and trains

44 47 89 (6)

91 (5)  
bus to train

78 (13)  
train to bus

Bus drivers’ handling  
of the bus

47 43 87 (3) 92 (2)

Speed of the trip 47 – 92 (3) –

Transperth ferries
In 2016, 95 per cent of ferry users expressed overall satisfaction with 
Transperth ferry services (down five per cent). 

Level of overall customer satisfaction with Transperth  
ferries (per cent)

For the first time in five years, a level of dissatisfaction (two per cent) was 
recorded. The reduction in the satisfaction rating was likely to have been 
caused by some crowding and ticketing issues resulting from the record 
increase in boardings and the ferry terminal being moved to the new 
Elizabeth Quay precinct.

20152014 2016
0

20

40

60

80

100

9510
0

97

43Operational report / PTA in the community



The importance rating of the key service characteristics of Transperth 
ferry services (other than passenger safety) and the respective levels of 
satisfaction/dissatisfaction were as follows:

Service characteristic 
Importance  
rating (%)

Satisfaction 
(dissatisfaction) 

rating (%)

2015 2016 2015 2016

The cost of the fare 73 74 84 (1) 87 (1)

Cleanliness on board 66 73 99 (0) 99 (0)

Punctuality 65 65 98 (1) 98 (0)

Service frequency weekdays 66 58 87 (5) 91 (4)

Availability of seats 54 54 100 (0) 98 (1)

Speed of the trip 55 52 98 (1) 95 (3)

Shelter at the jetty 49 51 81 (12) 68 (25)

ATVs working correctly – 44 – 79 (21)

Availability of timetables 41 – 70 (2) –

SmartRider
SmartRider (still the most functional, fully-integrated electronic ticketing 
system in Australia) has consistently attracted a high degree of user 
satisfaction across all modes. The 2016 PSM showed that 98 per cent 
of bus passengers (99 per cent in 2015), 98 per cent of train passengers 
(97 per cent) and 93 per cent of ferry passengers (97 per cent) expressed 
satisfaction with our electronic ticketing system.

Transwa
Overall customer satisfaction was maintained at a very high level.

Level of overall customer satisfaction across all Transwa  
services (per cent)

The Transwa PSM showed that 91 per cent of our passengers were satisfied 
with our regional train and road coach service performance, slightly lower 
than a year earlier.
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2.3.2 Passenger safety and security

Transperth

Customer perception of safety
The Transperth PSM assesses customer perceptions of safety during the  
day and at night, both while waiting for and aboard (bus/train/ferry) services. 

Across the modes, virtually all passengers felt safe aboard services during 
the day.

Proportion of respondents who generally feel safe on-board 
Transperth services during the day (per cent) 

 

The following table shows the responses for other aspects of the  
safety perceptions. There were some significant improvements and only  
one downturn.

2015 2016 Change

Transperth trains

On board (night) 78% 79% 1.3%

At the station/interchange (day) 98% 99% 1%

At the station/interchange (night) 72% 76% 5.6%

Transperth buses

On board (night) 82% 84% 2.4%

At the station/interchange (day) 97% 97% 0%

At the station/interchange (night) 71% 76% 7%

Transperth ferries

On board (night) 92% 100% 8.7%

At the station/interchange (day) 100% 99% -1%

At the station/interchange (night) 86% 97% 12.8%

Commitment to safety and security
To ensure that all passengers feel safe at all times on our services,  
digitised CCTV footage from all train and bus stations (including car  
parks and bike shelters) is monitored at the CMR (central monitoring room),  
a state-of-the-art facility which is manned 24 hours a day, seven days  
a week. A fleet of 28 patrol cars (nine, operated by transit officers  
covering the rail system, and 19, operated by contracted security officers, 
covering the bus system) provides a fast and effective response to any 
incidents of anti-social behaviour. During the year, security presence on  
trains was increased after 7pm to enhance safety on services.
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“We continued to coordinate 
a range of safety and 

educational campaigns and 
programs to enhance public 

safety on and around the 
Transperth network.”

We continued to coordinate a range of safety  
and educational campaigns and programs 
to enhance public safety on and around the 
Transperth network. A program to fit Automatic 
Dropping Device, Overreach and Platform 
Detection Systems on railcars started and will 
continue over the next 20 months, to further 
promote the safety of passengers and assets.

Transwa
Transwa continued to provide a very safe service 
for customers through commitment to safety 
systems, procedures and processes. The number 
of passenger injuries during the year remained 
very low.

The new fleet of road coaches has enhanced 
safety features for drivers and passengers, 
including the ability for drivers to be in direct 
communication with operations staff in the event 
of an emergency. The new coaches have real-time 
GPS tracking and the inclusion of a number of 
high-resolution digital cameras inside and outside, 
for improved security for our staff and passengers.

Following the National Terrorism Threat Level 
increase to Probable, Transwa instigated a 
campaign to educate passengers and staff about 
unattended luggage at major terminals and 
locations. New signage was installed at the East 
Perth Terminal, and security personnel patrol the 
platform when the Prospector service arrives and 
departs to ensure luggage is not left unattended.

TransRegional
The following initiatives were undertaken in the 
year to improve safety on our regional town buses:

• Installed security cages on Bunbury and 
Kalgoorlie buses to ensure driver safety. 

• Upgraded CCTV cameras throughout the 
TransRegional bus fleet.

• Increased and targetted security patrols by 
Wilson Security in the Bunbury contract area.

Orange school buses
A two-year upgrade program has seen more than 
50 per cent of the regional orange school bus 
fleet retrofitted with child-check alarms. The safety 
device is de-activated by the driver who must walk 
to the rear of the bus where the device is located 
and so ensure that no child remains on the bus at 
the end of the trip.
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2.3.3 Accessible services

Proximity to metropolitan services
More than 84 per cent of Perth homes have 
ready access to public transport. This metric 
– which has been steady for the past five 
years – shows the proportion of property street 
addresses (PSAs) in the Perth Public Transport 
Area (PPTA) that are within walking distance 
(500m) of a Transperth stop or station providing 
an acceptable level of service (ASL). An ASL is 
defined as a 20-minute or better service in the 
peak-flow direction during the peak, and at least 
an hourly service throughout the core of the day. 

Proportion of PSA in the PPTA within 500m 
of a Transperth stop providing an acceptable 
service level (per cent)

There were 827,638 PSAs within 500m of an  
ASL stop/station in 2016. The number of  
ASL stops was 65.6 per cent of all stops, 
marginally down from 65.8 per cent in 2015.  
This decline was due to the PPTA boundary 
being extended in 2016 to include Pinjarra and 
the associated transport corridor from Mandurah. 
The inclusion of these areas increased the 
number of PSAs that did not receive an ASL.

Diversity and disability and  
access and inclusion
We provide services to WA’s diverse community  
in a fair and non-discriminatory manner. 

Through our 2012-17 Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan (DAIP), we continued to improve 
access to metropolitan and regional public transport 
for people with a disability. We also put strategies in 
place to appropriately communicate with culturally 
and linguistically diverse (CaLD) customers.

Substantive equality and  
community education
• The Transperth education team continued to 

work closely with local government, community 
organisations and colleges to provide training 
on site and at stations to equip staff and 
customers with the skills and knowledge to be 
safe and confident public transport users.

• Managed groups via My Alert emails as  
a platform to disseminate accessibility-specific 
updates to relevant organisations.

• Produced an accessibility factsheet to help 
people with disabilities travelling on the 
Transperth network.

• Emailed 10 accessibility bulletins to 23,282 
customers registered with Transperth 
Accessible Services to advise of system 
changes, upgrades and other Transperth news 
relating to accessibility issues.

• Delivered 68 presentations through the  
school-based Transperth Get On Board 
program for education support and intensive 
English centres. 

• Delivered 77 tailored Get On Board programs 
to seniors and CaLD groups.

• Received 158 calls to the Translating and 
Interpreting Service (TIS) for InfoCentres and 
Transperth CallCentre.

• Updated contact databases for CaLD and 
disability service organisations.

• Consultation conducted with key  
stakeholders regarding specifications for  
new lifts and escalators.

• Continued accepting the Companion Card to 
allow a companion to travel with a person with 
a permanent disability at no additional cost.
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Working groups
• Formed the Perth Stadium Accessibility and 

Inclusion Reference Group.

• Actively participated as a member of the  
Rail and Bus Standards Working Group to 
revise the Disability Standards for Accessible 
Public Transport 2002 and associated 
standards and guidelines.

• Actively participated as a member of the 
National Accessible Public Transport Advisory 
Committee and Accessible Public Transport 
Jurisdictional Committee.

Transport and infrastructure  
accessibility improvements
During 2015-16, Transperth:

• Audited accessibility levels across all train 
stations to determine levels of compliance with 
the Disability Standards for Accessible Public 
Transport 2002.

• Started the hearing loop upgrade program to 
identify which platforms require hearing loop 
technology and to install new amplifiers.

• Implemented the lift upgrade program to 
improve the reliability of train station lifts and 
ensure accessibility for people using mobility 
aids at stations without ramps.

• Increased the number of new, low-floor 
accessible buses to 97.4 per cent of the total 
fleet (1400 out of 1437 buses at June 30). 

• Upgraded around 700 bus stops to meet the 
requirements of Federal Disability Standards  
for Accessible Public Transport under our  
Bus Stop Accessibility Works Program.  
More than 4000 upgrades have been 
completed since this program started in 
January 2010. Upgrades typically involve the 
construction of a level concrete passenger 
boarding area at correct kerb height, 
installation of tactile ground surface indicators, 
and a short connection to the existing local 
footpath network.

• Increased the proportion of service  
trips operated by accessible buses to  
74.4 per cent (3.548m trips out of the total 
4.77m trips operated during the year,  
up from 68.4 per cent in 2014-15).

• Used accessible buses on 255 routes,  
which included 10 CAT routes and  
44 school routes.

• Continued accessible ferry services from the 
fully-accessible jetty at Elizabeth Quay.

In the year, RTBS:

• Continued transferring low-floor diesel buses 
from the Transperth fleet as and when available 
to the TransRegional fleet, to ensure buses 
in regional towns meet Federal accessibility 
requirements. The remainder of the older  
high-floor buses are scheduled to be replaced 
to enable the operation of a fully accessible 
fleet by 2017.

• Continued upgrading bus stop infrastructure in 
towns where TransRegional operates.

In the year, Transwa:

• Introduced nine new highly-accessible road 
coaches. Each coach has a “kneeling” function 
to allow for easier access through the front 
door and also a wheelchair lift to facilitate 
access for passengers who cannot easily 
manage stairs.

• Planned the construction of high-level 
platforms at Merredin and Carrabin stations  
to improve disability access.
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Inclusive education gets everyone on board
Transperth’s educational program, Get on Board, equips community  
groups with the knowledge to access Perth’s public transport system  
and gives them the skills they need to confidently plan their journey,  
buy a ticket and travel safely�

While the program is open to all community groups, prioritising people  
with high public transport needs has seen demand for the program increase 
among seniors, students, people with a disability, and culturally and 
linguistically diverse (CaLD) communities.

In the year, more than 15,000 people accessed the Get on Board program, 
with the education team helping participants at:

• 16 disability groups and not-for-profit organisations

• more than 60 presentations to various education support centres  
around Perth

• four intensive English centres

• 77 tailored sessions for seniors and CaLD groups

• 30 visits to educational institutes with international students

• 43 visits to mainstream schools across the greater Perth region

• 19 appearances at various workplaces and community events

For many people starting out or with special needs, learning how to use 
public transport is a means of gaining and maintaining their independence 
in life. The delivery format of the program is continually adapted to take into 
account the different learning styles and range of abilities.

Each package is different, with a key focus centred on educating each 
person about the network, the ticketing and zonal system, the SmartRider 
system, how to travel safely and how to access assistance when required.

Get on Board has received positive feedback from various community  
groups reporting that the program has increased participants’ competence 
and confidence in using the system, and in some cases, has helped reduce 
social isolation.

As the Transperth system expands with new stations, technologies, 
infrastructure and services, the Get on Board program continues to identify 
challenges and tailor solutions so that everyone has access to public transport.

CASE STUDY
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2.3.4 Communicating with our customers
Information about our services and projects is communicated in  
a timely manner. Communication strategies are applied to improve  
patronage and increase customer satisfaction and awareness of the  
benefits of public transport.

Metro activities
• Successfully launched and promoted the Route 380 Airlink – a new  

bus service linking the CBD with Perth Airport.

• Introduced an escalator safety campaign that encourages passengers  
to responsibly use escalators on the Transperth network.

• Continued improving signage at bus and train stations as part  
of a system-wide upgrade to enhance visibility of key components  
of infrastructure.

• Prepared for the opening of Perth Busport, including the development  
of an application designed to make it easier for people with a disability  
to use the new facility.

• Continued working with major event organisers to provide special 
event services and promote integrated ticketing, as well as promoting 
Transperth services to get to events.

• Partnered with Lakeside Joondalup to promote travelling by train to 
shopping centres in Perth. This featured the first moving “train catwalk”  
in Perth.

• Prepared the first major shutdown of the Armadale/Thornlie Line to 
facilitate the building of Perth Stadium Station.

• Continued providing service disruption information to passengers across 
all modes of public transport.

• Continued delivering Get On Board presentations to a broad range of 
community groups, with the aim of encouraging more people to safely 
travel on Transperth services.

• Successfully launched ferry services from the new Elizabeth Quay 
precinct, including a renaming of Esplanade Station and Esplanade 
Busport to Elizabeth Quay Station and Elizabeth Quay Bus Station.

• Promoted the introduction of mobile device charging points within  
Perth and Perth Underground stations.

• Delivered service change information to passengers, including the  
launch of two new high-frequency bus routes – Route 910 and 930.

• Continued administering the Right Track youth education campaign  
to encourage safe travel and behaviour on the system.

Regional activities
• Carried out community consultations to improve/introduce TransRegional 

services in Port Hedland, Karratha, and Bunbury.

• Implemented a new Transwa style guide and creative brand platform 
Bringing WA closer across all passenger communications.

• Continued promoting the enhanced Transwa AvonLink service.

• Implemented a communications plan for the new Transwa road coach 
fleet, which included targetted advertising in the regional areas.

• Attended key regional events such as Have a Go Day and the Dowerin 
Field Day to promote Transwa services.

• Continued membership with regional tourism bodies for the ongoing 
promotion of Transwa services.

Corporate snapshot / Organisational profile50 Operational report / PTA in the community



2.3.5 Environment and sustainability
We continue to identify opportunities to maximise sustainability in the delivery 
of services. In 2015-16 we:

• Implemented the PTA Environmental Management Systems (EMS) manual 
to achieve legal compliance, control operational and capital works risks, 
and encourage ongoing improvement to our environmental performance.

• Continued the PTA Water Efficiency Management Plan at the Public 
Transport Centre (PTC).

• Installed 73 water data loggers at train stations for early detection of  
water leaks.

• Continued using recycled water and reverse osmosis to wash railcars.

• Continued implementing energy efficiency measures identified as part 
of the energy assessment of the PTC. This involved installing LED lights 
which contributed to a three per cent energy-use reduction.

• Expanded the recycling system at the PTC.

• Audited Downer Bombardier (the PTA’s railcar maintainer) to  
ensure environmental compliance at our Claisebrook, Nowergup  
and Mandurah depots.

• Developed online training of the EMS manual for staff.

• Bought 25 additional Transperth buses that comply with Euro6 emission 
standards, as well as nine Transwa road coaches that comply with Euro5.

• Developed a Sustainability Position Statement for the Forrestfield-Airport 
Link project.

• Adopted the Infrastructure Sustainability Council of Australia (ISCA) 
rating scheme for the Forrestfield-Airport Link, to evaluate and drive 
sustainability performance across all stages of the project.

• Integrated infrastructure for pedestrians and cyclists.

• Continued protecting and restoring air, water, soils, flora and fauna  
across our network.

“We continue to identify 
opportunities to maximise 

sustainability in the delivery 
of services.”
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Forrestfield-Airport Link: Preparing for change
As well as adding a new train line to the Perth suburban rail system,  
the much-anticipated Forrestfield-Airport Link (FAL) will also change the 
way people in the eastern suburbs, foothills and beyond access the city and 
connect to the wider Transperth network�

FAL planning, approvals and enabling legislation have progressed in stages  
between late 2014, when the project definition plan was produced, through to  
mid-2016 (the start of the delivery stage for this major public transport project).

Following a formal procurement phase, the design, construct and maintain  
contract was awarded in early 2016 to a joint venture between Italian engineering 
construction company Salini Impregilo and local engineering firm NRW Holdings.  
The $1.176b contract has cemented the commitment to construct and deliver  
the project, as planned, by late 2020. 

Stakeholders have played an ongoing role in the project’s progress, and the 
community has been brought on the journey to prepare them for the end result 
and for the period of construction and commissioning (about four and a half years). 
Sustainability and Aboriginal engagement continue to exceed previous standards  
and are both key focus areas that contribute towards building a long-lasting legacy,  
to deliver much more than a project.

A major challenge will be tunnelling below the Perth Airport estate which includes the 
non-operational areas as well as the taxiway and runways. It is critical that tunnelling 
operations do not interfere with air traffic operations which are vital to the efficiency of 
Perth Airport and have a critical social and economic impact on the State. Tunnelling 
under an operational airport will be a first for Perth but it has been done successfully 
elsewhere. Partnership agreements with Perth Airport and other key stakeholders 
whose infrastructure is potentially affected by tunnelling operations have been 
achieved to ensure risk management and mutually-agreed outcomes are delivered.

With the FAL construction phase only just beginning, the project’s aim is to provide 
new public transport options with minimal surface impact during both the construction 
phase and when the trains are operating in the tunnels.

CASE STUDY
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2.4 Infrastructure delivery

As well as providing world-class public 
transport services, we strategically plan and 
manage our land and physical assets and 
deliver the infrastructure required to meet 
current and future transport demands.

We also invest heavily in maintenance and 
upgrades to improve our system’s safety, 
efficiency and resilience.

2.4.1 Planning for the future
Through our IPLS division, we undertake major 
transport and infrastructure planning, railway 
engineering and land and environmental management.

Rail engineering and  
infrastructure planning
IPLS’ rail engineering and planning expertise 
provides us (and other State agencies) design 
solutions with sufficient detail to inform planning 
decisions, and underpin costing and scoping of 
the State’s public transport strategies.

Rail planning activities
• Continued developing our Route Utilisation 

Strategy (RUS), including detailed network 
operational modelling and investigating future 
capacity requirements and infrastructure.

• Provided technical expertise and strategic 
public transport planning advice to the 
Transport Portfolio for the Perth Transport Plan 
for 3.5 million people and beyond.

• Offered planning advice for the Forrestfield-
Airport Link project, including preparing 
development applications for stations.

• Worked with stakeholders to understand 
the potential impact of closing the Moore 
Street level crossing and started developing 
a business case to grade-separate the 
Welshpool Road level crossing.

• Coordinated preliminary planning  
and concept design of the East Wanneroo  
Rail Link, including demand modelling and  
cost estimation.

• Worked with consultants to produce concept 
design options and undertook options analysis 
for a relocated Midland Station.

• Continued developing the Thornlie Line 
Extension and Yanchep Extension project 
definition plans (PDPs) and business cases.

Rail engineering activities
• Undertook concept and detailed design of 

rail infrastructure such as depots, crossovers 
and sidings at key locations to support the 
operations and maintenance of the suburban 
rail network.

• Supplied railway engineering expertise and 
oversight for design and construction of railway 
works as part of grade separations over the 
freight network.

• Provided conceptual rail infrastructure designs 
for planned future extensions and additions to 
the suburban railway network.

• Supplied engineering expertise to DoT  
for the Bullsbrook intermodal terminal  
plan and to MRWA for level crossings and 
grade separations on both the freight and 
suburban network.

Land and property management
We manage and maintain our land assets (acquire, 
sell and lease), work closely with Brookfield Rail 
regarding the State’s rail freight corridor, and 
address European heritage matters. 

Initiatives in 2015-16 included:
• Generated approximately $16 million income 

from land leasing.
• Sold land at Bluff Point (Geraldton) for $1.8m in 

March 2016. The land was contaminated and 
has been remediated over many years.

• Compulsorily acquired two interests in land 
for public access and access to construct the 
Edgewater multi-storey car park.

• Acquired land in Subiaco to enable future 
extension of Subiaco Station’s platforms. 

• Started the acquisition process for land 
required at Kenwick to develop a new strategic 
rail freight facility.

• Purchased 11 parcels of privately-held land 
(five by agreement and six by compulsory 
acquisition) for the Forrestfield-Airport Link, 
totalling $40.3m (land value and some 
consequential costs).
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Environmental management
Strategic environmental planning and 
management activities in 2015-16 included:

• Investigated and remediated more than  
20 contaminated sites across WA.

• Obtained Department of Environment Regulation 
(DER) classification of PTA land at Bluff Point to 
allow future LandCorp residential development.

• Progressed environmental and heritage 
investigations for the Kenwick rail freight  
facility project.

• Commenced an environmental investigation 
of Midland Station area for potential 
redevelopment in the long term.

• Began developing an action plan for  
PTA-owned sites classified as ‘contaminated – 
remediation required’ by the DER.

• Inspected asbestos across metropolitan  
and regional assets; and removed asbestos 
from many sites as part of our strategy to 
reduce ongoing obligations to inspect and 
maintain asbestos.

• Started rehabilitating the Chris Hill Quarry.

• Rehabilitated high-conservation-value 
vegetation in the Warnbro Station precinct  
and managed handover to the Department of 
Parks and Wildlife.

• Provided environmental support for Perth 
Stadium project, including the Swan River 
Pedestrian Bridge; as well as the Aubin Grove 
Station and Claisebrook stow road projects.

• Began preparing a Bushfire Management 
Strategy outlining statutory responsibilities for 
bushfire hazard reduction for all activities and 
operations undertaken on PTA land.

• Prepared monthly Out of Hours Noise 
Management Plans for track, structures and 
overhead line maintenance work for submission 
to local councils.

Looking ahead
• Complete rail infrastructure design 

activities, undertake environmental  
and heritage surveys and obtain 
approvals to build the planned Kenwick 
rail freight facility.

• Undertake rail infrastructure design 
and begin investigating station access 
requirements to support our RUS 
as well as formalise and publish a 
summary version of the document.

• Continue Forrestfield-Airport  
Link and Kenwick rail freight facility  
land acquisition.

• Input future land planning for the 
proposed public transport to the north 
and north-eastern corridors and the 
proposed Thornlie Line extension.

• Continue supporting the Perth Stadium, 
Forrestfield-Airport Link, Aubin Grove 
Station and the Edgewater Station 
multi-storey car park projects.

• Continue managing and, where 
required, rationalising surplus land 
together with leasing to optimise value 
to the State.

• Review and complete concept designs, 
business cases and PDPs for proposed 
rail extension projects, including the 
Yanchep and Thornlie Line extensions.
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2.4.2 Major projects
The focus of our Major Projects Unit in 2015-16 was to continue managing and delivering a portfolio of major transport projects valued at more than  
$3 billion.

All projects are developed in consultation with the community and in line with our environmental targets. The below table summarises some of our major 
project progress during the year.

Project Progress in 2015-16 Next steps The bigger picture

Perth Busport Constructed the underground  
busport, commissioned and handed  
over to operations.

Begin bus operations July 2016. Part of the wider Perth City Link project.

Perth Stadium  
Transport Project

Continued constructing Stadium Station 
and Swan River Pedestrian Bridge.

Complete Swan River Pedestrian 
Bridge early 2017.  
Complete and commission 
Stadium Station by June 2017.

Part of the Perth Stadium project.

Aubin Grove Station Completed all major construction 
required over the Kwinana Freeway and 
Mandurah Line.

Complete the station  
building works and car park  
by March 2017.

Improved capacity on the Mandurah Line.

Edgewater Station  
multi-storey car park

Completed the first and most of the 
second floor elevated slabs.

Complete structural works, and 
install lifts, building services and 
architectural finishes by end 2016.

Improved car parking capacity on the 
Joondalup Line.

Forrestfield-Airport Link Enabling legislation approved and key 
approvals obtained.  
Procurement of main works contractor 
achieved in April 2016.

Complete forward works,  
place orders for tunnel boring 
machines, start design and 
construction works.

Extends the public transport network 
and will increase the level of service to 
the eastern suburbs and foothills.

Radio Systems Replacement Preparation of PDP. Approval of PDP then progress to 
procurement phase.

Replacement of obsolete technology 
with new digital radio system.

Kenwick Facility Preparation of PDP. Approval of PDP then progress to 
procurement phase.

Secure a freight rail facility in Kenwick to 
address future network needs.
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Aubin Grove Station gets a lift
The $125 million Aubin Grove-Russell Road project includes construction 
of a new train station, the introduction of six bus feeder services  
(to operate between Cockburn Central and Aubin Grove stations),  
two three-car trains, and the upgrade of the Russell Road bridge to 
provide additional road capacity at the Kwinana Freeway interchange� 

The multi-modal Aubin Grove Station will be the first built on the Mandurah 
Line since it opened in 2007 and will boast one of the biggest car parks on the 
Transperth network, with more than 2000 bays. 

The station is being built on a modular basis – sections of the station and 
accompanying pedestrian footbridges were constructed off-site and craned 
into place during planned weekend shutdowns of the Mandurah Line and 
parts of the Kwinana Freeway. This approach enables the station to be built 
faster than conventional methods with as little impact as possible on the 
freeway and operating railway. 

The three meticulously-planned weekends of work in June saw the project 
reach a significant milestone. Large cranes (including one rated at 600 tonnes) 
were positioned on the Kwinana Freeway and lifted sections of the Russell 
Road bridge, the station concourse building and pedestrian footbridges into 
place. During the first (and largest work) weekend, more than 120 staff worked 
on the constrained site and more than 1000t of crushed dust and 300t of 
timber sleepers were used to protect the freeway road base from the weight  
of the crawler cranes.

Months of planning and working closely with MRWA (which is responsible  
for the Russell Road bridge work) ensured the high-risk and challenging work 
was seamlessly delivered. The consecutive weekends of work were purposely 
scheduled during off-peak times to minimise impacts to road and rail users 
and saved months of disruptions. 

The work for the station and bridge is being carried out by the Georgiou Group 
under separate, but closely-integrated contracts with the PTA and MRWA. 
Georgiou’s selection followed an extensive ECI (early contractor involvement) 
tender process in 2015. 

Work has now moved to the fitout of the station building and pedestrian 
bridges, with the project on track to open early in 2017.

CASE STUDY
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“Routine maintenance 
is carefully planned on 
our network so that our 
infrastructure is safe and 
reliable for employees 
and passengers.”

2.4.3 Network maintenance and upgrades
Our N&I division manages our metropolitan rail network assets (including 70 
stations), 29 country stations, the asset investment program, and delivery of 
information technology services.

Routine maintenance is carefully planned on our network so that our 
infrastructure is safe and reliable for employees and passengers. Our KPI, 
to deliver a reliable infrastructure system, sits at 99.22 per cent (just below 
our target of 99.4 per cent). The under achievement of this target is primarily 
attributable to performance reliability issues in points and track circuit systems.

Network reliability improvements
Asset maintenance expertise
The biggest challenge for ensuring network reliability is the current  
environment where railway infrastructure skills are scarce not only in Perth  
but across the world. To improve our assets and the safety and performance 
of our system, we address this issue by continuing to invest in developing  
and training our maintenance employees to adopt latest practices and achieve 
quality outputs.

Overhead line equipment
A recovery project was implemented to rapidly improve the reliability of 
electrical overhead line equipment (OLE), to prevent train delays on our 
system. The project resulted in removal of 1500 defects, introduction of  
a detailed planning and maintenance regime, improved work instructions,  
the production of a defect rectification handbook, and development of a 
highly-skilled maintenance workforce to continue delivering a well-maintained 
asset. This year the OLE has contributed to only one major train delay occurrence.

Points and crossings
An improvement program has been implemented to renew and refurbish life-
expired points and crossings assets, improve the configuration of equipment 
to eliminate defects, improve maintenance activities, and increase the 
capability of our maintenance employees.
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Upgrades
Ongoing improvement to our network is crucial to meet the demands of customers. Though most of the work remains unseen by the public, the impact on 
passengers is likely to be significant should the infrastructure fail. Upgrades that took place in the year are outlined below.

Project Progress in 2015-16 Next steps The bigger picture

Guildford car park Contaminated soil removed and 
remediation undertaken on spongy  
clay soil.

Project will be completed  
July 2016.

Increase of 361 parking bays at 
Guildford Station and linking the 
principal shared path from Stirling  
Street to the station.

Bike shelter upgrades New bike shelters or parking capacity 
enhancements added an additional 
231 bike bays across Wellard, Canning 
Bridge, Midland, Bassendean, Warnbro, 
Kwinana, Claremont, Armadale and 
Kelmscott stations. 
CCTV installed in all bike shelters.

Six new bike shelters or capacity 
extensions planned for 2016-
17 along with ongoing capacity 
monitoring across the network.

Increased security at bike  
shelters, reducing theft and  
increased passenger safety.

Elizabeth Quay and  
Perth Underground 
escalator replacement

Contract awarded. Delivery of escalators with 
installation to start March 2017.

The replacement escalators will increase 
capacity to efficiently move passengers 
and improve reliability of the system.

Escalator and lift upgrade Twelve escalators completed. 
All six lifts completed.

Three final escalator upgrades to 
be completed by November 2016.

The program will improve the  
reliability and disability access of lifts  
and escalators.

Greenwood Station  
canopy extension

Design and construct tender released. Contract to be awarded August 
2016; completion due mid-2017.

Increased weather protection  
for passengers.

Level crossing  
lighting upgrade

Commissioned in April 2016. 
Upgrades at 34 locations on the 
Armadale, Fremantle and Midland lines.

Project completed. Increased light level at priority level 
crossings to increase public safety.

Public address system PA system and speaker upgrades 
across a number of Transperth  
train stations (50 per cent of the  
network completed).

Completion due September 2016. Improved legibility of passenger 
information at stations.
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Project Progress in 2015-16 Next steps The bigger picture

Overhead line and signal 
alignment works to the 
urban train network

Signalling amendment at Leederville  
and Stirling stations completed in 
November 2015.

Improved signalling will be 
completed at Whitfords and 
Joondalup stations early 2017.

Increased system reliability  
and increased options to run trains  
in the event of network failure – 
minimising impact on passengers.

Resilience:  
Alternative train control

Establishment of a new (alternative) 
train control facility was commissioned 
November 2015.

Project completed. The ability to operate train services 
in the event of the main train control 
system failing.

Driver assist video system Commissioned November 2015. Project completed. To ensure safe operations, the  
system allows the driver to monitor 
passengers on and off the train before 
leaving a station.

Fremantle Bridge  
pier protection

Four reinforced concrete-piled dolphin 
structures built to protect the rail bridge; 
completed April 2016.

Practical completion and close out 
in July 2016.

To protect the bridge and rail 
infrastructure from damage by ship 
collision as occurred in 2011 and 2014.

Claisebrook stow roads Construction of five railcar stow roads 
and key associated infrastructure 
(signalling and overhead traction power) 
at the Swan River end of the Claisebrook 
Depot yard. The stow roads began 
service in June 2016.

Practical completion August 2016. Provision of additional capacity stowage 
at Claisebrook Depot for 16 A-Series 
two-car train sets.

2.4.4 Freight network management
Initiatives in 2015-16 focussed on reviewing, increasing the transparency and strengthening our risk-based Lease Management Plan for the State’s freight  
rail corridor.

Integration of freight network data
• Made freight network documents publically available on the PTA website.

• Finalised a Single-Source-of-Truth agreement with the network lessee.

• Issued a notice of intention to update Schedule 4 Initial Performance 
Standards in the corridor lease agreement.

• Scanned the Freight Networks Sale Data Room.

Lease monitoring
• Continued monitoring the network from the visual management centre to 

ensure lease agreement compliance was adhered to.

• Began an initiative to streamline the Annual Corridor Report review process.

• Reached agreement to establish a Tripartite Agreements Template for third 
party access.
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Our aim is to secure a workforce with the 
right capabilities and attitudes. We do this  
by developing, attracting and retaining the 
right employees to meet our business needs.

Our POD division drives business performance 
and workplace culture through strategic people 
and organisational development programs and 
projects, training, on-the-job development and 
a range of essential human resource policies, 
processes, systems and services.

People matrix

Staff profile
• 1672 total employees (1654 in 2014-15)

• 24 per cent female; 76 per cent male

• 22 per cent 35 years and younger

• 41 per cent 50 years and older

• 15 per cent from culturally diverse backgrounds

• 62 per cent of employees have been with us 
for more than five years

• 4404 job applications received  
(139 were offered positions and 42 were 
provided offers to recruitment pools)

• 152 started employment with us  
during the year

2.5 Our people
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Occupational groupings
• 70 per cent employed in operations which 

involve looking after the day-to-day processes 
of delivering our public transport system.

• 15 per cent employed in infrastructure which 
relates to construction and maintenance of 
tracks, signals, stations and other facilities 
which allow services to operate.

• 15 per cent support service delivery 
in the areas of policy development 
and implementation, safety, contracts, 
communication and other corporate areas. 

• Operational numbers include:

 –  263 train drivers
 – 280 transit officers
 – 196 customer and ticketing service staff
 – 54 engineers
 – 36 road coach operators
 – 21 signal and electrical technicians
 – 28 catenary maintainers (electrical overhead)
 – 31 railway track maintainers
 – 23 train controllers
 – 46 contract administrators.

Key activities
POD continued to work with the wider PTA 
to design and implement initiatives to attract, 
engage, develop and manage our people. 
The division maintained a high standard in 
the provision of essential HR services to the 
organisation – recruitment, personnel and  
payroll, grievance and dispute resolution, 
performance management, and HR consultancy 
services to managers.

Strategic people management
A key focus was on finalising our workforce 
planning process to identify our current workforce 
needs and ensure we have the required future 
workforce to supply public transport services. 

Specific attention has been placed on developing 
and implementing succession risk management 
action plans for business critical positions (the top 
30 positions that if vacant would severely impact 
the PTA’s ability to deliver its services).

Leadership development

Additional leadership development training and 
support was provided to managers across the 
business, with specific programs developed and 
implemented for the N&I and TTO divisions.

Development activities were supported further 
by introducing a more systematic focus on talent 
management through our regular performance 
appraisal and development process and Individual 
Development Plans for key leadership roles. 

Investing in our people
Learning activities for our people is the major role 
of POD. As a Registered Training Organisation, we 
continued to train our transit officers, customer 
services staff, revenue protection officers, railcar 
drivers and infrastructure employees. 

This year, POD also began training in our revised 
Safeworking Rules and Procedures and safety 
protocols to all employees and contractors who work 
on or have access to the rail corridor. This training 
ensures we implement the changes under the new 
network rules and meet our obligations to align 
with the Australian National Rules and Procedures.
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Service milestones
Our employees are key to our operations and we value their dedication and input in providing quality 
services for the public. Awards recognising 40 and 50 years of service went to the following employees:

Name Position

40-year service awards

Richard Castellas Senior Training Officer 

Kim Elliman Railcar Driver East Perth 

Kelvin Wilson Driver Trainer Nowergup 

Leigh Buller Senior Transport Liaison and Admin 

Barry Orbell Railcar Driver East Perth 

Jack Taylor Driver Coordinator Claisebrook 

Kevin Jones Road Coach Operator East Perth 

Paul McIver Train Controller 

Bernard Courtney Railcar Driver Claisebrook 

Owen Gonsalves Passenger Ticketing Assistant Perth 

Brett Holloway Railcar Driver Claisebrook 

Brian Cochrane Railcar Driver Claisebrook 

John O’Callaghan Senior Customer Service Officer 

Colin Smith Assistant Operations Manager – Road 

Mark Gardner Railcar Driver Claisebrook 

Kelvyn Williams Perway Inspector 

William Murray Parking Attendant 

50-year service awards

Stephen McCullaugh Project Officer
 

Looking ahead
We have four key focus areas for 2016-17:

• Securing the workforce –  
developing new career-path models 
for critical occupations and the 
commencement of a Knowledge 
Management Strategy.

• Building capability through 
leadership and business 
management – reinforcing leadership 
roles and responsibilities and core 
business management skills (difficult 
conversations, self-management, 
change management, accountability 
and strategic thinking).

• Reinforcing the development of 
our staff – expansion of our talent 
management systems and processes, 
an increased focus by managers 
and supervisors on the assessment 
of employee competence, and the 
practical application of skills learned  
in the workplace.

• Business focus – raising  
awareness of and addressing  
workforce productivity and cost 
sustainability issues.
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3. Governance and compliance
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Safety audits and monitoring of Transperth bus 
contractors continued in line with AS 4801-OSH 
Management Systems. Each depot was audited 
at least once with other documented site visits 
in the year. These regular audits and inspections 
have improved safety management systems and 
the safety focus of contractors. Contractor lost 
time injury (LTI) rates continue to be well below  
the industry standard.

The three contractors providing Transperth bus 
services have been re-certified to AS 4801:

• Swan Transit, valid to February 2018.

• Path Transit, valid to August 2018.

• Transdev, valid to January 2017. 

All three contractors have also been certified 
as compliant with ISO 14001 Environmental 
Management Systems.

3.1 Bus safety

We promote, administer and improve rail safety operations for our employees, contractors, stakeholders 
and the public.

Rail safety performance report

KPIs Measures Target Results
Level of 

achievement
Status Notes

Safety 
incidents 
per million 
passenger 
and 
kilometre 
decrease

Notifiable occurrences 
Category A per million 
passenger boardings 

0.23 0.10
58.50% 

below target  Met Target Ref #1

Notifiable occurrences 
Category A per million 
train kilometres 

0.78 0.28
63.96% 

below target  Met Target Ref #2

Notifiable occurrences 
Category B per million 
passenger boardings 

9.67 12.04
24.54% 

above target

 Desired results 
not achieved – 
taking action

Ref #3

Notifiable occurrences 
Category B per million 
train kilometres 

32.22 35.47
11% above 

target  Close to Target Ref #4

Obligations 
under the 
lease are 
adhered to

Lease breaches 0 0 100%  Met Target

Five-year independent 
audit

0 n/a n/a  Met Target

Key   Met Target  Close to Target  Desired results not achieved – taking action

3.2 Rail safety
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Reporting of notifiable occurrences
Under the Rail Safety National Law (WA)  
Act (2015), specific railway safety incidents 
must be reported to the Office of the National 
Rail Safety Regulator (ONRSR). These ‘notifiable 
occurrences’ are defined in the Rail Safety 
National Law (WA) Regulations (2015) as 
Category A (death, serious injury, or significant 
property damage) or Category B (incidents 
that may have the potential to cause a serious 
accident). They do not cover non-rail operations.

Notes
Ref #1
Category A per million passengers boardings 
benchmark value

There were six Category A notifiable occurrences 
reported to the regulator, compared with 11  
in 2014-15.

This 0.23 per million passenger boardings target 
was set at the beginning of the year and based on 
projected Transperth and Transwa train boardings 
totalling 64.369m, and using historical trends in 
the number of notifiable incidents on the network. 
Though the train passenger total ended up at 
62.857m, the Cat A ratio was still well inside  
the target.

Ref #2
Category A per million train kilometres 
benchmark value

This target was set at 0.78 based on historical 
trends and projected Transperth and Transwa train 
kilometres of 19.304m. Train kilometres at year’s 
end was 21.342m.

Ref #3
Category B per million passenger boardings 
benchmark value

The number of Category B notifiable occurrences 
reported to the regulator totalled 757 (650 in 
2014-15).

As was the case with Cat As, the Cat B  
ratio was affected by the lower-than-expected 
train patronage, exacerbated by a big jump in  
Cat B notifiable occurrences.

This increase was predominantly Slip Trip or Fall 
Incidents (156 in 2014-15 compared with 197 
in 2015-16) and Safeworking Rule or Procedure 
breaches (33 vs 89), Trespass (103 vs 155), 
Alleged Assault (45 vs 49) and Level Crossing 
Occurrence (103 vs 110).

There were improvements in a number of incident 
categories such as Alcohol or Drugs Irregularity 
(20 vs 14), Suspected Suicide or Attempted 
Suicide (12 vs 6), Vandalism (61 vs 45), Railcar 
Fault (9 vs 0), Fire (9 vs 3) and Proceed Authority 
Exceeded (7 vs 2). 

The Terrorism/Sabotage (1 vs 1) category 
remained static. 

Ref #4
Category B per million train kilometres 
benchmark value

This target was set at 32.22 at the beginning  
of the year based on the projected estimates  
of Transperth and Transwa train kilometres  
being 19.304m. Train kilometres at year’s end  
was 21.342m. Despite this, the ratio was still  
an 11 per cent increase against the target.

Rail safety initiatives

Strategies to reduce slip, trip or fall incidents
• Developed and published an educational video 

about safe use of escalators on our network.

• Attended high-risk demographic exhibitions 
and events to distribute brochures to promote 
escalator safety.

• Installed escalator safety signage on bus 
display boards, on trains and near escalators.

• Undertook monthly station inspections.

• Installed new, visible and accessible emergency 
stop buttons on escalators.

• Rotated employees throughout the day,  
at the bottom of the escalators at Perth 
Underground and Elizabeth Quay stations,  
to clear the cross-hatching areas.
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Strategies to reduce level crossing incidents
• Requested the Office of Road Safety  

to undertake a review of the penalties  
for breaching regulations 101-104 of the  
Road Traffic Code which relate to level 
crossings and to fund ongoing level crossing 
media campaigns.

• Requested WA Police participation in  
fine enforcement at identified high-risk  
level crossings.

• Commissioned a radio campaign to highlight 
the dangers of vehicles entering exclusion 
zones at level crossings.

• Consulted with DoT to increase level crossing 
information in the Drive Safe and Ride Safe 
Handbook for WA road users.

• Developed a strategy with MRWA and DoT  
for short, medium and long term improvements 
to level crossings, including the prioritisation of 
crossings for grade separation.

Strategies for safeworking
A number of initiatives were developed with the 
aim of reducing exposure to safeworking risks that 
include, but are not limited to the following:

• Implemented the new Safeworking Rules and 
Procedures on November 1.

• Put control measures in place to ensure  
people with track access are knowledgeable 
and experienced. This has reduced the  
number of people who are eligible to hold  
track access permits. 

• Reviewed the Lookout Working procedure and 
introduced control measures to reduce risk. 
This method of protection can now be used 
only for planned work at night, and only with 
permission from the general manager N&I. 
The Network and Infrastructure Access and 
Information Book was also updated to include 
areas where Lookout Working cannot be 
performed due to a lack of sighting distance.

• Implemented an improved Rule 3013 
Lookout Working in August 2015 prior to the 
introduction of the new suite of Safeworking 
Rules and Procedures.

• Reviewed our Alcohol and Drug Policy and 
created a more stringent consequence model.

• Increased the number of AOD  
(alcohol and other drugs) tests to promote  
our zero tolerance stance.

• The Strategic Safeworking Management 
Group (SSMG) continued to oversee the 
implementation and ongoing monitoring  
and maintenance of the Safeworking Rules  
and Procedures.

Strategies to enhance rail safety
• Participated in a number of national rail  

industry working groups including the SPAD 
(signals passed at danger) competency  
sub-group, National Rollingstock, Operations, 
Infrastructure, Train Control Systems and the 
Wheel Rail Interface committees which are 

convened by the Rail Industry Safety and 
Standards Board.

• Undertook a review of historical data to identify 
factors contributing to SPADs.

• Started trialling supplementary on-track 
warning beacons at signal 229, located near 
McIver Station, which has been identified as  
a common SPAD error point.

• Formed an internal safeworking consultation 
group for employee input and support to  
the SSMG.

• Launched a safety cultural change program 
and a weekly knowledge share program within 
our N&I division.

• Continued to coordinate the Right Track 
program, with rail safety ambassador and 
double amputee Jonathan Beninca presenting 
at schools and youth organisations across the 
metropolitan area, to promote rail safety.

• Transit Officers continued to visit schools in 
suburbs identified as being at high risk of 
unsafe behaviour at local level crossings and 
train stations.

• The SSMG worked closely with TTO to 
successfully implement the Safeworking Rules 
and Procedures within the division.
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OSH performance

KPIs Measures 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 Target Level of achievement

OSH

Lost-time injury/disease 
(LTI/D incident rate)

 
6.30

 
5.78

 
3.60

 
3.71

Zero, or 10% 
improvement on the 
previous three years 

 Met Target 
Achieved 32.3% improvement over  

the last three years average

LTI severity rate 26.67 38.30 24.39 22.03
Zero, or 10% 

improvement on the 
previous three years

 Met Target 
Achieved 26.04% improvement over  

the last three years average

% of injured workers 
returned to work within 
(i) 13 weeks and  
(ii) 26 weeks

 
 

76.67% 
97.78%

 
 

65.96% 
85.11%

 
 

75.61% 
89.02%

 
 

92% 
93%

Greater than or equal 
to 80% return to work 

within 26 weeks
 Met Target

Number of fatalities 
(employees/contractors)

0 0 1 0 0  Met Target

Key  Met Target  Close to Target  Desired results not achieved – taking action

Organisational commitment to safety and health
Safety is our core value and was a continued 
focus in the year. The provision of a healthy 
and safe workplace – under the banner 
Everyone Home Safe Every Day – is the prime 
responsibility of management across the 
business. A workplace where management 
and employees are committed to safety is 
integral to making our public transport safe.

Following a gap analysis of the new Rail Safety 
National Law (WA) Act and regulations and 
previous rail safety legislation, a review and 
update of all relevant PTA policies and procedures 
was undertaken to ensure alignment with new 
legislative requirements and keep our workplace 
safety standards current. Our revised Safeworking 
Rules and Procedures was launched late in 2015 

and a number of strategies for safeworking were 
undertaken (as outlined in rail safety) to improve 
work practices around rail infrastructure.

3.3 Occupational safety, health and injury management
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Our Health and Safety Policy outlines that all 
positions within the PTA have a safety and/or 
rail safety legislative requirement which must 
be adhered to and is clearly documented in the 
Responsibilities and Authorities Manual.

To maintain a safeworking culture, executive 
management discusses safety and workers 
compensation matters at weekly, monthly and 
quarterly meetings.

Other mandatory safety reporting  
requirements met during the year included:

• Compliance with rail safety reporting 
statistics

• Preparation of the Rail Safety annual report

• Completing relevant submissions to the  
PTA annual report

• Reporting of notifiable occurrences to  
the Australian Transport Safety Bureau  
and the ONRSR. 

Safety in the spotlight
Safety is an integral part of how we operate  
the transport network. In 2015, we completed  
a major project to overhaul our safeworking rules 
and procedures. 

The project, aimed at enhancing safety and 
operational efficiency while reflecting and aligning 
with the broader national rail industry safety and 
standards, culminated in the introduction of the 
new PTA Safeworking Rules and Procedures on 
November 1. 

The rules and procedures provide instructions on how 
our employees and contractors are required to work 
safely within the PTA rail corridor. The recent update 
represents the most significant change to rules 
governing safety in this area since the late 1960s.

The rules and procedures were rewritten to simplify 
the rules structure and content, reduce the number 
of rules and to closer align with the Australian 
Network Rules and Procedures.

Wide-ranging consultation with key internal and 
external stakeholders was undertaken to ensure 
a smooth transition for those affected by the 
changes. Endorsement for the revised rules and 
procedures was received from the Office of Rail 
Safety on September 21.

As part of the project, the training, assessment  
and accreditation requirements for PTA employees  
and contractors working within the rail corridor  
was reviewed and amended. All employees  
(e.g. drivers, transit officers, rail maintenance crews) 
and contractors needing access to the corridor were 
required to complete training in the new rules prior to 
their introduction. A new accreditation and training 
management system has also been introduced to 
provide improved tracking of worker competency.

The introduction of the new rules and procedures 
has heightened our safety standards, providing 
both a safer working environment for employees 
and contractors; and improved travelling 
experience for passengers.

CASE STUDY
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Health assessment standards  
and management systems
All employees who have track access continue to 
be monitored and reviewed in accordance with 
the National Standard for Health Assessment for 
Rail Safety Workers. 

We have a robust health and wellbeing program, 
which is accessible to all employees and includes 
but is not limited to:

• onsite gymnasiums

• Sonic HealthPlus health service provider

• influenza program

• employee assistance and critical  
incident program

• mole check clinics.

An holistic approach is actively promoted  
to the PTA workforce, which encompasses  
the emotional, physical and mental health of  
our employees. 

HSE management system
Our HSE (Health, Safety and Environmental) 
system is continually monitored and reviewed; 
and a comprehensive strategic audit program is 
in place to certify that it remains compliant and 
works effectively. The audit process provides 
feedback, identifies areas for improvement and 
ensures corrective actions are implemented, 
monitored and reviewed.

Our Safety and Strategy directorate has  
a dedicated resource that focusses on rail safety 
compliance using the audit program.

The system extends to contractors so that  
they understand PTA safety requirements,  
which in turn reinforces our commitment to safety.

The ONRSR also regularly inspects sections of the 
HSE management system throughout the year. 

Reporting systems
We have two reporting systems – STARRS and 
IFRS – to identify incidents trends, perform trend 
analysis and implement corrective actions. 

STARRS enables reporting, recording and analysis 
of hazards, near misses, incidents, injuries and 
workers compensation claim data. 

IFRS is the rail reporting system. It enables the 
reporting and storage of rail-related incidents,  
in particular notifiable occurrences. 

There is a project under way to replace the two 
systems with an integrated reporting, analysis and 
storage database. 

Drug and alcohol testing
We have a zero tolerance policy to the use  
of alcohol and other drugs in the workplace. 
Drugs and alcohol are recognised occupational 
health and safety risks which compromise an 
employee’s ability to work safely.

In the year, a total 23,523 random AOD tests  
were undertaken on employees and contractors, 
and 28 contractors and two employees returned a 
positive result.

All positive results are dealt in line with our Alcohol 
and Other Drugs Policy consequence model. 

Injury management
We are committed to reducing work-related 
injury and illness, and our prompt and efficient 
injury management promotes a safe and healthy 
workplace. Our program helps injured workers 
return to work as soon as medically appropriate 
and adheres to the requirements of the Workers 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.

Supervisors, managers, divisional safety 
representatives and executive management 
actively support injured workers by ensuring 
suitable duties are available to meet the medical 
conditions whenever possible. 
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We have an ongoing commitment to maintain 
heightened awareness and education among 
employees to ensure they proactively manage 
and monitor risk. Our success in achieving 
this is closely aligned to the effectiveness of a 
framework in place that governs the foundations 
and arrangements to embed risk management 
across all levels of the organisation.

Risk management is crucial to achieving our 
purpose of providing safe, customer-focussed, 
integrated and efficient transport services.  
We do this by managing risk to a level deemed 
to be ALARP (as low as reasonably practicable). 

Effective risk management is evident when 
strategic, operational and project risks are 
proactively identified, assessed and treated,  
with opportunities being recognised and 
capitalised on. Risk management plans have been 
compiled across key PTA projects and initiatives; 
further supported by regular risk reporting that 
documents risk trends. The key objective of 
these plans and reports is to better inform the 
decision-making of the relevant stakeholders.

Initiatives of the PTA risk management portfolio  
in 2015-16 included:

• Made up-to-date risk management  
information readily available in a dedicated 
portal on our intranet.

• Provided risk management training programs 
for staff at all levels.

• Continued a Transport Portfolio (PTA, DoT  
and MRWA) initiative to finalise procurement 
and commence the implementation of  
a cross-agency risk management system.

• Continued ongoing structured quarterly 
Divisional Risk Coordinator Group and 
Strategic Risk Management meetings.

• Reported quarterly risks to executive 
management and across divisions.

3.4 Risk management
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Initiatives were taken in the year to strengthen 
corridor lease agreement (CLA) management of 
the State’s complex freight network and ageing 
infrastructure. Negotiations to close ongoing 
lease management issues are approached 
collaboratively with the network lessee and as 
at June 30 no non-compliances have been 
recorded or reported to executive. Ongoing lease 
management issues are tracked using a visual 
management centre.

Strategies to close ongoing CLA management 
issues are outlined further.

Annual corridor reports
Checklists were created to streamline the 
review of ACRs. This will ensure outcomes are 
reproducible independent of the PTA reviewer, and 
will make expectations of the ACR review process 
more transparent to the lessee.

The checklist review process has helped highlight 
the differences in Schedule 4 Initial Performance 
Standards used by the PTA and the network 
lessee. Discussions are ongoing to finalise a 
checklist that the lessee will use collaboratively 
with the PTA to provide positive confirmation on 
several CLA compliance requirements.

Freight network audit
Our five-yearly freight network audit was due in 
2015, and independent consultant AECOM was 
engaged to close out outstanding Schedule 4 Initial 
Performance Standards section run-time issues.

Maintenance Plan 2016-2020
In response to the 2013 OAG Management of  
the Rail Freight Network Lease: 12 Years Down 
the Track report, Ernst and Young were engaged 
to formalise a methodology for the assessment  
of potential Surrender of Uneconomic Lines in 
clause 16 of the CLA. Outcomes of the report 
prompted consultation with the network lessee  
to increase the amount of information presented  
in the five-yearly maintenance reports.

Approval of increased performance  
standard requirements

Notice to update the Schedule 4 Initial 
Performance Standards at the five-year 
anniversary dateline was issued and negotiations 
are ongoing to ensure the update reflects 
changes to the performance standards captured 
in Deeds of Variations in the intervening years; 
and lines placed into Care and Maintenance  
and Rail Freight System Act 2000, sections  
12(6)-(8) requirements.

Freight network policy development and 
lease variations
Negotiations with the network lessee are under 
way to finalise a Disused Rail Policy position on 
the management of any sections of the freight 
network that have fallen into disuse; as well as 
to remove the 15 per cent profit share for grain 
traffic arising out of the 2010 Project Agreement: 
Grain Profit Removal Deed of Variation.

3.5  Corridor lease agreement compliance
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Record-keeping and information management
We are committed to best practice record-keeping processes in  
compliance with the State Records Act 2000. Through our Record-keeping 
Plan we review our policies and procedures to ensure they meet the 
standards and guidelines set by the Act and the State Records Commission. 
The plan expires in 2017 and will be reviewed next year to ensure it remains 
compliant with these requirements and takes advantage of innovations and 
technological advances.

In 2015-16 we continued to pursue strategies to minimise the cost and 
inefficiency of hard-copy record-keeping, such as promoting the benefits of 
digital record-keeping to employees. Our electronic document and records 
management system (EDRMS) has received significant attention to ensure it 
delivers efficiency and facilitates collaborative workspaces. Following a system 
upgrade in 2016, our next step is to keep leveraging opportunities to use the 
EDRMS to support the streamlining and automation of business processes.

Our effective digital record-keeping and information management processes 
in 2015-16 has seen a significant collection of legacy information added to 
the EDMRS. Approximately 398,347 documents were registered into the 
system, including 92,438 emails and 305,909 documents (an increase of  
16 per cent from last year).

This achievement is also the result of targetted scanning exercises 
conducted across the organisation by our records management team to 
ensure information continues to remain electronically accessible.

Other hard-copy records management milestones achieved this year include:

• 6795 files created

• 1020 archive boxes created

• 558 files destroyed

3.6 Other legal and policy requirements
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Compliance with public sector standards
The PTA’s human resource management policies and practices are subject 
to ongoing review and, in accordance with section 31 (1) of the Public Sector 
Management Act, comply fully with the public sector standards in human 
resource management.

Compliance with relevant written law

Enabling legislation
The PTA is established under the Public Transport Authority Act 2003,  
an Act to establish a State agency responsible for providing public passenger 
transport services anywhere in the State and performing functions under 
other Acts, including the Rail Freight System Act 2000 and the Government 
Railways Act 1904 as well as the construction of railways under various 
railway enabling Acts. Currently the Minister responsible for the PTA is the 
Minister for Transport.

Legislation impacting on the PTA’s activities
In the performance of its functions, the PTA complies with all relevant written 
laws of Western Australia and, where required, reports on an annual basis in 
accordance with key legislation, including the following:

Financial Management Act 2006; Electoral Act 1907; Equal Opportunity 
Act 1984; State Superannuation Act 2000; Heritage of Western Australia 
Act 1990; Freedom of Information Act 1992; State Supply Commission 
Act 1991; Public Sector Management Act 1994; Disability Services Act 
1993 (Cth); Rail Safety National Law (WA) Act 2015; Railways (Access) 
Act 1998; State Trading Concerns Act 1916; Occupational Safety and 
Health Act 1984; Environmental Protection Act 1986; Contaminated Sites 
Act 2003; Auditor General Act 2006; State Records Act 2000; Salaries 
and Allowances Act 1975; and Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003.

Other various Agreements/Acts and written laws impact on the PTA’s 
activities from time to time.

In the financial administration of the PTA, we have complied with the 
requirements of the Financial Management Act 2006. We have also complied 
with every other relevant written law and exercised controls to provide 
reasonable assurance that the receipt and expenditure of moneys, the 
acquisition and disposal of public property and the incurring of liabilities have 
been in accordance with legislative provisions.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would 
render the particulars included in this statement misleading or inaccurate.

Nina Lyhne Kevin Kirk
Acting Accountable Authority Chief Finance Officer
2 September 2016 2 September 2016
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Government building contracts
The PTA has a commitment to the Government Building Training Policy, 
having altered prospective tender documentation and developed a 
monitoring plan for building and construction or maintenance projects with a 
duration of greater than three months, a value of greater than $2 million and 
tendered after October 1, 2015.

Building and 
construction 
projects 2016

Maintenance 
projects 2016

Active contracts within the scope  
of the policy in the reporting period

3 0

Contracts granted a variation to  
the target training rate in the 
reporting period

0 0

Head contractors involved in  
the contracts

2 0

Construction apprentices/trainees 
required to meet target training rate 
across all contracts

246 0

Construction apprentices/trainees 
employed by head contractors;  
and the subcontractors they are 
using for the contracts

370 0

Contracts which met or exceeded 
the target training rate

3 0
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Expenditure on advertising, market research, polling and direct mail
In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the following table reports our expenditure on advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations, direct mail organisations and media advertising organisations.

2015-16

$
Expenditure with Advertising Agencies:

303 MullenLowe Group Pty Ltd  701,891 

ADCORP Australia Limited  77,840 

Optimum Media Decision (WA) Pty Ltd  46,964 

Cooch Creative Pty Ltd  36,370 

Definition Pty Ltd  29,870 

AD Capital Advertising Pty Ltd  23,696 

Southern Cross Austereo  15,570 

key2creative  13,157 

Concept Media  10,500 

APN Outdoor Trading  5,964 

Graduate Careers Australia  5,520 

Regional Publishers  5,470 

Experience Perth  5,386 

Gramercy Park Communications  5,000 

Curtin Radio FM  4,000 

Australia’s South West  3,962 

Fairfax Media  3,932 

Redwave Media  3,608 

Avon Tourism Incorporated  3,417 

2015-16

$
Exposure Print and Design  3,114 

Kalgoorlie Boulder Visitor Centre  2,818 

Market Creations Pty Ltd  2,665 

Eyezon Pty Ltd  2,536 

Icon Illustrations  2,533 

Facebook  2,398 

Albany Community Radio Inc  2,291 

LinkedIn  2,279 

Australia’s Golden Outback  2,259 

 1,025,010 

Expenditure with Market Research Agencies:

Painted Dog Research  395,819 

 395,819 

Expenditure with Polling Agencies: Nil 

Expenditure with Direct Mail Agencies: Nil 

Expenditure with Media Advertising Agencies:

Carat Australia Media Services  91,628 

News Limited  9,060 

Western Australian Newspapers Limited  2,859 

 103,547 

Total Expenditure  1,524,376
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Pricing policy
Government continued to maintain public transport fares at an affordable level.

In accordance with the 2015-16 Government pricing policy, Transperth fares 
were increased by the projected rate of increase in CPI (2.6 per cent). The new 
fares came into effect on July 1, 2015. 

While the overall average increase was 2.6 per cent, standard fares went up  
by an average 2.8 per cent and concession fares, which were maintained  
at 40 per cent of standard fares, went up an average 2.4 per cent. The flat 
fare for school students was unchanged at 60c.

Transwa fares are set by Government to ensure affordability for regional  
West Australians. In 2015-16, Transwa fare increases were restricted to  
2.6 per cent in line with the projected rate of CPI increase. Concession  
fares were set at 50 per cent of standard fares. Transwa fares are rounded  
to the nearest 5c.

Transperth and Transwa fare information is provided at  
www�transperth�wa�gov�au and www�transwa�wa�gov�au

Workers compensation
Ninety-three compensation claims were recorded during the year,  
compared with 95 in 2014-15.

Contracts with senior officers
At balance date, no senior officers, or firms of which senior officers are 
members, or entities in which senior officers have substantial interests,  
had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the PTA other  
than normal contracts of employment of service.

Unauthorised use of credit cards 
Some PTA officers hold corporate credit cards, but only where their functions 
warrant it. Despite each cardholder being reminded of their obligations 
annually under the PTA credit card policy, one employee inadvertently used 
the corporate credit card when processing an online payment through 
PayPal for a personal expense. The matter was not referred for disciplinary 
action as the Chief Finance Officer noted prompt advice and settlement 
of the personal use amount, and, that the nature of the expenditure was 
immaterial and characteristic of an honest mistake.

2016 
$

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the 
reporting period

141

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the 
due date (within five working days)

141

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after 
the period (after five working days)

0

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding 
at balance date 

0

3.7 Other governance and financial disclosures
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Special purpose statement

Forrestfield-Airport Link account

Name An account titled the Forrestfield-Airport Link Account (the Account) shall be established and maintained as an agency special 
purpose account pursuant to section 16(1)(d) of the Financial Management Act 2006 by the Public Transport Authority of 
Western Australia.

Purpose To hold moneys received for the construction of the Forrestfield-Airport Link project being the contribution of funds by the 
Commonwealth Government towards projects costs.

Receipts There shall be credited to the Account such moneys as are appropriated by Parliament for the purposes of the Account, and 
investment income.

Payments Moneys standing to the credit of the Account shall be applied only for expenditure on the Forrestfield-Airport Link project in 
accordance with relevant agreements, including the National Partnership Agreement on Infrastructure Projects in Western Australia.

Administration  
of account

The Account shall be administered by the Public Transport Authority of Western Australia in accordance with the  
Financial Management Act 2006, Financial Management Regulations 2007, Treasurer’s instructions and relevant agreements, 
including the National Partnership Agreement on Infrastructure Projects in Western Australia.

Accounting records There shall be maintained a detailed record of transactions processed through the Account, together with such other accounting 
records and procedures as are prescribed in the Public Transport Authority of Western Australia’s financial management manual.

Financial statements There shall be prepared financial statements, together with supplementary information in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006, Financial Management Regulations 2007, the Treasurer’s instructions and relevant agreements, 
including the National Partnership Agreement on Infrastructure Projects in Western Australia.

Disposal of funds  
on cessation

Any balance standing to the credit of the Account upon cessation of operations for which the Account was created shall be 
disbursed in accordance with relevant agreements, including the National Partnership Agreement on Infrastructure Projects in 
Western Australia.

I have examined and agree to the provisions of this special purpose statement:

Reece Waldock Michael Barnes
Chief Executive Officer, PTA Under Treasurer, Department of Treasury
28 April 2016 19 May 2016
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Major capital expenditure variations

(a) Budgeted estimates and actual results for 2015-16

Description of Work Budget Actual Variation Comments

 $000  $000  $000 

Forrestfield-Airport Link 129,831 114,239 15,592 Project scheduling 

Perth City Link 86,886 77,334 9,552 Project scheduling 

Network and Infrastructure Upgrades 15,705 8,715 6,990 Deferral to fund 2016-17 shortfall 

Future Urban Railcar Procurement 41,450 36,609 4,841 Project scheduling 

Perth Stadium Transport Project 83,355 88,029 (4,674) Project scheduling 

Aubin Grove Station 23,354 27,393 (4,039) Project scheduling 

Edgewater Multi-Storey Car Park 13,847 9,937 3,910 Project scheduling 

Bus Layover Northbridge 5,500 1,711 3,789 Project scheduling 

Replacement of 32 CAT Buses 5,000 7,948 (2,948) Early delivery of buses 

Bus Acquisition Program for Additional Bus Service Kilometres 12,774 10,530 2,244 Delay in delivery of buses 

Power sub-station and stow roads to support new railcars 11,403 9,277 2,126 Project scheduling 

Perway Track and Associated Infrastructure 3,550 1,557 1,993 Project scheduling 

Bus Replacement Program 41,792 43,692 (1,900) Delay in delivery of buses 

Business Support Upgrades 8,841 7,427 1,414 Project scheduling 

Escalator Replacements 1,680 422 1,258 Project scheduling 

Other 95,559 92,656 2,903 Project scheduling 

Grand Total 580,527 537,476 43,051

Budget is reflective of the Public Transport Authority’s approved Asset Investment Program as at 30 June 2016.
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(b) Major Works in progress and completed

Description of Work
 2015-16 Estimated 

Total Cost 
 Estimated Cost  

to Complete 
 Total Cost of 
Project Actual 

Expected Year  
of Completion

 $000  $000  $000 

Perth City Link 576,469 16,686 559,783 2016-17

Bus Acquisition and Replacement Program 316,150 130,532 185,618 2018-19

Perth Stadium Transport Project 336,223 160,587 175,636 2017-18

Extension of Northern Suburbs Railway to Butler 198,467 1,345 197,122 2015-16

Purchase of 22 Railcars 244,728 786 243,942 2016-17

Aubin Grove Station 71,997 35,697 36,300 2017-18

Edgewater Multi-Storey Car Park 29,482 18,450 11,032 2016-17

Forrestfield-Airport Link 1,861,000 1,706,592 154,408 2019-20

Future Urban Railcar Procurement 198,715 162,106 36,609 2018-19
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3.8 Independent auditor’s report

To the Parliament of Western Australia

PUBLIC TRANSPORT AUTHORITY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Public Transport 
Authority of Western Australia.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as 
at 30 June 2016, the Statement of Comprehensive  Income, Statement of 
Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, 
and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Public 
Transport Authority of Western Australia at 30 June 2016 and its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Chief Executive Officer’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for keeping proper accounts, 
and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions, and for such internal control as the Chief Executive Officer 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. 
The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be 
planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the Authority’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by the Chief Executive Officer, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Public Transport Authority of 
Western Australia during the year ended 30 June 2016.

Controls exercised by the Public Transport Authority of Western 
Australia are those policies and procedures established by the Chief 
Executive Officer to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment 
of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring 
of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

GOVERNMENT OF
WESTERN AUSTRALIAAuditor General
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Opinion
In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the  
Public Transport Authority of Western Australia are sufficiently adequate to 
provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment  
of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of 
liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year 
ended 30 June 2016.

Chief Executive Officer’s Responsibility for Controls
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for maintaining an adequate 
system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and other 
property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant 
written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of Controls
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the controls exercised by the Public Transport Authority 
of Western Australia based on my audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
adequacy of controls to ensure that the Authority complies with the legislative 
provisions. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and 
include an evaluation of the design and implementation of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Public Transport 
Authority of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2016.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the 
key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome achievement 
and service provision.

Opinion
In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the 
Public Transport Authority of Western Australia are relevant and appropriate 
to assist users to assess the Authority’s performance and fairly represent 
indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Chief Executive Officer’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for 
such controls as the Chief Executive Officer determines necessary to ensure 
that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of Key Performance Indicators
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about 
the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk 
assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Chief 
Executive Officer’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent 
of outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting the above audits, I have complied with the independence 
requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and 
Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial 
Statements and Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance 
indicators of the Public Transport Authority of Western Australia for the year 
ended 30 June 2016 included on the Authority’s website. The Authority’s 
management is responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s website. 
This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s 
website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion 
on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these 
financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent 
risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the 
hard copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators 
to confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators.

Colin Murphy
Auditor General for Western Australia
7 September 2016
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Relationship to Government strategic goal
The following table depicts the relationship between the Government’s goals and the outcomes and 
services that the PTA provides in order to achieve those goals.

Government strategic goal PTA outcomes PTA services

Results-based service delivery:

Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service delivery 
areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

Accessible, reliable and safe 
public transport system

1. Metropolitan and regional 
passenger services

2. Country passenger rail and 
road coach services

3. Regional School Bus Services

Protection of the long-term 
functionality of the rail corridor 
and railway infrastructure

4. Rail Corridor and Residual 
Freight Issues Management

Note: The key performance indicators and the variances are calculated based on original source data 
and the results are reported with rounding to the nearest appropriate decimals.

3.9  Key performance indicators
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Financial targets: Actual compared to budget targets
The following table provides a comparison of the financial targets and outcomes against criteria included in the Resource Agreement between the Chief 
Executive Officer, Minister for Transport and the Treasurer.

Notes
1. As specified in the revised Budget Statement 

estimates (estimated actual 2015-16). 

2. Further explanations are contained in  
Note 43 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the  
financial statements. 

3. The total cost of services is $6.5 million below 
budget due to lower depreciation and interest 
cost on borrowings. 

4. Net cost of services was $6.7 million  
below budget mainly due to lower interest  
and depreciation. 

5. Equity increase by $495.7 million due to the 
revaluation of the urban rail infrastructure. 

6. Net increase in cash held is mainly due to 
deferrals and carryovers with the Asset 
Investment Program and the Nicholson Road 
project in operating. 

7. A further $94 million of borrowings were 
approved for the Forrestfield-Airport Link after 
the budget was published. 

8. The variation is mainly due to the optimisation 
of cash management. 

2015-16
Target (1)

2015-16
Actual Variation(2) Notes

$000 $000 $000

Total cost of services (expense limit) (sourced 
from Statement of Comprehensive Income) 1,377,695 1,371,231 (6,464) 3

Net cost of services (sourced from Statement  
of Comprehensive Income) 1,113,323 1,106,604 (6,719) 4

Total equity  
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position) 5,267,961 5,763,684 495,723 5

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held  
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows) (63,490) 10,049 73,539 6

Approved salary expense level 151,452 153,190 1,738 

Agreed borrowing limit 2,107,178 2,106,930 (248) 7

2015-16
Agreed

Limit (1)
2015-16 

Actual Variation Notes

$000 $000 $000

Agreed Working Cash Limit 59,463 38,670 (20,793) 8
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Summary of KPIs
Actual compared to budget targets

2015-16 
Target

2015-16 
Actual Variation

Key Effectiveness Indicators

Outcome 1: Accessible, reliable and safe public transport system

Use of public transport – passengers per service kilometre

• metropolitan bus services 1.28 1.23 -0.05

• metropolitan train services 3.35 3.21 -0.14

• metropolitan ferry services (a) 10.41 13.21 2.80

• regional bus services 0.748 0.709 -0.039

• country passenger rail services 0.216 0.207 -0.009

• country passenger road coach services 0.060 0.058 -0.002

Accessible Public Transport

The proportion of street addresses within the Perth Public Transport Area which are within 
 500 metres of a Transperth stop providing an acceptable level of service 

 
85.00%

 
84.73%

 
-0.27%

Metropolitan and regional passenger services reliability 

• bus services within four minutes of scheduled time 82% 85% 3%

• train arriving within four minutes of scheduled time 95% 95%  0%

• ferries arriving within three minutes of scheduled time 96% 98% 2%

Country passenger rail and road coach services reliability 

• Prospector arriving within 15 minutes of scheduled time (b) 80% 48% -32%

• Australind arriving within 10 minutes of scheduled time 90% 94% 4%

• MerredinLink arriving within 10 minutes of scheduled time (b) 95% 62% -33%

• AvonLink arriving within 10 minutes of scheduled time (b) 97% 83% -14%

• Road Coaches arriving within 10 minutes of scheduled time 95% 98% 3%
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2015-16 
Target

2015-16 
Actual Variation

Regional school bus services reliability
• drop off no less than 10 minutes before the school starts and pick up within  

10 minutes of school ending 100% 98% -2%

Level of overall customer satisfaction – customer satisfaction index 

• metropolitan bus services 81% 89% 8%

• metropolitan train services 90% 92% 2%

• metropolitan ferry services 98% 95% -3%

• country passenger rail and road coach services 92% 91% -1%

Customer perception of safety – independent external surveys
• train station – day 96% 99% 3%

• on board train – day 97% 98% 1%

• train station – night (c) 69% 76% 7%

• on board train – night 75% 79% 4%

• bus station – day 97% 97%  0%

• on board bus – day 99% 99%  0%

• bus station – night 73% 76% 3%

• on board bus – night 81% 84% 3%

Level of notifiable safety occurrences – notifiable occurrences
• Category A: occurrences per million passenger boardings (d) 0.23 0.10 -0.13

• Category A: occurrences per million train kilometres (d) 0.78 0.28 -0.50

• Category B: occurrences per million passenger boardings (e) 9.67 12.04 2.37

• Category B: occurrences per million train kilometres (e) 32.22 35.47 3.25

• Regional school bus services: notifiable occurrences (accidents) reported each school year (f) 19 13 -6

Outcome 2: Protection of the long term functionality of the rail corridor and railway infrastructure
Number of lease breaches Nil Nil Nil

Corporate snapshot / Organisational profile86 Governance and compliance / Key performance indicators



2015-16 
Target

2015-16 
Actual Variation

Key Efficiency Indicators

Outcome 1: Accessible, reliable and safe public transport system

Service 1 : Metropolitan and Regional Passenger Services 

Average cost per passenger kilometre

• Transperth bus operations $1.12 $1.11 -$0.01

• Transperth train operations $0.50 $0.50  $0.00

• Transperth ferry operations (g) $1.90 $1.34 -$0.56

Average cost per 1,000 place kilometres 

• Regional bus services $77.97 $74.07 -$3.90

Total passenger place kilometres (millions)

• Regional bus services 238.478 247.162 8.684

Service 2 : Country Passenger Rail and Road Coach Services  

Average cost per passenger kilometre  

• Transwa rail $0.44 $0.47 $0.03

• Transwa road coaches (h) $0.23 $0.26 $0.03

Service 3 : Regional School Bus Services  

Average cost per contracted kilometre : School bus services $3.83 $3.76 -$0.07

Outcome 2: Protection of the long term functionality of the rail corridor and railway infrastructure

Service 4 : Rail Corridor and Residual Freight Issues  

Total cost of managing the rail freight corridor and residual freight issues (i) $122,910,000 $179,309,000 $56,399,000

Note: For more explanations on the variation, please refer to the section Audited Key Performance Indicators.
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Notes:
(a) Passengers per service kilometre on ferry was 26.87 per cent above  

the target mainly due to a 57.09 per cent increase in patronage and  
a 23.82 per cent increase in service kilometres as a result of the 
introduction of additional services following the commencement of  
ferry operations from the Elizabeth Quay Jetty in January 2016.

(b) The on time running results of the Prospector, MerredinLink and AvonLink 
were 40.29 per cent, 35.22 per cent and 14.77 per cent respectively 
below the targets mainly due to services disruptions associated with 
crossings, signalling and extensive track works on the freight rail network 
carried out by the lessee Brookfield Rail. 

(c) Night-time safety perception at train stations was 10.14 per cent 
above the target mainly due to ongoing measures taken by Transperth 
since 2012-13 to address security concerns resulting in continued 
improvements in safety perceptions at night and during the day. 

(d) The indicators for Category A incidents per million passenger boardings 
and per million train kilometres were 58.50 per cent and 63.96 per cent 
below the targets respectively mainly due to a 60 per cent decline  
in Category A incidents, 2.35 per cent decrease in boardings and  
10.56 per cent increase in train service kilometres. 

(e) The indicators for Category B incidents per million passenger boardings 
and per million train kilometres were 24.54 per cent and 10.08 per cent 
above the targets respectively mainly due to 21.7 per cent increase in 
Category B incidents, 10.56 per cent increase in train kilometres and  
2.35 per cent decrease in boardings.

(f) School Bus notifiable occurrences (accidents) was 31.58 per cent  
below the target as a result of the ongoing campaign aimed at improving 
and maintaining road safety standards including regular random audits 
of the School Bus Contract Safety Management Plan for compliance and 
educating school bus drivers on road safety matters and relative risks of 
the accidents.

(g) Ferry average costs per passenger kilometre were 29.27 per cent below 
the target mainly due to a 61.37 per cent increase in passenger kilometres 
offset by a 14.43 per cent increase in ferry total costs as a result of 
additional services following the commencement of ferry operations from 
the Elizabeth Quay Jetty in January 2016. 

(h) Road coach average costs per passenger kilometre were 13.03 per cent 
above the target mainly due to a 15.71 per cent decrease in passenger 
kilometres driven by decreases in patronage on routes travelling to Albany, 
Geraldton, Augusta, and Bunbury. 

(i) The total costs of managing the rail freight corridor and residual  
freight issues were 45.89 per cent above the target mainly due to  
an increase in depreciation following the revaluation by $619 million  
of freight network assets.

Corporate snapshot / Organisational profile88 Governance and compliance / Key performance indicators



Certification of KPIs

For the year ended 30 June 2016
I hereby certify that the key performance  
indicators are based on proper records, 
are relevant and appropriate for assisting 
users to assess the Public Transport 
Authority’s performance, and fairly represent 
the performance of the Public Transport 
Authority of Western Australia for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2016.

Nina Lyhne
Acting Accountable Authority
2 September 2016

Audited KPI report

Measuring performance 

Outcome 1:  
Accessible, reliable  
and safe public  
transport system
EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS
The PTA’s effectiveness in providing an accessible, 
reliable and safe public transport system is 
measured using the following key effectiveness 
indicators for:

1. Use of public transport

2. Accessible public transport

3. Service reliability

4. Level of overall customer satisfaction

5. Customer perception of safety

6. Level of notifiable safety incidents.
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1. Use of public transport
The use of public transport is measured by 
comparing the annual number of passengers 
carried with the number of service kilometres. 
Service kilometres are kilometres operated on 
scheduled passenger services and exclude  
“non-productive running” i.e. travelling to or  
from the depot to commence a service trip or  
re-positioning to commence another service trip.

The measure indicates the extent to which 
services provided, as represented by the number 
of kilometres operated, are being utilised.  
An increasing trend in the indicator will generally 
signify that patronage is rising at a rate greater 
than the rate of increase in service kilometres 
operated and represents an improvement in 
effectiveness as well as an increase in the use  
of public transport.

This effectiveness indicator is applied to each 
mode of public transport. The indicator is based 
on total boardings on Transperth services and 
includes fare-paying boardings plus free travel  
and transfers. Transfers are boardings which 
occur either between services within the same 
mode or between modes during the specified 
ticket transfer time.

Transperth bus services
Passengers per service kilometre

Passengers per service kilometre on Transperth 
buses was 4.21 per cent below the 2014-15 
result and 3.90 per cent below the 2015-16 target 
mainly due to an increase in service kilometres 
and a decrease in bus patronage.

Bus service kilometres recorded an increase  
of 2.22 per cent to 66.983m from 65.531m in 
2014-15 and exceeded the 2015-16 target of 
66.293m by 1.04 per cent due to the bus service 
expansion program including the introduction of 
the 950 SuperBus in 2014-15, additional  
services and improved access to bus facilities. 
Total boardings reached 82.391 million,  
2.08 per cent below the 2014-15 result of  
84.143 million and 2.59 per cent below the  
2015-16 target of 84.583m.

In the four-year period to 2014-15, there has been 
a gradual annual decline in passengers per service 
kilometre mainly due to annual service kilometres 
increasing at a higher rate than patronage.  
While the large annual increase in bus service 
kilometres since 2010-11 has made public 
transport more accessible to many more areas 
and people, the volume of new passengers 
utilising the new services, much of which is in 
expanding outer suburbs, is less than in the 
densely populated inner suburbs. Further decline 
is also due to following factors: 

• the decline in WA population growth rate with  
a 14 per cent fall in overseas migration and  
a net loss from net interstate migration 
recorded in the September quarter (ABS 
September 2015).

• the slowing economy in 2015-16 with a higher 
level of unemployment rate and office vacancy 
rate in the CBD and the cost of living pressures 
impacting largely on discretionary travel and 
work-related trips and patronage.

• major improvements to key arterial roads and 
lower fuel price combined with the largest 
annual percentage increases in passenger 
vehicle registrations in WA between 2010 and 
2015 compared to other States contributing to 
the perception that driving is an alternative to 
public transport.
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Transperth train services
Passengers per service kilometre

Passengers per service kilometre on Transperth trains 
reached 3.21, 11.28 per cent below the 2014-15 
result and 4.06 per cent below the 2015-16 target. 
This was mainly due to a 9.94 per cent increase in 
service kilometres and a 2.46 per cent decrease in 
patronage compared to 2014-15. 

During the year, train service kilometres recorded 
the highest percentage increase since 2011-12  
from 17.730m in 2014-15 to 19.492m and 
exceeded the 2015-16 target of 19.176m by 
1.65 per cent largely due to the ongoing service 
expansion including the extension of the 
Joondalup Line from Clarkson to Butler in  
2014-15, the introduction of a new timetable  
on the Mandurah and Joondalup lines in 
preparation for the construction and operation  
of a new station at Aubin Grove and the inclusion 
of additional six-railcar trains into service. 

Total boardings decreased by 2.46 per cent to 
62.645 million from 64.225m in 2014-15 and 
was 2.58 per cent below the 2015-16 target of 
64.307m partly due to the slowing economy, 
continuing high rate of unemployment,  
decline in population growth particularly  
interstate and overseas migration, lower fuel  
price combined with the largest annual  
percentage increases in passenger car 
registrations in WA between 2010 and 2015 
impacting on work-related trips, patronage  
and usage of train services in the short-term.

Regional town bus services
Intra-town services operate within rural town 
boundaries, while inter-town services run  
between regional centres.

Intra-town and inter-town service 
Passengers per service kilometre

Passengers per service kilometre reached 0.709, 
6.11 per cent below the 2014-15 result and  
5.24 per cent below the 2015-16 target.  
This was mainly due to a 1.37 per cent increase 
in service kilometres to 3.390 million from 3.344m 
in 2014-15 and a 4.82 per cent decrease in 
patronage to 2.403m from 2.524m. 

In 2015-16, intra-town service kilometres 
increased by 1.35 per cent to 2.915 million 
kilometres from 2.876m kilometres and exceeded 
the target by 1.67 per cent mainly due to 
increases in service kms of the Kalgoorlie, 
Bunbury and the combined Busselton and 
Dunsborough bus services. Intra-town patronage 
decreased by 4.88 per cent to 2.391m from 
2.513m in 2014-15 mainly due to decreases 
in patronage of the Bunbury, Geraldton, Port 
Hedland, Albany and the combined Busselton  
and Dunsborough services. 

Inter-town service kilometres recorded an increase 
of 1.48 per cent to 474,416km from 467,484km 
in 2014-15 and was 2.98 per cent above the 
2015-16 target mainly due to increases in service 
kilometres of the Kalbarri and Monkey Mia feeder 
services. Inter-town patronage also increased by 
10.18 per cent to 11,994 from 10,886 in 2014-15 
and exceeded the target by 16.45 per cent largely 
due to a significant increase of 18.86 per cent  
in patronage of the Roebourne Community  
Bus Service.
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Transperth ferry services

Passengers per service kilometre

Passengers per service kilometre reached 13.21, 
26.17 per cent above the 2014-15 result of  
10.47 and 26.87 per cent above the 2015-16 
target of 10.41. 

During the year, ferry boardings recorded the 
highest percentage increase since 2007-08,  
being 51.38 per cent over 2014-15 and  
57.09 per cent above the 2015-16 target while 
service kilometres also increased significantly by 
20 per cent to 45,196 kms from 37,668 kms in 
2014-15 and exceeded the 2015-16 target of 
36,500 kms by 23.82 per cent as a result of the 
introduction of additional services following the 
commencement of operations from Elizabeth 
Quay Jetty in January 2016. 

Transwa rail services

Passengers per service kilometre

Passengers per service kilometre reached  
0.207, 4.99 per cent below the 2014-15 result  
of 0.218 and 4.19 per cent below the 2015-16 
target of 0.216.

During the year, service kilometres increased by 
2.36 per cent from 1.001 million kilometres in 
2014-15 to 1.025 million kilometres, but was  
2.51 per cent below the 2015-16 target of  
1.051m kilometres. The increase in service 
kilometres is driven mainly by a significant increase 
of 35.80 per cent in AvonLink service kilometres 
as a result of the 18 additional weekly services 
introduced in December 2014 as part of the 
AvonLink Enhanced Services initiative which has 
provided greater flexibility in terms of route times. 
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Patronage decreased by 2.74 per cent from 
218,077 in 2014-15 to 212,103 in 2015-16 and 
was 6.77 per cent below the target of 227,500. 
The decrease is largely attributable to a  
8.31 per cent decrease in Australind patronage 
due to service disruptions caused by events  
such as the south-west fires resulting in 22 
cancelled services, the general demand decline 
due to better accessibility to the metro train 
system at Mandurah (giving potential patrons 
additional routes for travel to Perth) and the length 
of time of the Australind trip versus the length of 
trip on the metro line. In addition, the Australind 
train service had its maximum capacity reduced 
to 80 passengers per service due to ongoing 
maintenance works on the Q cars. The Q car is 
expected to be back in service by the end of the 
calendar year.

However, the declines in Australind and 
MerredinLink patronage in 2015-16 were offset 
by a significant increase of 25.68 per cent in 
AvonLink patronage due to the additional 18 
weekly services introduced in 2014.

Transwa road coach services

Passengers per service kilometre

Passengers per service kilometre reached  
0.058, 4.28 per cent below the 2014-15 result 
of 0.0604 and 3.64 per cent below the 2015-16 
target of 0.060. This was due to a 4.48 per cent 
decline in patronage from 187,469 in 2014-15  
to 179,066 in 2015-16 and a marginal  
(0.21 per cent) decrease in service kilometres  
from 3.104m kilometres in 2014-15 to 3.097m 
kilometres.

Road coach patronage has been on the decline 
in the past few years. The average occupancy for 
all the 130 services provided by Transwa reached 
47.59 per cent in 2015-16. The patronage 
declines have been recorded for routes travelling 
from Albany, Geraldton, Bunbury and to Augusta, 
representing a significant proportion of the overall 
decline. However, patronage on the recently 
optimised East Perth to Geraldton via Jurien 
recorded a significant increase in 2015-16. 

Moving forward, Transwa will work towards 
optimising additional routes to increase patronage. 
Furthermore, the current road coach fleet is on 
track to be replaced with the new Volvo coaches 
which will generate renewed interest in Transwa 
Road Coach services.
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2. Accessible public transport
Accessibility to public transport, in terms of 
service coverage, is measured as the proportion 
of Property Street Addresses (PSA) within the 
Perth Public Transport Area (PPTA) which are 
within 500 metres of a Transperth stop providing 
an acceptable level of service. The PPTA defines 
the core operational areas for Transperth services.

“Acceptable Service Level” (ASL) is defined  
as an hourly service during the day with at  
least three trips per hour (i.e. at 20-minute 
intervals) in the peak flow direction in the morning 
and/or afternoon peaks, excluding dedicated 
school bus services.

The indicator uses PSA data from Landgate and 
service information and stop location data from 
the Transperth Route Information System.

The measure demonstrates the extent to which 
the PTA meets its accessibility standards in the 
Perth metropolitan area.

The proportion (per cent) of street addresses 
 within the PPTA which are within 500 metres 
of a  Transperth stop providing an acceptable 
level of service

Accessibility to public transport was marginally 
(0.3 per cent) below the 2014-15 result and the 
2015-16 target mainly due to a 2.62 per cent 
increase in the number of PSAs within 500 metres 
of an ASL stop following an ongoing bus service 
expansion program offset by a higher increase  
of 2.96 per cent in the number of PSAs within  
the PPTA.

The extension of the PPTA boundary in 2015-16, 
to include Pinjarra and the associated transport 
corridor from Mandurah, increased the number of 
PSAs that do not receive an ASL and caused the 
2015-16 result to fall short of the target. Based on 
the 2014-15 PPTA boundary, the 2015-16 result 
would have exceeded both the target and the 
2014-15 result. 

In 2015-16, the number of PSAs within the PPTA 
increased to 976,768 from 948,657 in 2014-15. 
The number of PSAs within 500 metres of an ASL 
stop also increased to 827,638 from 806,483  
in 2014-15. The 2015-16 result indicates  
that 827,638 PSAs in Perth out of 976,768  
(84.73 per cent) have ready access to an 
acceptable level of public transport services.
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3. Service reliability
According to an independent survey which measured customer satisfaction, service reliability is 
regarded as one of the most significant characteristics of a quality service. Service reliability is essentially 
a combination of two main factors, punctuality and consistency.

Services are considered to be punctual if they arrive within a defined period of time after the scheduled 
arrival time. This parameter is referred to as on-time running (OTR).

Operation OTR parameter

Metropolitan and Regional Passenger Services

Transperth Trains 4 minutes

Transperth Buses 4 minutes

Transperth Ferries 3 minutes

Country Passenger Rail and Road Coach Services

Transwa Rail

Prospector 15 minutes

Australind 10 minutes

AvonLink 10 minutes

MerredinLink 10 minutes

Road Coaches 10 minutes

Regional school bus services

Drop off no less than 10 minutes before school starts and pick up within 10 minutes of school ending

The OTR measure demonstrates the extent to which the PTA meets its service reliability standards. 

Transperth train services
Percentage of services arriving within  
‘on-time arrival’ parameter

The OTR of Transperth trains in 2015-16  
reached 95.48 per cent, marginally (0.5 per cent) 
above the previous year’s result and the 2015-16 
target, representing the highest results achieved 
since 2011-12. 

Factors affecting service reliability include 
passenger related delays causing longer dwell 
times at stations, electrical and mechanical issues, 
special events and bad weather which resulted in 
slippery track conditions and trains travelling at a 
reduced speed. 

In 2015-16, the number of delays due to 
passenger, weather and mechanical issues 
recorded decreases of 13.76 per cent,  
15.86 per cent and 2.77 per cent respectively.
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Transperth bus services

Percentage of services arriving within  
‘on-time arrival’ parameter

The OTR of Transperth buses in 2015-16 reached 
85.14 per cent, 6.10 per cent above the 2014-15 
result and 3.83 per cent above the target mainly 
due to reduced traffic congestions, bus priority 
measures and renewed bus timetables.

Transperth ferry services

Percentage of services arriving within  
‘on-time arrival’ parameter

The OTR of Transperth ferries in 2015-16 
recorded a 6.40 per cent improvement over  
2014-15 and exceeded the 2015-16 target by  
two per cent mainly due to the completion of 
works on the Elizabeth Quay Jetty which resulted 
in delays in 2014-15.

Transwa rail services
Indicators of the OTR performance for  
Transwa rail services are reported separately  
for each service.

These services operate on the freight rail network 
which is managed and operated by Brookfield Rail 
Pty Ltd under a long-term lease.

a� Prospector

Percentage of services arriving within  
‘on-time arrival’ parameter

The OTR of the Prospector reached 48 per cent, 
26.18 per cent below the 2014-15 result and 
40.29 per cent below the 2015-16 target mainly 
due to disruptions to services resulting from 
crossings, signalling and track works occurring  
on the network. 
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The crossing and the track works conducted 
by Brookfield Rail are centred around the link 
between Moondyne and Jumperkine. With 
Brookfield Rail carrying out extensive work on this 
track section it has impacted adversely on the 
Prospector, AvonLink and MerredinLink services 
as all three services use the same rail network. 
Brookfield Rail acknowledges that the amount 
of crossings is above the norm and has agreed 
to work towards a solution. Track works are 
expected to be completed by September 2016.

b� Australind

Percentage of services arriving within  
‘on-time arrival’ parameter

The OTR of the Australind reached 94 percent, 
1.45 per cent above the 2014-15 result and  
4.36 per cent above the 2015-16 target. 

The OTR over the past three years continued to 
increase largely due to a reduction in the number 
of service delays associated with crossings.

c� AvonLink

Percentage of services arriving within  
‘on-time arrival’ parameter

The OTR of the AvonLink reached 83 per cent, 
14.15 per cent below 2014-15 and 14.77 per 
cent below the 2015-16 target largely due to 
crossings, signalling and track works occurring on 
the network.

Extensive track works carried out by Brookfield 
Rail are centred around the link between 
Moondyne and Jumperkine and has impacted 
on the Prospector, AvonLink and MerredinLink 
services as all three services use the same 
rail network. Track works are expected to be 
completed by September 2016.

d� MerredinLink

Percentage of services arriving within  
‘on-time arrival’ parameter

The OTR of the MerredinLink reached 62 per cent, 
27.09 per cent below 2014-15 and 35.22 per cent 
below the 2015-16 target mainly due to crossings 
and track works carried out by Brookfield Rail 
on the link between Moondyne and Jumperkine 
which has also impacted on the MerredinLink. 
Track works are expected to be completed by 
September 2016.
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Transwa road coach services

Percentage of services arriving within  
‘on-time arrival’ parameter

The OTR of the road coach services remained 
high at 98 per cent, marginally above the results 
of the previous three years and exceeded the 
2015-16 target by 2.78 per cent.

Regional school bus services
This indicator measures school bus timetable 
reliability for rural mainstream services and 
Special Education School buses operating in the 
metropolitan area. The OTR parameter is to arrive 
at school no less than 10 minutes before school 
starts and depart within 10 minutes of school ending.

Percentage of services arriving within  
‘on-time arrival’ parameter

The OTR in 2015-16 for School Bus  
Services reached 98.33 per cent,  
0.18 per cent above the 2014-15 result  
and 1.67 per cent below the 2015-16 target. 

In 2015-16, 540 mainstream and education 
support services were randomly monitored  
for OTR of which 531 were within the time 
standard. The number of observations was  
within the acceptable limit of sampling error 
rate. This indicator is calculated using a random 
sampling process which entails observing bus 
arrival times at various schools throughout WA. 
The observations are performed by the  
School Bus Services vehicle examiners and  
the timing is linked to the scheduling of the  
vehicle safety inspections.

The following table shows five-year performance to June 30, 2016:

Year Number of observations for  
compliance with ‘on-time’ arrival

Observations that  
were compliant

2011-12 647 639

2012-13 844 842

2013-14 693 693

2014-15 379 372

2015-16 540 531

The error rate of ± 3.05 per cent is within the ± 5 per cent tolerance level. 
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4. Level of overall customer satisfaction
The proportion of patrons who expressed  
overall satisfaction with their public transport  
service level, measures the public perception  
of Transperth’s performance in providing a  
high-quality and attractive public transport service.

The measure for Transperth services is derived 
from an extensive annual survey conducted by 
independent pollsters. The survey, known as  
the Passenger Satisfaction Monitor (PSM), 
provides an objective, unbiased view over time  
of patrons’ overall satisfaction with the system,  
e.g. safety, on-time running, courtesy of staff, 
service frequency and station amenities.  
The information is used by Transperth to develop 
strategies for improving service performance  
and infrastructure.

The pollsters interview a large sample of 
passengers in lengthy face-to-face surveys. 
Interviewers are assigned to various services and 
transit station locations over a four week period 
covering the working week and weekend.

Transperth train services
For the train PSM, a total of 1,003 train patrons 
were surveyed. The overall sample comprised of:

• Adults aged 18 years or over resident within 
the Perth metropolitan area;

• Current users of Transperth train services 
(excluding school students); and

• Patrons who travel on trains at least once  
per fortnight.

The sample error estimate was within  
± 3 – 4 per cent and represents score differences 
required to reach the 95 per cent confidence level.

Percentage of respondents either  
‘very satisfied’ or ‘satisfied’

Overall satisfaction reached 92 per cent, the same 
as the 2014-15 result and 2.22 per cent above the 
target in 2015-16, representing the highest result 
achieved since 2010-11.

The results were due to a 13.75 per cent  
increase in overall satisfaction of peak-time 
travellers (from 80 per cent in 2012-13 to  
91 per cent in 2014-15 and 2015-16) following 
ongoing service expansion including the extension 
of the Joondalup Line from Clarkson to Butler 
in 2014-15, the inclusion of additional six-railcar 
trains into service and the new timetable on the 
Mandurah and Joondalup lines in preparation for 
the construction and operation of a new station 
at Aubin Grove. Satisfaction among off-peak 
travellers also increased to 94 per cent from  
93 per cent in 2014-15.

The level of dissatisfaction remained unchanged 
at two per cent compared to the 2014-15 result, 
representing the lowest dissatisfaction level 
achieved since 2005-06. The main reasons for 
dissatisfaction related to crowding issues and 
seat availability in peak times (0.7 per cent) and 
extra carriages (0.6 per cent). The equal all-time 
low level of dissatisfaction achieved in 2015-16 is 
due to reduced crowding resulting from increased 
capacity following the introduction of additional 
six-railcar trains into service.
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Transperth bus services
For the Transperth bus PSM, a total of  
3,109 bus patrons were surveyed. The overall 
sample comprised of:

• Adults aged 18 years or older, resident within 
the Perth Bus Contract region;

• Current users of Transperth bus services 
(excluding school students); and

• Patrons who travel on bus at least once  
per fortnight. 

The sample error estimate was within  
± 2 – 3 per cent and represents score differences 
required to reach the 95 per cent confidence level.

Percentage of respondents either  
‘very satisfied’ or ‘satisfied’

Overall satisfaction reached 89 per cent,  
3.49 per cent above the result of 86 per cent 
achieved in 2014-15 and 9.88 per cent above  
the 2015-16 target, representing the highest result 
achieved in 21 years mainly due to significantly 
higher satisfaction levels recorded for the  
950 Superbus (95 per cent), Joondalup  
(96 per cent), all CAT services (96 per cent), 
Marmion (93 per cent), Rockingham/Mandurah 
and Claremont (92 per cent).

Levels of dissatisfaction reduced further to  
six per cent from eight per cent achieved in the 
previous two years, representing the lowest 
dissatisfaction level achieved in 21 years. 

The most frequent reasons for dissatisfaction  
with the bus system were issues relating to 
insufficient off peak services on weekend/evening/
public holidays, limited connection of buses  
and trains, service frequency and routes changes.

Transperth ferry services
For the Transperth ferry PSM, a total of  
200 ferry patrons were surveyed. The overall 
sample comprised of:

• Adults aged 18 years or older, resident within 
the Perth metropolitan who used the ferry at 
least once a fortnight

• Patrons who were users of Transperth ferry 
services while visiting Perth

• School students were excluded from the sample.

The sample error estimate was within  
± 10 per cent and represents score differences 
required to reach the 95 per cent confidence level.

Percentage of respondents either  
‘very satisfied’ or ‘satisfied’
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Overall satisfaction with Transperth ferry services 
reached 95 per cent, five per cent below the 
highest result of 100 per cent achieved in 2014-15 
and 3.06 per cent below the 2015-16 target and 
is consistent with the very high satisfaction results 
achieved between 1999 to 2014 (ranging from  
95 per cent to 97 per cent).

During the year, significantly higher satisfaction 
levels with zero dissatisfaction recorded for safety 
perception on board during the day and at night 
(100 per cent) and at the jetty in daytime  
(99 per cent), cleanliness on board (99 per cent), 
and punctuality (98 per cent).

However, overall dissatisfaction increased to  
two per cent from zero dissatisfaction achieved  
in the previous four years largely attributable to  
the significant increase in ferry patronage of  
51.38 per cent over 2014-15 coincided with  
a 20 per cent increase in service kilometres due 
to the opening and commencement of ferry 
operations from the Elizabeth Quay Jetty  
in January 2016.

Transwa train and road coach services 
An independent passenger satisfaction survey  
is undertaken annually for each service:  
Australind, Prospector, AvonLink, MerredinLink 
and road coaches. 

In 2015-16, a total of 1,227 country services patrons 
were surveyed via a self-completion questionnaire. 

The sample error estimate was within  
± 3 – 5 per cent and represents score differences 
required to reach the 95 per cent confidence level.

Percentage of respondents either  
‘very satisfied’ or ‘satisfied’

Overall satisfaction reached 91 per cent,  
1.09 per cent below the 2015-16 target of  
92 per cent and 2.15 per cent below the  
2014-15 result of 93 per cent. The 2015-16  
result is consistent with the very high results 
achieved in the six-year period to 2013-14  
ranging from 90 per cent to 92 per cent.

This was mainly attributable to a significant 
increase of 21.95 per cent in the overall 
satisfaction with the MerredinLink service and  
a 2.17 per cent increase in Australind satisfaction 
result offset by a five per cent decrease in overall 
satisfaction with the Prospector and AvonLink 
services mainly due to disruption to services 
associated with extensive track works carried  
out by Brookfield Rail. 
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5. Customer perception of safety
Safety perceptions are an important factor in the public deciding whether 
to use public transport. The PTA is continuing to invest in security-related 
infrastructure and uses risk based resource allocation to enhance security 
staffing in specific areas of vulnerability. This increase in presence at strategic 
times and locations has ensured that customers can see the tangible 
measures being taken to increase their safety. 

Customer perceptions of safety are measured through data gathered in the 
Passenger Satisfaction Monitor (PSM) which distinguishes between on-train 
and on-bus and at stations, at night and during the day for the Transperth 
train and bus services.

Transperth train services

Customer perception of safety daytime (per cent) 

The indicator for perceived safety at train stations during the day increased 
to 99 per cent, 1.02 per cent above the 2014-15 result, 3.13 per cent above 
the 2015-16 target of 96 per cent and is consistent with the results of the 
past seven years ranging from 97 per cent to 99 per cent.

The indicator for perceived safety on board trains reached 98 per cent, 
the same as the results of the previous two years, 1.03 per cent above  
the 2015-16 target of 97 per cent and is consistent with the results of the 
past ten years ranging from 98 per cent to 99 per cent.

Customer perception of safety night-time (per cent) 

The indicator for perceived safety at train stations at night reached  
76 per cent, 5.56 per cent above the 2014-15 result and 10.14 per cent 
above the 2015-16 target, representing the highest level since 2005-06.

The indicator for perceived safety on board trains reached 79 per cent,  
1.28 per cent above the 2014-15 result of 78 per cent and 5.33 per cent 
above the 2015-16 target of 75 per cent, representing the highest level 
achieved since 2005-06.

During the year, night-time safety perception at stations on Mandurah and 
Armadale lines increased significantly by 25 per cent and 17.54 per cent 
respectively, followed by Midland (5.71 per cent), Fremantle (1.28 per cent) 
offset by a 8.86 per cent decrease on the Joondalup line.
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Safety perception at night on-board the Mandurah, Armadale and  
Fremantle lines also showed increases offset by decreases on the  
Joondalup and Midland lines.

The increased satisfaction and reduced dissatisfaction is mainly due to 
ongoing measures taken by Transperth since 2012-13 to address security 
concerns resulting in continued improvements in safety perceptions at night 
and during the day in 2015-16 and the previous three years. These effective 
measures include:

• Risk based resource allocation, ensuring a greater security presence on 
the Armadale Line

• Joint Police and PTA targeted operations and enhanced security coverage 
on late evening trains.

In 2015-16, the number of incidents relating to disorderly conduct on trains 
per million boardings showed a significant decrease offset by some increases 
in assaults and violent/offensive behaviours. The increased presence of 
Transit Officers has resulted in higher numbers of notices being issued.  
Train service kilometres increased as a result of the introduction of additional 
six-railcar trains into service, the extension of the Joondalup Line from 
Clarkson to Butler in 2014-15 and the new timetable on the Mandurah  
and Joondalup lines in preparation for the operation of a new station at  
Aubin Grove.
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Transperth bus services

Customer perception of safety daytime (per cent) 

The indicator for perceived safety at bus stations during the day  
reached 97 per cent, the same as the 2015-16 target and has  
remained unchanged since 2010-11. 

The indicator for perceived safety on board buses reached  
99 per cent, the same as the 2015-16 target and has remained  
unchanged since 2010-11.

In 2015-16, day-time safety perception at Claremont and Joondalup  
stations and on board buses in Midland, Kalamunda, Canning, Marmion  
and Claremont regions reached 100 per cent.

Customer perception of safety night-time (per cent) 

The indicator for perceived safety at bus stations at night reached  
76 per cent, 7.04 per cent above the 2014-15 result of 71 per cent and  
4.11 per cent above the 2015-16 target of 73 per cent, representing the 
highest result achieved since 1996. 

The indicator for perceived safety on board buses at night reached  
84 per cent, 2.44 per cent above the 2014-15 result of 82 per cent,  
3.7 per cent above the 2015-16 target of 81 per cent and same as the  
2013-14 result being the highest result since 2005-06.

During the year, night-time safety perception at bus stations along the  
Circle Route increased significantly by 43.86 per cent followed by 950 
SuperBus (16.22 per cent), Kalamunda (11.94 per cent), Midland (10.81 
per cent), Rockingham/Mandurah (10.53 per cent) offset by a significant 
decrease of 17.91 per cent in the Southern River/Armadale region.  
In 2015-16, bus service kilometres increased by 2.22 per cent compared  
to 2014-15 result.
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6. Level of notifiable safety incidents 

Rail safety
Railway safety incidents are recorded and notified to the Office of Rail 
Safety. These incidents are termed ‘notifiable occurrences’ and are 
defined in the Rail Safety Regulations 2011 as Category ‘A’ (serious injury, 
death, or significant damage) or Category ‘B’ (incidents that may have the 
potential to cause a serious accident). Notifiable occurrences reporting is 
a legislated requirement under the Rail Safety Act 2010 for the accredited 
owner and operator of a rail system and form part of the PTA’s safety 
management system. These arrangements do not cover bus operations.

The performance measure for Category ‘A’ and ‘B’ occurrences is expressed 
as the number of occurrences per million passenger boardings and per 
million train kilometres. A low rate of incidents indicates that sound safety 
procedures and risk management procedures/controls exist and are 
operating effectively throughout the rail system.

The benchmark values for Category ‘A’ and Category ‘B’ incidents are 
calculated on the projected estimations of the number of future passenger 
boardings and train kilometres.

Notifiable occurrences – Rail safety

The indicator for Category A incidents per million passenger boardings 
reached 0.10, 44.08 per cent below the 2014-15 result of 0.17 and  
58.50 per cent below the 2015-16 target of 0.23.

The indicator for Category A incidents per million train kilometres reached 
0.28, 50.21 per cent below the 2014-15 result of 0.56 and 63.96 per cent 
below the 2015-16 target of 0.78. 

The KPIs were calculated based on six Category A incidents, total train 
kilometres of 21.342 million and 62.857m boardings in 2015-16.

During the year, Category A incidents decreased further by  
45.45 per cent following a 45 per cent improvement in 2014-15 driven  
by significant decreases in notifiable occurrences under the “Attempted  
or Suspected Suicide” and collision on running line categories. 

Excluding suicides and attempted suicides, there were four Category A 
occurrences in 2015-16 compared with five in 2014-15 and eight in 2013-14.

Safety Management Systems controls are in place and ongoing reviews are 
undertaken to reduce the incidents.

Notifiable occurrences – Rail safety
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The indicator for Category B incidents per  
million passenger boardings reached 12.04,  
19.40 per cent above the 2014-15 result of  
10.09 and 24.54 per cent above the 2015-16 
target of 9.67.

The indicator for Category B occurrences per 
million train kilometres reached 35.47,  
6.31 per cent above the 2014-15 result of  
33.37 and 10.08 per cent above the 2015-16 
target of 32.22.

During the year, there were 757 Category B 
occurrences in 2015-16 compared to 650 in 
2014-15 mainly due to increases in incidents of 
Trespass, Slip, Trip or Fall and Safeworking offset 
by decreases in incidents of Vandalism, Railcar 
fault, Track and Civil Infrastructure irregularity. 

In 2015-16, total train kilometres increased by 
9.55 per cent mainly due to ongoing service 
expansion including the introduction of additional 
six-railcar trains into services, a new timetable 
on the Mandurah and Joondalup lines and the 
extension of the Joondalup line from Clarkson to 
Butler in 2014-15.

Additional Safety Management Systems controls 
and strategies have been introduced and regular 
reviews are undertaken specifically aimed at 
reducing the incidents of Slip Trip and Fall, 
Trespass and Safeworking.

Regional school bus services safety
Accidents attributable to all causes are notified 
to the PTA. The measure for the notifiable 
occurrences is expressed as the number of 
accidents (major and minor) reported during the 
school year.

A low number of occurrences indicate that 
effective safety management procedures and 
controls exist and are being adhered to by school 
bus contractors and drivers throughout the 
regional school bus fleet. 

School bus services notifiable occurrences 
(accidents) reported each school year

The indicator for 2015-16, reached 13,  
18.75 per cent below the 2014-15 result of  
16 and 31.58 per cent below the 2015-16  
target of 19.

During the year, there were 13 ‘on-road’  
school bus accidents, comprising of one major  
and 12 minor accidents. Approximately,  
69 per cent of the accidents occurred through  
no fault of the school bus driver.

Of the 13 accidents, eight occurred in regional 
Western Australia and five in metropolitan Perth. 
Regrettably, one fatality was recorded and  
the deceased was the driver of a school bus 
service in an area south of Quairading.  
Preliminary indications are that the driver of  
the other vehicle was at fault.

School Bus Services continues to campaign 
and educate school bus contractors and drivers 
on road safety matters and the relative risks 
associated with accidents. Measures such as the 
requirement for all contractors to have in place a 
School Bus Contract Safety Management Plan 
(SMP) and regular random audits of the SMP for 
compliance are strategic and effective means of 
improving and maintaining road safety standards. 
As a result, the total number of accidents has 
declined from previous years. This indicates that 
school bus drivers understand the need to adopt 
a proactive approach to road safety.
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EFFICIENCY INDICATORS
The PTA’s effectiveness in providing a cost efficient 
public transport system is measured using the 
following key efficiency indicators:

1. Average cost per passenger kilometre

2. Average cost per 1000 place kilometres

3. Total passenger place kilometres (millions)

4. Average cost per contracted kilometre

These measures are sensitive to changes in 
service kilometres and patronage. The past three 
years has seen significant increase in service 
kilometres with the roll out of additional bus 
services, the introduction of 19 new six-car trains 
and the extension of the urban passenger line 
network to Butler. At the same time patronage 
has declined, reflecting the economic downturn of 
the State. The benefits of the State’s investment 
in public transport will be better reflected in future 
KPIs as patronage improves.

1.  Average cost per  
passenger kilometre

This indicator measures the cost efficiency of 
providing passenger services, expressed as the 
cost of carrying one passenger one kilometre. 

Transperth
Passenger kilometres are calculated by  
multiplying the number of total boardings by  
the average trip length. 

The indicator measures the cost efficiency of the 
services, i.e. the trend in the cost of carrying one 
passenger over one kilometre. A declining trend 
indicates that the resources used to provide the 
services are being utilised in a cost efficient manner. 

Transperth train services
Transperth train operations 
Average cost per passenger kilometre ($) 

The indicator reached $0.50, 6.08 per cent above 
the 2014-15 result of $0.48 but marginally above 
the 2015-16 target of $0.50. This was mainly 
due to a 3.73 per cent increase in total costs 
of services over 2014-15 and a 2.22 per cent 
decrease in passenger kilometres.

During the year, total cost of the services 
increased to $506.615m from $488.395m in 
2014-15 but was marginally (0.43 per cent) below 
the target of $508.8m. The increase is mainly due 
to a 6.08 per cent increase in operating costs 
associated with a 9.94 per cent increase in service 
kilometres as a result of the ongoing service 
expansion including the inclusion of additional  
six-railcar trains into service and the introduction 
of a new timetable on the Mandurah and 
Joondalup lines in preparation for the operation  
of a new station at Aubin Grove.

Passenger kilometres decreased to 1,003 million 
in 2015-16 from 1,026m in 2014-15 and was  
2.04 per cent below the target of 1,024m mainly 
due to a 2.46 per cent decrease in train  
patronage compared to 2014-15 and a marginal 
(0.47 per cent) increase in train average trip length.
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Transperth bus services

Transperth bus operations 
Average cost per passenger kilometre ($) 

The indicator reached $1.11, 9.14 per cent above 
the 2014-15 result of $1.02 but one per cent 
below the 2015-16 target of $1.12.

In 2015-16, cost of the services increased by  
5.33 per cent to $481.298m from $456.931m  
in 2014-15 but was 4.27 per cent below the 
2015-16 target of $502.742m. This was due to  
a 6.11 per cent increase in capital costs and  
a 5.21 per cent increase in operating costs 
including costs associated with the increase  
in bus service kilometres. 

Passenger kilometres decreased by 3.49 per cent 
to 434.051m from 449.733m in 2014-15 and 
was 3.09 per cent below the 2015-16 target of 
447.879m. The decline in passenger kilometres 
compared to 2014-15 was due to a 1.44 per 
cent decrease in bus average trip length and 
a 2.08 per cent decrease in bus patronage. 

Transperth ferry services

Transperth ferry operations 
Average cost per passenger kilometre ($) 

The indicator reached $1.34, 23.39 per cent 
below the 2014-15 result of $1.75 and  
29.27 per cent below the 2015-16 target of 
$1.90. This was mainly due to a significant 
increase of 55.39 per cent in passenger 
kilometres compared to 2014-15 offset by a 
19.04 per cent increase in total costs of services.

During the year, passenger kilometres  
increased significantly to 845,580 from 544,157 
in 2014-15 and exceeded the 2015-16 target of 
524,000 by 61.37 per cent mainly due to  
a 51.38 per cent increase in ferry patronage 
over 2014-15 and a 2.65 per cent increase 
in ferry average trip length as a result of the 
introduction of additional services following the 
commencement of operations from the  
Elizabeth Quay Jetty in January 2016.

Total cost of ferry services also increased to 
$1.136m from $0.955m and was 14.43 per cent 
above the 2015-16 target of $0.993m mainly 
due to a 21.05 per cent increase in operating 
cost associated with significant increases in ferry 
patronage and service kilometres.
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Transwa rail services

Transwa rail 
Average cost per passenger kilometre ($) 

The indicator reached $0.47, 5.04 per cent above 
the 2014-15 result of $0.45 and 7.87 per cent 
above the 2015-16 target. This was mainly due 
to a 2.41 per cent increase in total expenses over 
2014-15 combined with a 2.51 per cent decrease 
in passenger kilometres.

In 2015-16, total costs increased to $31.982m 
from $31.231m in 2014-15 largely driven by 
increases in operating costs and overhead relating 
to railcar maintenance and contractor services 
offset by decreases in capital expenditures.

Passenger kilometres decreased to 67.382m  
from 69.115m in 2014-15 primarily due to  
a 2.36 per cent increase in service kilometres  
to 1.025m kilometres from 1.001m in  
2014-15 offset by a 2.74 per cent decrease in 
boardings driven by a 8.31 per cent decrease in 
Australind patronage due to service disruptions 
and general decline in demand resulting from 
better accessibility to the metro train system at 
Mandurah and the length of time of the Australind 
trip versus the length of trip on the metro line.

Transwa road coach services
Transwa road coaches 
Average cost per passenger kilometre ($) 

The indicator reached $0.26, 3.37 per cent  
above the 2014-15 result of $0.25 and  
13.03 per cent above the 2015-16 target of  
$0.23. This was mainly due to a 3.81 per cent 
decrease in passenger kilometres and  
a marginal (0.57 per cent) decrease in total  
costs compared to 2014-15.

During the year, total costs decreased  
slightly to $14.534m from $14.617m in  
2014-15 and was 4.81 per cent below the  
target mainly due to decreases in fuel and  
capital expenditures offset by increases in 
operating costs and overhead including  
asset write-off.

Passenger kilometres decreased from  
58.120 million in 2014-15 to 55.906m in  
2015-16 driven mainly by a 4.48 per cent 
decrease in patronage primarily on routes 
travelling to Albany, Geraldton, Augusta,  
and Bunbury.
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2.  Average cost per  
1000 place kilometres

This indicator measures the cost efficiency of 
providing the service per 1000 place kilometres 
and it is calculated for each mode by dividing total 
cost by place kilometres and multiplying by 1000. 
Place kilometres are calculated by multiplying the 
average fleet capacity by the service kilometres.

Regional bus services
Intra-town and inter-town services

Regional town bus services  
intra-town and inter-town 
Cost per 1000 place kilometres ($)

The indicator reached $74.07, marginally  
(0.17 per cent) below the 2014-15 result  
of $74.20 and 5 per cent below the 2015-16 
target of $77.97.

This was mainly due to a 3.35 per cent increase  
in total passenger place kilometres offset by  
a 3.17 per cent increase in total costs.

During the year, passenger kilometres 
increased to 247.162 million from 239.162m 
in 2014-15 and exceeded the 2015-16 target 
by 3.64 per cent, mainly due to increases in 
service kms of the Kalgoorlie, Bunbury and 
the combined Busselton and Dunsborough 
bus services and increases in average bus 
place capacity following bus fleet changes in 
Bunbury, Busselton, Esperance and Kalgoorlie.

Total costs also increased to $18.308m from 
$17.746m in 2014-15 but was 1.54 per cent 
below the target due to increases in rental, bus 
insurance and operation expenditures as well as 
the costs associated with the increase in service 
kilometres offset by decreases in contracted 
services costs and depreciation.
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3.  Total passenger place kilometres 
(millions)

This indicator measures the total number of 
passengers that can be carried for the  
service kilometres.

It is calculated for each mode of transport  
by multiplying the average fleet capacity by  
the service kilometres and this represents the 
capacity provided on each mode.

The service kilometres for most intra-town 
services are calculated using the Transperth Route 
Information System.

Regional bus services
Intra-town and inter-town services

Regional town bus services  
Intra-town and inter-town 
Total passenger place kilometres (millions)

The indicator reached 247.162 million,  
3.35 per cent above the 2014-15 result of 
239.162m and 3.64 per cent above the  
2015-16 target of 238.478m.

This was mainly due to a 1.37 per cent increase 
in service kilometres to 3.390m from 3.344m in 
2014-15 mainly due to increases in service kms 
of the Kalgoorlie, Bunbury and the combined 
Busselton and Dunsborough bus services and 
increases in average bus place capacity following 
bus fleet changes that occurred in Bunbury, 
Busselton, Esperance and Kalgoorlie.

4.  Average cost per contracted 
kilometres

Regional school bus services
The cost of administering school bus services 
on a kilometre basis is calculated by dividing the 
total cost of school bus contracts and operating 
expenses by the total contracted kilometres.

Regional school bus services  
Average cost per contracted kilometre ($)

The indicator reached $3.76, 1.90 per cent  
below the 2015-16 target of $3.83 but slightly 
(0.80 per cent) above the 2014-15 result mainly 
due to a 2.62 per cent increase in costs offset by 
a 1.81 per cent increase in contracted kilometres.

The contract kilometres increased to 33.421 million  
kilometres from 32.829m in 2014-15 and 
exceeded the target and the 2014-15 result by 
1.76 per cent and 1.81 per cent respectively due 
to an expansion of the school bus network with 
the introduction of seven additional services.  
The daily average contract kilometres also 
increased by 1.81 per cent over 2014-15. 

As a result, total costs increased from $122.355 
million in 2014-15 to $125.566m but was 
marginally (0.29 per cent) below the target driven 
by increases in contracted services costs and 
overhead offset by decrease in depreciation. 
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Outcome 2: Protection of the long-term functionality of 
the rail corridor and railway infrastructure
EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR
The most significant issue for this outcome is the 
management of the long-term lease of the rail 
freight infrastructure to Brookfield Rail Pty Ltd.

Brookfield Rail manages and operates the rail 
freight infrastructure under the terms of the Railway 
Infrastructure Lease. Under the Lease, Brookfield 
Rail is the ‘accredited owner’ of the infrastructure 
as defined in the Rail Safety Act 1998.

Under the terms and conditions of the Railway 
Infrastructure Lease, an independent inspection 
of the railway infrastructure is carried out every 
five years. The last independent inspection was 
completed in May 2015.

The results of this inspection did not indicate any 
cause for concern and confirmed that the rail 
corridor and infrastructure was being satisfactorily 
maintained. There has been no lease breach 
recorded since 2009.

Cost efficiency
The cost efficiency for the management of the 
long-term lease of the rail freight infrastructure  
to Brookfield Rail is monitored using the total  
cost of managing the rail corridor and residual 
freight issues.

Cost of managing rail corridor and residual 
freight issues management ($’000s)

The cost of managing the rail corridor and  
residual freight issues was 42.68 per cent  
above the 2014-15 result and 45.89 per cent 
above the 2015-16 target.

The result was $53.6m above the 2014-15 result 
and $56.4m above the 2015-16 target mainly 
due to an increase in depreciation following the 
revaluation of the freight network assets.
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Certification of financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016

The accompanying financial statements of the Public Transport Authority of Western Australia  
have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006  
from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2016 and the financial position as at 30 June 2016.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Nina Lyhne Kevin Kirk
Acting Accountable Authority Chief Finance Officer
2 September 2016 2 September 2016
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Note
2016
$000

2015
$000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 167,494 158,495
Supplies and services 7 240,879 218,944
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 337,578 279,938
Finance costs 9 83,508 83,588
Grants and subsidies 10 491,581 478,531
Energy and fuel 27,446 26,041
Loss on disposal/write-off of non-current assets 17 0 21
Other expenses 11 22,745 21,896
Total cost of services 1,371,231 1,267,454

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 12 210,453 214,295
Operating lease revenue 13 5,466 5,466
Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 4 4
Interest revenue 15 1,430 1,375
Other revenue 16 47,128 49,915
Total revenue 264,481 271,055

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 17 146 0
Total Gains 146 0

Total income other than income from State Government 264,627 271,055
NET COST OF SERVICES 1,106,604 996,399
INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 18
Operating subsidy contributions 777,188 737,054
Services received free of charge 856 490
Royalties for Regions Fund 2,239 2,564
Total income from State Government 780,283 740,108

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (326,321) (256,291)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 35
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 486,597 612,310
Changes in hedge reserve (576) 0
Total other comprehensive income 486,021 612,310

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 159,700 356,019 

Refer to note 44 ‘Schedule of income and expenses by service’. The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2016
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Note
2016
$000

2015
$000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 36 132,671 125,174
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19 14,629 12,626
Inventories 20 16,216 16,270
Receivables 21 33,106 23,993
Prepayments 22 14,953 15,171
Amounts receivable for services 23 64,232 61,125
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 28 0 7,418
Current financial asset 25 56 1,172
Total Current Assets 275,863 262,949

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19 2,960 2,412
Amounts receivable for services 23 784,761 848,993
Prepayments 22 5,600 0
Infrastructure, property, plant, equipment and vehicles 24 7,135,500 6,445,995
Non-current financial asset 25 362 777
Intangible assets 27 10,798 12,857
Total Non-Current Assets 7,939,981 7,311,034
TOTAL ASSETS 8,215,844 7,573,983

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 30 102,779 114,775
Borrowings 31 125,927 115,356
Provisions 32 39,485 36,290
Other current liabilities 33 2,056 1,593
Deferred income operating lease 34 5,466 5,466
Current financial liability 25 48 81
Total Current Liabilities 275,761 273,561

Statement of financial position
As at 30 June 2016 
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Note
2016
$000

2015
$000

Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 31 1,981,003 1,751,196
Provisions 32 13,470 12,744
Deferred income operating lease 34 181,926 187,392
Total Non-Current Liabilities 2,176,399 1,951,332
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,452,160 2,224,893
NET ASSETS 5,763,684 5,349,090

EQUITY 35
Contributed equity 3,710,549 3,455,655
Reserves 3,103,728 2,617,707
Accumulated deficit (1,050,593) (724,272)
TOTAL EQUITY 5,763,684 5,349,090

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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 Note

Contributed 
equity  

$000
Reserves  

$000

Accumulated 
deficit  

$000
Total equity  

$000

Balance at 1 July 2014 35 3,196,628 2,005,397 (467,981) 4,734,044
Deficit 0 0 (256,291) (256,291)
Other comprehensive income 0 612,310 0 612,310

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 612,310 (256,291) 356,019
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 94,405 0 0 94,405
Perth Stadium account 58,474 0 0 58,474
Other contributions by owners 64,127 0 0 64,127
Distributions to owners (5,341) 0 0 (5,341)
Transfer of net assets from other agencies 47,362 0 0 47,362

Total 259,027 0 0 259,027
Balance at 30 June 2015 3,455,655 2,617,707 (724,272) 5,349,090

Balance at 1 July 2015 3,455,655 2,617,707 (724,272) 5,349,090
Deficit 0 0 (326,321) (326,321)
Other comprehensive income 0 486,021 0 486,021

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 486,021 (326,321) 159,700
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 112,296 0 0 112,296
Perth Stadium account 90,687 0 0 90,687
Other contributions by owners 49,778 0 0 49,778
Transfer of net assets from other agencies 2,133 0 0 2,133

Total 254,894 0 0 254,894
Balance at 30 June 2016 3,710,549 3,103,728 (1,050,593) 5,763,684

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2016
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Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Note
2016
$000

2015
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Operating subsidy contributions 777,188 737,053
Capital appropriation – other government agencies 39,696 63,645
Capital appropriations 112,296 94,405
Perth Stadium account 90,687 58,474
Royalties for Regions Fund 12,321 3,046
Holding account drawdowns 61,125 35,728
Net cash provided by State Government 1,093,313 992,351

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (166,621) (157,099)
Supplies and services (264,584) (249,521)
Finance costs (83,160) (81,874)
Grants and subsidies (489,652) (476,523)
Receipts paid into consolidated account (4,156) (3,543)
GST payments on purchases (127,328) (108,472)
Other payments (14,109) (15,621)
Receipts
User charges and fees 211,843 224,385
Commonwealth grants and contributions 4 4
Interest received 1,356 1,665
GST receipts on sales 26,653 26,736
GST receipts from taxation authority 91,306 82,049
Other receipts 47,525 41,181
Net cash used in operating activities 36 (770,923) (716,633)
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Note
2016
$000

2015
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets (554,943) (378,950)
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 7,822 18
Net cash used in investing activities (547,121) (378,932)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Repayment of borrowings (154,621) (275,177)
Other repayments (5,600) (1,251)
Receipts
Proceeds from borrowings 395,000 403,830
Net cash provided by financing activities 234,779 127,402
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 10,048 24,188
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 140,212 116,024
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 36 150,260 140,212

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1 Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Public Transport Authority of Western 
Australia’s (PTA) financial statements for the  
year ended 30 June 2016 have been prepared  
in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting 
Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB).

The PTA has adopted any applicable new and 
revised Australian Accounting Standards from 
their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The PTA cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted 
by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements.  
Partial exemption permitting early adoption 
of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures 
of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities has been 
granted. Aside from AASB 2015-7, there has 
been no early adoption of any other Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued or 
amended (but not operative) by the PTA for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016.

2  Summary of significant 
accounting policies

a) General statement
The PTA is a not-for-profit reporting entity that 
prepares general purpose financial statements  
in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the 
Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are 
modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary 
application, disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative 
provisions that govern the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence over 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB. 

Where modification is required and has had  
a material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and 
the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements.

b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared  
on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention, except for land, 
buildings, rollingstock, vessels, buses and 
infrastructure which have been measured at  
fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements have 
been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in 
Australian dollars and all values are rounded to  
the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management 
in applying accounting policies’ discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process 
of applying the PTA’s accounting policies 
resulting in the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ 
discloses key assumptions made concerning 
the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets  
and liabilities within the next financial year.

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 June 2016
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c) Reporting entity
The PTA is the reporting entity and there are  
no other related or affiliated bodies.

d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions  
by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public  
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature  
of equity contributions, other than as a result  
of a restructure of administrative arrangements,  
to be designated by the Government  
(the owner) as contributions by owners  
(at the time of, or prior to transfer) before 
such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been 
designated as contributions by owners by  
TI 955 Contributions by Owners Made to  
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities and have 
been credited directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other  
agencies, other than as a result of a restructure  
of administrative arrangements, are designated  
as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair 
value of consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and 
disposal of other assets when the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership control transfer to the 
purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion of the transaction.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Lease income
Lease income from deferred operating  
leases is recognised as income on a  
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 
(See note 13 ‘Operating lease revenue’ and 
note 34 ‘Deferred income – operating leases’).

Operating subsidy contributions
Operating subsidy contributions are recognised 
as revenues at fair value in the period in which 
the PTA gains control of the appropriated funds. 
The PTA gains control of appropriated funds at 
the time those funds are deposited to the bank 
account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable  
for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. 
(See note 18 ‘Income from State Government’).

Grants, donations, gifts and other  
non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the PTA 
obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not 
contributions by owners are recognised at their 
fair value. Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased 
if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as 
revenue at fair value in the period in which the PTA 
obtains control over the funds. The PTA obtains 
control of the funds at the time the funds are 
deposited into the PTA’s bank account.
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Infringements
Infringements are recognised at the time payment 
is received. Outstanding infringements are not 
recognised as debts, as the future economic 
benefits are minimal and cannot be reliably 
measured at the end of the reporting period.

Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually 
recognised on a net basis. These include gains 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets  
and some revaluations of non-current assets.

f) Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised as expenses  
in the period in which they are incurred.  
(See note 3 ‘Judgements made by management 
in applying accounting policies’).

g)  Infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment and vehicles

Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment and vehicles costing $5,000 or more 
are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising 
assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful 
lives. Items of infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment and vehicles costing less than $5,000 
are immediately expensed direct to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (other than where they 
form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment  
and vehicles are initially recognised at cost.

For items of infrastructure, property, plant and 
equipment and vehicles acquired at no cost  
or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value  
at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset,  
the revaluation model is used for the measurement 
of land, buildings, freight network, urban rail 
system and bus infrastructure, rollingstock, 
vessels and buses. Land is carried at fair value 
less accumulated impairment losses. All assets 
except plant and equipment and motor vehicles 
are carried at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Plant and equipment and motor vehicles 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market-based evidence is available,  
the fair value of land and buildings is determined 
on the basis of current market buying values 
determined by reference to recent market 
transactions. When buildings are revalued by 
reference to recent market transactions, the 
accumulated depreciation is eliminated against  
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the 
net amount restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence,  
the fair value of land and buildings is determined 
on the basis of existing use. This normally applies 
where buildings are specialised or where land use 
is restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is 
determined by reference to the cost of replacing 
the remaining future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. 
Where the fair value of buildings is determined 
on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the 
gross carrying amount and the accumulated 
depreciation are restated proportionately.

Land controlled by the PTA including metropolitan 
and regional corridor land, not subject to 
commercial lease, is revalued on an annual basis 
by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised 
annually to ensure that the carrying amount does 
not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at 
the end of reporting period.

Land and buildings which are commercially 
leased are independently valued at fair value 
based on the capitalised value of current leases. 
Independent valuations are obtained annually.

Buildings, bus infrastructure and Transwa 
rollingstock are revalued at fair value using 
depreciated replacement cost by independent 
valuers, engineering and management 
professionals. Buses, vessels and urban 
rollingstock are revalued utilising internal resources 
at fair value using depreciated replacement cost. 
Valuations are obtained every three to five years. 
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The fair value is based on depreciated replacement 
cost as the assets are specialised and limited 
market-based evidence of value is available.

Urban rail system infrastructure and freight 
network infrastructure are revalued, at least 
once every five years, to its fair value based on 
depreciated replacement cost, as the assets are 
specialised and limited market-based evidence 
of value is available. Urban rail infrastructure has 
been revalued at fair value using depreciated 
replacement cost by independent valuers and 
where applicable, by the PTA’s internal engineers 
(subject matter experts) in 2015-16. 

When assets carried at fair value are revalued, 
the accumulated depreciation is restated 
proportionately with the change in the gross 
carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying 
amount of the asset after revaluation equals its 
revalued amount.

Construction in progress is recognised at cost.

The most significant assumptions and judgements 
in estimating fair value are made in assessing 
whether to apply the existing use basis to assets 
and in determining estimated economic life. 
Professional judgement by the valuer is required 
where the evidence does not provide a clear 
distinction between market type assets and 
existing use assets.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of 
property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and 
vehicles, any revaluation surplus relating to that 
asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

The revaluation surplus included in equity 
in respect of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, infrastructure and vehicles may be 
transferred directly to retained earnings when 
the asset is derecognised. This may involve 
transferring the whole of the surplus when the 
asset is retired or disposed of.

Asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to  
record increments and decrements on the 
revaluation of non-current assets as described  
in note 24 ‘Infrastructure, property, plant, 
equipment and vehicles’.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful 
life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner which reflects 
the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the  
straight-line method, using rates which are 
reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for  
each class of depreciable asset are:

Class of Asset Useful Life
Buildings 10 to 50 years
Rollingstock 10 to 45 years
Infrastructure 5 to 75 years
Plant and equipment 5 to 40 years
Buses 10 to 45 years
Motor vehicles 5 to 10 years
Vessels 4 to 20 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years

Assets under construction are not depreciated 
until they are available for use.

Land is not depreciated.

h) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 
or more and internally generated intangible assets 
costing $5,000 or more are capitalised. The cost 
of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) 
over their useful lives. Costs incurred below these 
thresholds are immediately expensed directly to 
the Statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 
For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, 
the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful 
lives is calculated for the period of the expected 
benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed 
annually) on the straight-line basis. All intangible 
assets controlled by the PTA have a finite useful 
life and zero residual value.
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The expected useful lives for each class  
of intangible asset are: 

Class of Intangible asset Useful Life

Software* 2 to 5 years

Website costs 3 to 5 years

Licences 15 years

* Software that is not integral to the operation  
of any related hardware.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related 
hardware is recognised as property, plant and 
equipment. Software that is not an integral 
part of the related hardware is recognised as 
an intangible asset. Software costing less than 
$5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when 
they are incurred unless they relate to the 
acquisition or development of an asset when they 
may be capitalised or amortised. Costs in relation 
to feasibility studies in the planning phase prior 
to the decision to create a website, and ongoing 
costs of maintenance during the operating 
phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building 
or enhancing a website, to the extent that they 
represent probable future economic benefits that 
can be reliably measured, are capitalised.

Licences
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

i) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure, 
vehicles and intangible assets are tested for 
any indication of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. Where there is an indication of 
impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. 
Where the recoverable amount is less than 
the carrying amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to the recoverable 
amount and an impairment loss is recognised. 
Where an asset measured at cost is written down 
to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously 
revalued asset is written down to recoverable 
amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation 
decrement in other comprehensive income.  
As the PTA is a not-for-profit entity, unless an 
asset has been identified as a surplus asset,  
the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited  
to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation 
is materially understated, where the replacement 
cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets 
is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 

depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of 
consumption or expiration of asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment 
risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life  
and intangible assets not yet available for use  
are tested for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period irrespective of whether there  
is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified  
as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of future cash 
flows expected to be derived from the asset. 
Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk  
of material impairment where fair value is 
determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by 
reference to the depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets 
at cost are tested for indications of impairments  
at the end of each reporting period.

j)  Non-current assets (or disposal 
groups) classified as held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held 
for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell, and are 
disclosed separately from other assets in the 
Statement of financial position. Assets classified 
as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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k) Leases
The PTA has entered into a number of operating 
lease arrangements where the lessor effectively 
retains materially all of the risks and benefits 
incidental to ownership of the items held under  
the operating leases. Operating leases are 
expensed on a straight-line basis over the term  
of the lease as this represents the pattern of 
benefits derived from the leased properties.

l) Deferred income operating leases
The sale of the Westrail Freight Business on  
17 December 2000 included an operating lease 
of the freight network infrastructure for 49 years 
between the Western Australian Government 
Railways Commission (WAGR) – now Public 
Transport Authority of Western Australia (PTA) 
and Westnet Rail Pty Ltd – now Brookfield Rail 
Pty Ltd. The lease rentals were fully prepaid on 
17 December 2000, and credited to deferred 
income operating leases. 133 grain receival sites 
were leased for a 99 year period in two tranches 
in 2003 and 2004. The rental for sites was prepaid 
and credited to deferred income operating leases. 
(See note 2(e)).

m) Financial instruments
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the PTA 
has two categories of financial instruments:

• Loans and receivables; and 

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated 
into the following classes:

• Financial Assets

 – Cash and cash equivalents
 – Restricted cash and cash equivalents
 – Receivables
 – Amounts receivable for services
 – Foreign exchange forward contracts

• Financial Liabilities

 – Payables
 – Other current liabilities
 – Western Australian Treasury Corporation 

(WATC) loans 
 – Commonwealth loans
 – Foreign exchange forward contracts

Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value which normally 
equates to the transaction cost or the face value. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and 
payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and 
subsequent measurement is not required as the 
effect of discounting is not material.

n)  Derivative financial instruments and 
hedge accounting

The PTA enters into foreign exchange forward 
contracts with the Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation to hedge its exposure to foreign 
currency risks. The foreign exchange forward 
contracts are designated as cash flow hedges  
and are entered into for periods with foreign 
currency exposure of the underlying transactions, 
generally from one to 30 months.

Initial recognition and subsequent 
measurement
The foreign exchange forward contracts are 
initially recognised at fair value on the date  
on which it is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value. Any gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair value are taken 
directly to profit or loss, except for the effective 
portion of cash flow hedges.

Cash flow hedges
Forward foreign exchange contracts are entered 
into as hedges to avoid or minimise possible 
adverse financial effects of movements in 
exchange rates. Such derivatives are stated at 
fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that are designated and effective as hedges of 
future cash flows are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income and the ineffective portion 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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When the hedged firm commitment results in  
the recognition of an asset or a liability, then,  
at the time the asset or liability is recognised,  
the associated gains or losses that had previously 
been recognised in other comprehensive income 
are included in the initial measurement of the 
acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the 
asset or liability. For all other cash flow hedges, 
the gains or losses that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit  
or loss in the same period in which the hedged 
firm commitment affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated, or exercised, or when a hedge no 
longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, 
any cumulative gain or loss that was recognised  
in other comprehensive income at that time 
remains separately in equity until the forecast 
transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction 
is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative 
gain or loss that was recognised in other 
comprehensive income is immediately reclassified 
to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. 

o) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalents (and restricted cash 
and cash equivalents) assets comprise of cash  
on hand.

p) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (refer to note 30 ‘Payables’) 
represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the 
end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled 
within a fortnight of the financial year end. The PTA 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries 
to be equivalent to its fair value.

q)  Amounts receivable for services 
(Holding account)

The PTA received income from the State 
Government partly in cash and partly as  
an asset (holding account receivable) until  
2011-12. From 2012-13, the PTA no 
longer receives funding into holding 
account receivable. The accrued amount 
appropriated is accessible on the emergence 
of the cash funding requirement to cover 
leave entitlements and asset replacement. 

r) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value. Costs are 
assigned by the method most appropriate to 
each particular class of inventory. Inventory 
recorded using the inventory control system is 
valued at the weighted average cost and the 
remainder is valued on a first in first out basis.

Inventories not held for resale are measured at 
cost unless they are no longer required, in which 
case they are measured at net realisable value.

s) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice 
amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts (i.e. impairment).

The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis and any receivables identified as 
uncollectible are written off against the allowance 
account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts 
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective 
evidence that the PTA will not be able to collect 
the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value as they are generally settled within 30 days.

t) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable 
when the PTA becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or 
services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value, as settlement is generally 30 days.

u) Borrowings
All loans payable are initially recognised at 
fair value, being the net proceeds received. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.
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v) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing  
or amount and are recognised where there is  
a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event and when the outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits is 
probable and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Provisions – employee benefits 
All annual leave and long service leave 
provisions are in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave 
Annual leave is not expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period and is therefore considered 
to be ‘other long-term employee benefits’. 
The annual leave liability is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected 
to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future  
payments consideration is given to expected  
future wage and salary levels including  
non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as 
the experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. The expected future 

payments are discounted using market yields 
at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as 
a current liability as the PTA does not have 
an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is 
recognised at the face value of each 
employee’s long service leave entitlement 
based on remuneration rates current as at 
the end of the reporting period, adjusted for 
the employee’s age factor. This method is 
referred to as the shorthand method.

An actuarial assessment of long service leave 
undertaken by PriceWaterhouseCoopers 
Actuaries at 30 June 2016 determined that 
the liability measured using the shorthand 
measurement technique above was 
not materially different from the liability 
determined using the present value of 
expected future payments. This calculation 
is consistent with the PTA’s experience 
of employee retention and leave taken.

Unconditional long service leave provisions 
are classified as current liabilities as the 
PTA does not have an unconditional right 
to defer the settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period. Pre-conditional and conditional 
long service leave provisions are classified 
as non-current liabilities because the PTA 
has an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee 
has completed the requisite years of service.

Sick leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when 
it is probable that sick leave paid in the future 
will be greater than the entitlement that will 
accrue in the future.

Past history indicates that on average, sick 
leave taken each reporting period is less than 
the entitlement accrued. This is expected 
to continue in future periods. Accordingly, 
it is unlikely that existing accumulated 
entitlements will be used by employees and 
no liability for unused sick leave entitlements 
is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, 
an expense is recognised in the Statement of 
comprehensive income for this leave  
as it is taken.
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Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates 
to Public Service employees who have 
entered into an agreement to self-fund an 
additional 12 months leave in the fifth year 
of the agreement. The provision recognises 
the value of salary set aside for employees 
to be used in the fifth year. This liability is 
measured on the same basis as annual 
leave. Deferred leave is reported as a 
current provision as employees can leave 
the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to 
Public Service employees who have entered 
into an agreement to self-fund up to an 
additional eight weeks leave per calendar 
year. The provision recognises the value 
of salary set aside for employees and is 
measured at the nominal amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation 
Board (GESB) and other fund providers 
administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in 
accordance with legislative requirements. 
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular 
schemes for public sector employees 
vary according to commencement and 
implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension 
Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme 
closed to new members since 1987, or the 
Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS),  
a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed  
to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior 
to 16 April 2007 who were not members 
of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS 
became non-contributory members of the 
West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). 
Employees commencing employment on 
or after 16 April 2007 became members 
of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). 
From 30 March 2012, existing members of 
the WSS or GESBS and new employees 
have been able to choose their preferred 
superannuation fund provider. The PTA 
makes contributions to GESB or other 
fund providers on behalf of employees 

in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to 
these accumulation schemes extinguish the 
PTA’s liability for superannuation charges in 
respect of employees who are not members 
of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme  
for the purposes of employees and  
whole-of-government reporting. 
However, it is a defined contribution 
plan for agency purposes because 
the concurrent contributions (defined 
contributions) made by the PTA to GESB 
extinguishes the agency’s obligations to 
the related superannuation liability.

The PTA has no liabilities under the Pension 
Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the 
unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded 
GSS transfer benefits attributable to 
members who transferred from the Pension 
Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. 
All other GSS obligations are funded by 
concurrent contributions made by the PTA  
to the GESB.

The GESB makes all benefit payments  
in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, 
and is recouped from the Treasurer for the 
employer’s share.
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(ii) Provisions – other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including payroll tax 
and workers’ compensation insurance, are 
not employee benefits and are recognised 
separately as liabilities and expenses when 
the employment to which they relate has 
occurred. Employment on-costs are included 
as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not 
included as part of the PTA’s ‘Employee 
benefits expense’. The related liability is 
included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

Public liability 
Provision is made for all outstanding public 
liability claims before 1 July 2005 worth less 
than $1 million. The amount of the provision 
is the estimated outstanding value of the 
claims at the end of the reporting period.

Workers’ compensation
Provision is made for all outstanding claims 
from periods before 1 July 1997 and any 
previous years fund contribution assessments 
based on claims experience and performance 
adjustment from RiskCover. The amount of 
the provision is the estimated outstanding 
value of claims plus any actuarial assessments 
of the previous years adjusted fund 
contribution at the end of the reporting period.

Contaminated sites
Provision is recognised for the sites that  
are classified as contaminated –  
remediation required or possibly 
contaminated – investigation required,  
and where the PTA has a liability in respect 
of investigation or remediation expenses. 
Estimates are based on the present value  
of expected future cash outflows.

w) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense is recognised in the 
profit or loss in the Statement of comprehensive 
income and comprises employer contributions 
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), WSS, 
and the GESBS and other superannuation funds.

x)  Assets and services received free of 
charge or for nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge  
(except those designated as contribution  
from owners) or for nominal cost are recognised 
as income at the fair value of the assets  
and/or the fair value of those services that can be 
reliably measured and the PTA would otherwise 
pay for. A corresponding expense is recognised 
for services received. Receipts of assets are 
recognised in the Statement of financial position.

Assets or services received from other State 
Government agencies are separately disclosed 
under Income from State Government in the 
Statement of comprehensive income.

y) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, 
reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year.
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3  Judgements made by 
management in applying 
accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. The PTA evaluates these 
judgements regularly.

Borrowing costs
The PTA has made a determination to expense 
 all borrowing costs associated with the 
construction of capital projects as allowed  
by the alternative accounting treatment under 
AASB 123 Borrowing Costs.

4  Key sources of  
estimation uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning  
the future are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Long Service Leave
The PTA undertook an actuarial assessment  
of its long service leave provision in 2013 and 
is using employees’ age based factors for 
discounting its expected future payments  
between valuations. These factors incorporate 
a series of assumptions such as demographics, 
salary inflation, and market yields on 
Commonwealth Government bonds.  
Fluctuations in any of the assumptions used  
to calculate these factors may impact the 
provision for annual and long service leave.

Estimating useful life of key assets
The useful lives are estimated having regard 
to such factors as asset maintenance, rate of 
technical and commercial obsolescence, and 
asset usage. The useful lives of key assets are 
reviewed annually.

Depreciated replacement cost of railway 
infrastructure assets
The depreciated replacement cost of urban rail 
network infrastructure assets has been assessed 
by utilising a combined approach between an 
experienced independent professional valuation 
and internal engineers (subject matter experts). 
Key uncertainties exist with regard to the most 
appropriate asset/component used to replace 
assets which have a system based reliance on 
other assets within the urban rail network. This risk 
is mitigated with the input of internal engineers.

Workers’ compensation provision
The Workers’ Compensation Deposit 
Contributions are initially calculated on estimates 
of wages, prior year claims and budgeted 
investment income and are then adjusted on  
the actual outcomes of these factors for the 
period of cover. Workers’ Compensation 
Contributions are adjusted three years after the 
close of the period of cover and the PTA has 
made a provision based upon the RiskCover 
performance adjustment. The performance 
adjustment outcome for a year is influenced by 
the actual experience for a year being different 
to what was expected when the Deposit Fund 
Contribution was set. Differences can arise when 
the actual outcome is different from that originally 
projected, specifically in relation to number of 
claims received, cost of the claims, reinsurance 
costs and investment returns.

Contaminated sites provision
The contaminated sites provision was based  
on estimates made by management for 
investigation or remediation expenses of 
contaminated or suspected contaminated sites.
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5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The PTA has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015 that impacted on 
the PTA.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments

Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 9 was subsequently 
deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The PTA has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of AASB 9 
(December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)] 
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial Instruments  
(December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. The PTA has not yet determined  
the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality

This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, 
allowing that Standard to effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The PTA cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, the PTA has early adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. Where applicable, the PTA plans to apply the following 
Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative for reporting 
periods beginning

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,  
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by  
AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9 and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards.  
The PTA has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This Standard establishes the principles that the PTA shall apply to report useful information to users  
of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising 
from a contract with a customer. The PTA has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of  
the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 16 Leases
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets  
and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value.  
The PTA has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation),  
grouped where they are the same. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016
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Operative for reporting 
periods beginning

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)  
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to  
1 January 2018. The PTA has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other Standards.  
It has not yet been assessed by the PTA to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests  
in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11] 
The PTA establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does not routinely acquire interests in 
Joint Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on application of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods  
of Depreciation and Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the PTA as depreciation and amortisation is not 
determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this 
Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January 2018. The PTA has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The PTA has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018
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Operative for reporting 
periods beginning

AASB 2014-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 
[AASB 1, 127 & 128]
This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow entities  
to use the equity method of accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in  
their separate financial statements. The PTA has not yet determined the application or the potential impact  
of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-
10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets between  
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture [AASB 10 & 128]
This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between the requirements  
in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between 
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The PTA has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting 
Standards 2012–2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual 
Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. The PTA has 
determined that the application of the Standard has no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 
[AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. 
Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed 
about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement  
when applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in their financial statements.  
There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016
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Operative for reporting 
periods beginning

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to  
Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]
The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public sector entities. 
Implementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. 
There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2016

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers so that AASB 15 is required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017. The PTA has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of AASB 15.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2015-
10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 & 128 
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 & 128 that 
were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. The PTA has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of AASB 2014-10.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107
This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require disclosures that enable 
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both 
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15
This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations,  
timing of recognising revenue from granting a licence, and, provides further transitional provisions to AASB 15.  
The PTA has not yet determined the application or the potential impact.

1 Jan 2018
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2016
$000

2015
$000

6. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (i) 153,190 144,877
Superannuation – defined contribution plans (ii) 14,304 13,618

167,494 158,495

(i)  Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation 
contribution component.

(ii) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESBS and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses such as workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax are included at note 11 ‘Other expenses’. Employment on-cost 
liability is included at note 32 ‘Provisions’.

7. Supplies and services
Contractors 188,379 173,494
Motor vehicles 14,669 13,314
Materials and signs 11,747 9,498
Consumables 7,691 6,800
Communications 1,481 1,250
Other 16,912 14,588

240,879 218,944
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2016
$000

2015
$000

8. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Buildings 2,244 2,560
Freight network infrastructure 146,008 91,751
Rollingstock 37,653 34,815
Railway infrastructure 83,857 95,182
Plant, equipment and motor vehicles 5,862 5,892
Systems infrastructure 7,958 0
Bus infrastructure 6,542 7,615
Vessels 89 88
Buses 44,435 39,439
Total depreciation 334,648 277,342

Amortisation
Computer software 2,342 2,265
Licences 588 331
Total amortisation 2,930 2,596
Total depreciation and amortisation 337,578 279,938

9. Finance costs
Interest expense on Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) borrowings 83,508 83,512
Interest expense on Commonwealth loans 0 76
Finance costs expensed 83,508 83,588

139Financial report / Notes to the financial statements



2016
$000

2015
$000

10. Grants and subsidies expense
Bus operators 353,491 342,186
School bus services 119,878 117,617
Regional bus services 16,358 16,436
Ferry services 1,042 884
Grants to local government 812 1,408

491,581 478,531

11. Other expenses
Payroll tax 8,941 8,554
Workers’ compensation 5,978 5,437
Payment of infringements to consolidated account 4,156 3,543
Write-down of non-current assets classified as held for sale (ii) 0 2,962
Ineffectiveness on currency forward contracts designated as cash flow hedge 89 0
Net change in fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 1,943 0
Audit fees 574 820
Notional charges for services provided by government agencies 856 490
Employment on-costs (i) 55 46
Doubtful debts expense 153 44

22,745 21,896

(i)  Includes workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax relating to annual and long service leave. The on-costs liabilities associated with  
the recognition of annual and long service leave liabilities are included at note 32 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of  
the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

(ii)  Non-current assets held for sale measured at lower of carrying amount and fair value.
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2016
$000

2015
$000

12. User charges and fees
Fare revenue 210,453 214,295

13. Operating lease revenue
Rental income from freight network infrastructure (i) 5,383 5,383
Rental income from grain receival sites (ii) 83 83

5,466 5,466

(i)  The sale of the Westrail Freight Business on 17 December 2000 included an operating lease of the freight network infrastructure for 49 years 
between the Western Australian Government Railways Commission (WAGR) – now Public Transport Authority of Western Australia (PTA) and 
Westnet Rail Pty Ltd – now Brookfield Rail Pty Ltd. The lease rentals were fully prepaid on 17 December 2000, and credited to deferred operating 
lease revenue. 

(ii)  A 99 year operating lease for 118 grain receival sites was entered into with Co-operative Bulk Handling (CBH) in 2003. Rental income for 99 years 
of $7.45 million was received in full at the commencement of the lease, and is accounted for as revenue over the 99 year lease period, with the 
prepaid portion shown as deferred income. (See note 34 ‘Deferred income – operating leases’).

A further 99 year operating lease for 15 grain receival sites was entered into with CBH in 2004. Rental income for 99 years of $775,000 was 
received in full at the commencement of the lease, and is accounted for as revenue over the 99 year lease period, with the prepaid portion shown 
as deferred income. (See note 34 ‘Deferred income – operating leases’).

14. Commonwealth grants and contributions
Chamber of Commerce and Industry – Apprenticeship Support Australia 4 4

15. Interest revenue
Interest revenue 1,430 1,375

Interest revenue is received quarterly from Department of Treasury calculated on the daily balance held in the interest bearing bank account.
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2016
$000

2015
$000

16. Other revenue
Rents and leases 15,768 15,422
Parking 8,126 7,979
Advertising income 8,012 6,855
External works 4,495 6,122
Infringements 4,249 3,646
Contribution other government agencies 269 2,931
Net change in fair value of financial instruments assets designated at fair value through profit and loss 0 2,029
SmartRider card sales 1,111 1,159
Miscellaneous 5,098 3,772

47,128 49,915

17. Net gain/(loss) on disposal/write-off of non-current assets
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Land 7,799 0
Buses 969 44
Other 10 22

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Land (7,418) 0
Buses (1,214) (58)
Other/write-off of non-current assets 0 (29)
Net gain/(loss) 146 (21)
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2016
$000

2015
$000

18. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the period:
Operating subsidy contributions (i) 777,188 737,054

Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies during the period:
State Solicitors Office 543 377
Landgate 311 67
Department of Water 1 24
Main Roads WA 1 13
Department of Finance 0 9

856 490
Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Community Services Account (ii) 2,239 2,564

780,283 740,108

(i) Operating subsidy contributions fund the net cost of services delivered except depreciation expense. 

(ii)  This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in  
WA regional areas.
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2016
$000

2015
$000

19. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Current

Royalties for Regions Fund (i) 1,472 534
Parental Leave 10 5
Commonwealth Funds 2,409 2,409
Funding segregated for specific projects 10,738 7,505
Accrued salaries suspense account (ii) 0 2,173

14,629 12,626
Non-Current
Accrued salaries suspense account (ii) 2,960 2,412

(i) Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

(ii) Funds held in suspense account used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.

20. Inventories
Current
Inventories not held for resale:
Maintenance spares – at cost 16,216 16,270
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2016
$000

2015
$000

21. Receivables
Current
Receivables 2,978 2,997
Allowance for impairment of receivables (147) (45)
Accrued revenue 6,929 7,048
GST receivable 23,158 13,270
Other receivables – external works 188 723
Total receivables 33,106 23,993

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of period 45 45
Doubtful debts expense 153 44
Amount written off during the period (38) (41)
Amount recovered during the period (13) (3)
Balance at end of period 147 45

PTA does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

22. Prepayments
Current 14,953 15,171
Non-current (i) 5,600 0

20,553 15,171
(i) Prepayment made to Venues West for the Perth Stadium project.

23. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
Current 64,232 61,125
Non-current 784,761 848,993

848,993 910,118

Represents the non-cash component of operating subsidy contributions. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment  
of leave liability.
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24. Infrastructure, property, plant, equipment and vehicles

2016 2016 2016 2016 2015 2015 2015 2015

Cost
At Fair 

Value
Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
amount as at 
30 June 2016 Cost

At Fair 
Value

Accumulated 
depreciation

Carrying 
amount as at 
30 June 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Owned Assets:

Land (i) 0 399,775 0 399,775 0 404,232 0 404,232

Buildings (ii) 0 99,903 74,628 25,275 0 117,162 74,162 43,000

Freight network infrastructure (vi)(x) 0 7,620,420 5,982,748 1,637,672 0 7,618,943 5,836,739 1,782,204

Rollingstock (iii) 0 1,218,021 524,550 693,471 0 1,100,274 486,673 613,601

Railway infrastructure (vii) 0 4,509,463 1,555,388 2,954,075 0 3,687,652 1,128,516 2,559,136

Plant, equipment & motor vehicles 53,008 0 41,566 11,442 50,502 0 35,058 15,444

System Infrastructure (viii) 0 219,983 136,326 83,657 0 0 0 0

Bus infrastructure (ii) 0 250,976 119,620 131,356 0 238,197 111,895 126,302

Vessels (v) 0 3,579 2,398 1,181 0 3,533 2,308 1,225

Buses (iv) 0 862,850 415,984 446,866 0 860,633 428,441 432,192

Construction in progress (ix) 750,730 0 0 750,730 468,659 0 0 468,659

TOTAL 803,738 15,184,970 8,853,208 7,135,500 519,161 14,030,626 8,103,792 6,445,995

Information on fair value measurements is provided in note 26. 
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(i)  Land controlled by the PTA has been 
revalued as at 1 July 2015 by the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services) and Burgess Rawson. 
The valuations were performed during the 
year ended 30 June 2016 and recognised at 
30 June 2016. The fair value was determined 
by reference to market values. See note 2(g).

To ensure the valuations provided by 
Valuation Services were compliant at  
30 June 2016 with the fair value requirements 
under AASB 116, Valuation Services provided 
the Department of Treasury with information 
that tracked the general movement in 
the market value of land and in building 
construction costs from 1 July 2015  
(the date of valuation) to 30 June 2016. 
Department of Treasury reviewed the 
information and determined that the 
valuations provided by Valuation Services  
(as at 1 July 2015) were compliant with 
fair value requirements for 30 June 2016 
reporting without further adjustment  
by reference to market values based on 
existing use.

Land which is commercially leased was 
independently valued on the capitalised 
value of current lease by Burgess 
Rawson. The valuations were performed 
during the year ended 30 June 2016 
and recognised at 30 June 2016.

(ii)  Buildings and bus infrastructure have  
been revalued as at 30 June 2014  
by independent valuers Ralph Beattie 
Bosworth at depreciated replacement cost 
which represents the fair value of the assets. 

(iii)  Rollingstock has been revalued as at  
30 June 2014 by both independent valuers 
Interfleet Technologies and by taking up 
the PTA’s latest contract pricing from EDI 
Rail at depreciated replacement cost which 
represents the fair value of the assets. 
Interfleet Technologies provided valuation 
advice for the Transwa rollingstock assets 
and the PTA’s latest contract pricing was 
utilised for the Perth metropolitan area 
rollingstock assets. 

(iv)  Buses have been revalued as at  
30 June 2014 by taking up the PTA’s 
latest contract pricing from Volvo at 
depreciated replacement cost which 
represents the fair value of the assets.

(v)  Vessels have been revalued as at  
30 June 2014 by utilising internal expertise 
and adjusting for inflation to arrive at 
depreciated replacement cost which 
represents the fair value of the assets.

(vi)  Freight network infrastructure was revalued 
on 30 June 2015 by independent valuers 
Griffin Valuation Advisory. The depreciated 
replacement cost which represents the fair 

value of the assets has been recognised  
at 30 June 2015.

(vii)  Railway infrastructure was revalued on 
30 June 2016 by independent valuation 
professionals Griffin Valuation Advisory. 
The depreciated replacement cost which 
represents the fair value of the assets has 
been recognised at 30 June 2016. 

(viii)  System infrastructure was formed in  
2015-16 as a separate asset classification 
profile to more accurately reflect the 
specialised system assets in use.  
Various assets across the entire asset 
structure were transferred to this profile, 
with the railway infrastructure being major 
contributor. Revaluation will be performed  
in 2016-17.

(ix) Construction in progress is valued at cost.

(x)  The PTA entered into a finance lease with 
Karara Mining Limited and Gindalbie Metals 
Limited during the 2013 financial year.  
The lease is over a railway line from Tilley  
to Karara which was constructed by Karara 
for its exclusive use over the period of the 
lease term of 49 years. While legal ownership 
is vested in PTA, beneficial ownership is with 
Karara therefore the assets are not included 
in the freight network infrastructure balance 
however the asset will be transferred to  
PTA upon the expiry of the lease.
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of infrastructure, property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out 
in the table below.

2016

Carrying 
amount at  

start of 
period Additions

Transfers  
(xi)

Revaluation 
Increments/

(Decrements) Disposals Depreciation

Carrying 
amount at 

end of  
period

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Owned Assets:

Land 404,232 0 0 (4,457) 0 0 399,775

Buildings 43,000 0 (15,481) 0 0 (2,244) 25,275

Freight network infrastructure 1,782,204 0 1,476 0 0 (146,008) 1,637,672

Rollingstock 613,601 0 117,523 0 0 (37,653) 693,471

Railway infrastructure 2,559,136 0 (12,370) 491,166 0 (83,857) 2,954,075

Plant, equipment & motor vehicles 15,444 0 1,860 0 0 (5,862) 11,442

System Infrastructure 0 0 91,615 0 0 (7,958) 83,657

Bus infrastructure 126,302 0 11,596 0 0 (6,542) 131,356

Vessels 1,225 45 0 0 0 (89) 1,181

Buses 432,192 1,077 59,357 0 (1,325) (44,435) 446,866

Construction in progress 468,659 537,477 (255,406) 0 0 0 750,730

TOTAL 6,445,995 538,599 170 486,709 (1,325) (334,648) 7,135,500

(xi)   On 30 June 2016, the PTA recognised transferred assets from Main Roads WA to PTA for level crossings within freight network ($1.4 million)  
and new car park at Loch street rail station ($0.6 million). All other transfers relate to movements from construction in progress and internal transfers 
made by the PTA between asset classes to more accurately reflect the classification of assets in use.
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2015

Carrying 
amount at  

start of 
period Additions Transfers 

Revaluation 
Increments/

(Decrements) Disposals Depreciation

Carrying 
amount at 

end of  
period

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Owned Assets:

Land 397,769 0 13,614 (7,151) 0 0 404,232

Buildings 34,927 34 10,599 0 0 (2,560) 43,000

Freight network infrastructure 1,200,176 0 54,330 619,449 0 (91,751) 1,782,204

Rollingstock 580,920 750 66,746 0 0 (34,815) 613,601

Railway infrastructure 2,457,421 83 196,814 0 0 (95,182) 2,559,136

Plant, equipment & motor vehicles 18,127 0 3,238 0 (29) (5,892) 15,444

Bus infrastructure 133,668 0 249 0 0 (7,615) 126,302

Vessels 1,313 0 0 0 0 (88) 1,225

Buses 389,045 26,346 56,286 12 (58) (39,439) 432,192

Construction in progress 476,978 385,012 (393,331) 0 0 0 468,659

TOTAL 5,690,344 412,225 8,545 612,310 (87) (277,342) 6,445,995

Information on fair value measurements is provided in note 26.
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2016
$000

2015
$000

25. Financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments (i):
Cash flow hedges

Current foreign exchange forward contracts 46 0
Non-current foreign exchange forward contracts 362 0
Total instruments at fair value through OCI 408 0

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Current foreign exchange forward contracts 10 1,172
Non-current foreign exchange forward contracts 0 777
Total instruments at fair value through profit and loss 10 1,949

Other financial liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments (i):
Cash flow hedges

Current foreign exchange forward contracts (48) 0
Total instruments at fair value through OCI (48) 0
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Current foreign exchange forward contracts 0 (81)
Total instruments at fair value through profit and loss 0 (81) 

(i)  On 1 July 2015, outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts as at 30 June 2015 have been designated as hedging instruments in cash flow 
hedges of future asset purchases in foreign currencies. Hedge accounting has also been adopted for foreign exchange forward contracts entered 
during the year ended 30 June 2016.
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26. Fair value measurements 

2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fair value  
at end of  

the period

Assets measured at fair value: $000 $000 $000 $000

Land (Note 24) 0 0 399,775 399,775

Buildings (Note 24) 0 0 25,275 25,275

Freight network infrastructure (Note 24) 0 0 1,637,672 1,637,672

Systems Infrastructure (Note 24) 0 0 83,657 83,657

Rollingstock (Note 24) 0 652,534 40,937 693,471

Railway infrastructure (Note 24) 0 0 2,954,075 2,954,075

Bus infrastructure (Note 24) 0 0 131,356 131,356

Vessels (Note 24) 0 0 1,181 1,181

Buses (Note 24) 0 446,866 0 446,866

Foreign exchange forward contracts (Note 25) 0 370 0 370

0 1,099,770 5,273,928 6,373,698
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2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Fair value  
at end of  

the period

Assets measured at fair value: $000 $000 $000 $000

Land (Note 24) 0 0 404,232 404,232

Buildings (Note 24) 0 0 43,000 43,000

Freight network infrastructure (Note 24) 0 0 1,782,204 1,782,204

Systems Infrastructure (Note 24) 0 0 0 0

Rollingstock (Note 24) 0 569,503 44,098 613,601

Railway infrastructure (Note 24) 0 0 2,559,136 2,559,136

Bus infrastructure (Note 24) 0 0 126,302 126,302

Vessels (Note 24) 0 0 1,225 1,225

Buses (Note 24) 0 432,192 0 432,192

Non-current assets classified as held for sale (Note 28) 0 7,418 0 7,418

0 1,009,113 4,960,197 5,969,310

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period and previous periods.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of rollingstock, buses and non-current assets classified as held for sale are derived using the market approach. Market evidence of  
sales prices of rollingstock and bus contracts held by the PTA are used to determine price per railcar and bus respectively. It should be noted that rollingstock 
is classified as both level 2 and level 3 on the fair value hierarchy as market information is available for urban railcars, however, regional rollingstock has been 
valued by an independent third party as no observable inputs are available. 

Level 2 fair values of foreign exchange forward contracts are derived using a mark-to-market valuation methodology provided by Western Australian  
Treasury Corporation. 
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Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

2016 Land Buildings

Freight 
network 

infrastructure
Systems

infrastructure Rollingstock 
Railway 

infrastructure 
Bus 

infrastructure Vessels 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Fair Value at start of period 404,232 43,000 1,782,204 0 44,098 2,559,136 126,302 1,225

Additions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 45

Revaluation increments/
(decrements) recognised  
in Other Comprehensive Income (4,457) 0 0 0 0 491,166 0 0

Transfers 0 (15,481) 1,476 91,615 0 (12,370) 11,596 0

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation expense 0 (2,244) (146,008) (7,958) (3,161) (83,857) (6,542) (89)

Fair Value at end of period 399,775 25,275 1,637,672 83,657 40,937 2,954,075 131,356 1,181

2015 Land Buildings

Freight 
network 

infrastructure
Systems

infrastructure Rollingstock 
Railway 

infrastructure 
Bus 

infrastructure Vessels 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Fair Value at start of period 397,769 34,927 1,200,176 0 47,259 2,457,421 133,668 1,313

Additions 0 34 0 0 0 83 0 0

Revaluation increments/
(decrements) recognised  
in Other Comprehensive Income (7,151) 0 619,449 0 0 0 0 0

Transfers 13,614 10,599 54,330 0 0 196,814 249 0

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation expense 0 (2,560) (91,751) 0 (3,161) (95,182) (7,615) (88)

Fair Value at end of period 404,232 43,000 1,782,204 0 44,098 2,559,136 126,302 1,225
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The PTA enters into derivative financial 
instruments with WATC. Foreign exchange 
forward contracts are valued using valuation 
techniques, which employs the use of market 
observable inputs. The most frequently applied 
valuation techniques include forward pricing 
using present value calculations. The models 
incorporate various inputs including the credit 
quality of counter parties, foreign exchange spot 
and forward rates, yield curves of the respective 
currencies, currency basis spreads between the 
respective currencies.

Valuation processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques 
during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are 
recognised on the date of the event or change  
in circumstances that caused the transfer. 
Transfers are generally limited to assets newly 
classified as non-current assets held for sale as 
Treasurer’s instructions require valuations of land, 
buildings and infrastructure to be categorised 
within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise 
significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis.

Buildings and Infrastructure  
(Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings 
and infrastructure assets is determined by 
reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, 
i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.  
Depreciated replacement cost is the current 
replacement cost of an asset less accumulated 
depreciation calculated on the basis of such 
cost to reflect the already consumed or 
expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, 
and optimisation (where applicable) of the 
asset. Current replacement cost is generally 
determined by reference to the market-observable 
replacement cost of a substitute asset  
of comparable utility and the gross project  
size specifications.

Valuation using depreciated replacement  
cost utilises the significant Level 3 input and 
consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of 
assets which are estimated by the professional 
valuation services. The fair value measurement 
is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/
obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate 
correlating with lower estimated fair values  
of buildings and infrastructure.

For some specialised buildings and infrastructure 
assets, the current replacement cost is 
determined by reference to the historical cost 
adjusted by relevant indices.

Land (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for restricted use land is based on market 
value, by either using market evidence of sales of 
comparable land that is unrestricted less restoration 
costs to return the site to a vacant and marketable 
condition (low restricted use land), or, comparison 
with market evidence for land with low level utility 
(high restricted use land). Fair value is estimated by 
the Western Australia Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services).

Significant Level 3 unobservable inputs used  
by the PTA are derived and evaluated as follows:

Selection of land with restricted utility
Fair value for restricted use land is determined by 
comparison with market evidence for land with 
low level utility. Relevant comparators of land with 
low level utility are selected by Western Australia 
Land Information Authority (Valuation Services).

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence  
of asset
These are calculated by internal asset 
management experts with opinions taken under 
advice from external agencies when received in 
conjunction with valuation reports.
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Replacement cost per square metre floor  
area (m2)
The costs of constructing specialised buildings 
with similar utility are extracted from 2014 
valuation reports supplied by independent 
valuation experts Ralph Beattie Bosworth.

Replacement cost per individual items
The costs of significant specialised items for 
PTA buildings are extracted from 2014 valuation 
reports supplied by independent valuation experts 
Ralph Beattie Bosworth.

Replacement cost per kilometre of network
The costs of kilometres of freight network  
are extracted from 2010 valuation reports  
supplied by independent valuation experts  
Mitchell Munn Valuations. 

Replacement cost per kilometre of rail
The costs of kilometres of freight rail track  
are extracted from 2015 valuation reports  
supplied by independent valuation experts  
Griffin Valuation Advisory.

Replacement cost per cubic metre of ballast
The costs of cubic metre of ballast are  
extracted from 2015 valuation reports  
supplied by independent valuation experts  
Griffin Valuation Advisory.

Replacement cost per sleeper
The costs of sleeper are extracted from 2015 
valuation reports supplied by independent 
valuation experts Griffin Valuation Advisory.

Replacement cost per railcar components
The costs of railcar components are  
extracted from 2014 valuation reports  
supplied by independent valuation experts 
Interfleet Technologies.

Tunnel Replacement cost per metre
The costs of tunnel replacement are  
extracted from 2016 valuation reports  
supplied by independent valuation experts  
Griffin Valuation Advisory. 

Station Replacement cost per square metre 
floor area (m2)
The costs of station structures are extracted from 
2016 valuation reports supplied by independent 
valuation experts Griffin Valuation Advisory. 

Replacement cost per kilometre of rail line
The costs of kilometre of rail line are  
extracted from 2016 valuation reports  
supplied by independent valuation experts  
Griffin Valuation Advisory.

Replacement cost per signalling system
The costs of signalling systems are extracted from 
2016 valuation reports supplied by independent 
valuation experts Griffin Valuation Advisory.

Replacement cost per sleeper
The costs of sleeper are extracted from 2016 
valuation reports supplied by independent 
valuation experts Griffin Valuation Advisory.

Replacement cost per overhead traction  
wiring system
The costs of overhead traction wiring system  
are extracted from 2016 valuation reports  
supplied by independent valuation experts  
Griffin Valuation Advisory.

Movements in relevant CPI percentages over  
four financial years
The movements in relevant CPI percentages 
over the last four financial years are derived from 
taking the average movement in the Perth CPI and 
National Transport Price Index from June Quarter 
2011 to the March Quarter 2015.
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Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurement 

Description

Fair  
value 
2016  
$000

Fair  
value 
2015  
$000 Valuation technique(s) Unobservable inputs

Land 399,775 404,232 Market approach Selection of land with similar approximate utility
Buildings 25,275 43,000 Depreciated Replacement Cost Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset

Replacement cost per square metre floor area (m2)
Replacement cost per individual items

Freight network 
infrastructure

1,637,672 1,782,204 Depreciated Replacement Cost Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
Replacement cost per kilometre of network
Replacement cost per kilometre of rail
Replacement cost per cubic metres of ballast
Replacement cost per sleeper

Systems Infrastructure  83,657 0 Depreciated Replacement Cost Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
Replacement cost per individual items

Rollingstock 40,937 44,098 Depreciated Replacement Cost Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
Replacement cost per railcar components

Railway infrastructure 2,954,075 2,559,136 Depreciated Replacement Cost Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
Replacement cost per individual tunnel
Replacement cost per station structure
Replacement cost per kilometre of rail line 
Replacement cost per signal
Replacement cost per sleeper
Replacement cost per kilometre of overhead traction wiring

Bus infrastructure 131,356 126,302 Depreciated Replacement Cost Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
Replacement cost per square metre floor area (m2)
Replacement cost per individual items

Vessels 1,181 1,225 Depreciated Replacement Cost Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset
Movements in relevant CPI percentages over 4 financial years

Reconciliations of the opening and closing balances are provided in Note 24. 
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2016
$000

2015
$000

27. Intangible assets
Software – at cost 17,221 16,426

Accumulated amortisation (13,412) (11,146)
3,809 5,280

Licences – at cost 8,201 8,201
Accumulated amortisation (1,212) (624)

6,989 7,577
10,798 12,857

Reconciliations:
Software
Carrying amount at start of period 5,280 5,306
Additions and transfers in 871 2,239
Amortisation expense (2,342) (2,265)
Carrying amount at end of period 3,809 5,280
Licences
Carrying amount at start of period 7,577 3,947
Additions and transfers in 0 3,961
Amortisation expense (588) (331)
Carrying amount at end of period 6,989 7,577

28.  Non-current assets classified as held for sale
Freehold land
Opening balance 7,418 10,380
Less write-down from cost to fair value 0 (2,962)
Less land sold (7,418) 0
Closing balance 0 7,418

The PTA held land surplus to its operational requirements in 2015. The land was sold in 2016.
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2016
$000

2015
$000

29. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, vehicles, infrastructure or intangible assets at 30 June 2016.

The PTA held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no 
intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2016 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written-off.

30.  Payables
Current
Trade payables 4,813 2,300
Accrued operational expenses 70,988 86,587
Accrued salaries 5,876 5,342
Accrued interest 19,073 18,725
Other payables 2,029 1,821

102,779 114,775

31. Borrowings
Current
Western Australian Treasury Corporation Loans 125,927 115,356

Non-Current
Western Australian Treasury Corporation Loans 1,981,003 1,751,196
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2016
$000

2015
$000

32.  Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (i) 15,278 14,879
Long service leave (ii) 15,353 15,713
Deferred salary scheme (iv) 182 158

30,813 30,750
Other provisions
Workers’ compensation (601) (2,214)
Contaminated sites 6,206 4,746
Employment on-costs (iii) 3,067 3,008

8,672 5,540
39,485 36,290

Non-Current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (ii) 6,920 7,074

6,920 7,074
Other provisions
Contaminated sites 5,829 4,945
Employment on-costs (iii) 721 725

6,550 5,670
13,470 12,744
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2016
$000

2015
$000

(i) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 13,414 12,174 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 1,864 2,705 

15,278 14,879 

(ii) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end 
of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 3,728 3,265 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 18,545 19,522 

22,273 22,787 

(iii) 

(iv)

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including payroll tax and workers’ 
compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. 

The associated expense is disclosed in note 11 ‘Other expenses’.

Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 182 158
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 0 0

182 158
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2016
$000

2015
$000

Movements in other provisions
Movements in each class of provisions during the period, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

Workers’ compensation provisions
Carrying amount at start of period (2,214) (561)
Additional provisions recognised 5,979 5,436
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefit (4,366) (7,089)
Carrying amount at end of period (601) (2,214)

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period 3,733 3,687
Additional provisions recognised 1,950 1,801
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefit (1,895) (1,755)
Carrying amount at end of period 3,788 3,733

Contaminated sites provision
Carrying amount at start of period 9,691 15,685
Additional provisions recognised 6,241 3,029
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefit (3,897) (9,023)
Carrying amount at end of period 12,035 9,691

Provision has been established to cover for the costs related to 85 contaminated and suspected contaminated sites.

33.  Other current liabilities
Contractors’ deposits 1,996 1,540
Payments held in suspense 50 48
Parental leave 10 5

2,056 1,593

161Financial report / Notes to the financial statements



2016
$000

2015
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34. Deferred income – operating leases
Current
Freight network infrastructure prepaid operating lease 5,383 5,383
Co-operative Bulk Handling 99 year lease 83 83

5,466 5,466
Non-Current
Freight network infrastructure prepaid operating lease 174,939 180,322
Co-operative Bulk Handling 99 year lease 6,987 7,070

181,926 187,392

35.  Equity
The Government holds the equity interest in the PTA on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the PTA. 
The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of the non-current assets.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period 3,455,655 3,196,628

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriations 112,296 94,405
Perth Stadium account 90,687 58,474
Other contributions by owners
Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Infrastructure and Headworks Account 10,082 482
Department of Transport 39,696 63,645
Transfer of net assets from other agencies
Main Roads WA 2,133 47,362
Total contributions by owners 254,894 264,368
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2016
$000

2015
$000

Distributions to owners
Transfer of net assets to other agencies
Main Roads WA 0 (5,341)
Total distributions to owners 0 (5,341)
Balance at end of period 3,710,549 3,455,655

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of period 2,617,707 2,005,397
Net revaluation increments/(decrements):
Freight network infrastructure 0 619,449
Land (4,457) (7,151)
Railway infrastructure 491,165 0
Buses (111) 12

486,597 612,310
Hedge Reserve
Balance at start of period
Currency forward contracts (699) 0
Reclassification to profit or loss 10 0
Transferred to initial carrying amount of assets 113 0

(576) 0 
Balance at end of period 3,103,728 2,617,707

Accumulated deficit
Balance at start of period (724,272) (467,981)
Result for the period (326,321) (256,291)
Balance at end of period (1,050,593) (724,272)
Total equity at end of period 5,763,684 5,349,090
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36. Notes to the statement of cash flows

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement 
of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 132,671 125,174
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 19) 17,589 15,038

150,260 140,212

Financing facilities
The PTA has a short-term liquidity facility of $200 million (2014-15: $200 million) with the WATC.

Amounts drawn from this facility at June 30 0 0

The PTA has a working capital facility of $30 million (2014-15: $30 million) with the WATC.

Amounts drawn from this facility at June 30 30,000 30,000
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Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities
Net cost of services (1,106,604) (996,399)
Non cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 337,578 279,938
Loss/(gain) on sale/write-off of non-current assets (146) 21
Services received free of charge 856 490
Write-down of non-current assets classified as held for sale 0 2,962
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) 2,032 (1,868)
Capitalised costs written-off 0 6,808
Deferred lease income (5,466) (5,466)
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (i) 995 1,560
Current inventories 55 (1,874)
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (i) 5,282 3,100
Current provisions 3,171 (4,554)
Other current liabilities 463 1,435
Non-current provisions 751 (2,674)
Change in GST receivables/payments (ii) (9,890) (112)
Net cash used in operating activities (770,923) (716,633)

(i)  Note that Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of 
non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling item.

(ii) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.
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37. Commitments
The commitments below are inclusive of GST.

Capital expenditure commitments:
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable  
as follows:

Within one year 578,043 346,843
Later than one year and not later than five years 1,015,706 308,120
Later than five years 625 4,869

1,594,374 659,832
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments:
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

Within one year 818 824
Later than one year and not later than five years 795 814

1,613 1,638
Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Within one year 714,560 692,417
Later than one year and not later than five years 2,425,765 2,334,704
Later than five years 1,102,621 1,282,356

4,242,946 4,309,477

Corporate snapshot / Organisational profile166 Financial report / Notes to the financial statements



38. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in 
the financial statements:

Litigation in progress
A third party has an ongoing (commenced in February 2012) Supreme Court 
action against the PTA relating to a claim to provide a Railway Crossing 
pursuant to Section 102 of the Public Works Act. The PTA has denied all 
liability and is defending the action. It is not possible to estimate the amount 
of any eventual payments in relation to this claim at balance sheet date.

A former contractor has an ongoing District Court action (commenced 
January 2014) against the PTA relating to a claim for breach of contract for 
services performed on the urban rail network. The PTA has denied all liability 
and is defending the action. The plaintiff’s claim is for $741,503 however it 
is not possible to estimate the amount of any eventual payment in relation to 
this claim as at balance sheet date.

Contaminated Sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the PTA is required to report 
known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment 
Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, DER classifies these sites  
on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental 
values. Where sites are classified as contaminated – remediation required or 
possibly contaminated – investigation required, the PTA may have a liability  
in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

During the year the PTA reported two additional suspected contaminated 
sites to DER. These have been classified as possibly contaminated – 
investigation required. The PTA is currently assessing the likely outcome  
of the classification process, and the potential financial effect. Whilst there  
is no possibility of reimbursement of any future expenses that may be 
incurred in the remediation of these sites, the PTA may apply for funding 
from the Contaminated Sites Management Account to undertake further 
investigative work or to meet remediation costs that may be required.
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39. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers
Remuneration of members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, 
salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the 
financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$ 2016 2015

0 – 10,000 1 1

$000 $000

The total remuneration of members of the 
accountable authority 0 0

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by  
the PTA in respect of the member of the accountable authority.

The accountable authority of the PTA is the Director General – Transport 
who oversees the agencies Main Roads WA, the Department of Transport 
and the PTA from 3 May 2010. The Director General’s remuneration is paid 
by the Department of Transport. The day-to-day operations of the PTA are 
overseen by the Managing Director whose remuneration is reported under 
the remuneration of senior officers.

Remuneration of senior officers 
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of 
the accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary 
benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following bands are: 

$ 2016 2015

60,001 – 70,000 1 0
210,001 – 220,000 1 2
220,001 – 230,000 1 0
230,001 – 240,000 1 1
240,001 – 250,000 2 3
250,001 – 260,000 2 2
280,001 – 290,000 1 1
290,001 – 300,000 1 0
300,001 – 310,000 1 0
330,001 – 340,000 0 1
350,001 – 360,000 0 1
370,001 – 380,000 1 0

12 11

2016
$000

2015
$000

Base remuneration and superannuation 2,584 2,505
Annual leave and long service leave accruals 322 294
Other benefits 96 93
Total remuneration of the senior officers 3,002 2,892

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the 
PTA in respect of senior officers other than the senior officer reported as the 
member of the accountable authority.
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40. Financial instruments
a)  Financial risk management objectives 

and policies
Financial instruments held by the PTA are 
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash 
and cash equivalents, WATC borrowings, 
foreign exchange forward contracts, finance 
leases, receivables and payables. The PTA has 
limited exposure to financial risks. The PTA’s 
overall risk management program focuses 
on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility 
of the PTA’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss  
to the PTA.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end 
of the reporting period in relation to each class of 
recognised financial assets is the gross carrying 
amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance 
for impairment as shown in the table at note 40 
‘Financial instruments’ and note 21 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the PTA’s financial 
assets is minimal because the main receivable 
is the amounts receivable for services (holding 
account). For receivables other than government, 
the PTA trades only with recognised, creditworthy 
third parties. The PTA has policies in place to 

ensure that sales of products and services are 
made to customers with an appropriate  
credit history. In addition, receivable balances  
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result 
that the PTA’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. 
At the end of the reporting period there were  
no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the PTA is unable  
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.

The PTA is exposed to liquidity risk through its 
trading in the normal course of business.

The PTA has appropriate procedures to  
manage cash flows including drawdown of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows 
to ensure that sufficient funds are available to 
meet its commitments.

The PTA has a short-term liquidity facility of  
$200 million and a working capital facility of 
$30 million on which it can draw down to fund 
temporary cash shortfall. The PTA is currently in  
a net current liability position but can convert their 
short-term borrowings at any time as approval 
from the Western Australian Treasury Corporation 
(WATC) has been obtained. As such, this does not 
pose a liquidity risk to the PTA.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market 
prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the PTA’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments.

The PTA’s exposure to market risk for changes 
in interest relates primarily to the long-term debt 
obligations. The PTA’s borrowings are all obtained 
through WATC and are repayable at fixed rates 
with varying maturities. The risk is managed 
by WATC through portfolio diversification and 
variation in maturity dates. The PTA earns interest 
on the daily balance of its bank account.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair  
value or future cash flows of an exposure will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange 
rates. The PTA’s exposure to the risk of changes  
in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to  
the PTA’s Asset Investment Program activities 
(when capital expenditure is denominated in  
a foreign currency).

The PTA uses foreign exchange forward contracts 
to manage its foreign currency risk for transactions 
that are expected to occur within a maximum 
30-month period.
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The PTA enters into foreign exchange forward contracts with the Western Australian Treasury Corporation. Foreign exchange forward contracts are 
designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges of highly probable forecast purchases or firm commitment for future purchases in foreign currencies. 
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Euro, British Pound and Swedish Krona. 

While the PTA also enters into other foreign exchange forward contracts with the intention of reducing the foreign exchange risk of expected purchases,  
these other contracts are not designated in hedging relationships and are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
The PTA’s exposure to foreign currency risk at end of the reporting period was as follows, based on notional amounts in Australian dollars (AUD):

British Pound Euro Swedish Krona

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward contracts designated as hedging instruments 1,315 5,735 10,322 11,417 26,450 26,531

Settlement dates of foreign exchange forward contracts

2016
Notional Amount 

AUD
Up to 1  
month

1 to 3  
months

3 months  
to 1 year 

1 to 5  
years

More than 
5 years

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

British Pound 1,315 1,315 0 0 0 0

Euro 10,322 1,396 0 5,474 3,452 0

Swedish Krona 26,450 14,313 0 0 12,137 0

38,087 17,024 0 5,474 15,589 0

2015
Notional Amount 

AUD
Up to 1  
month

1 to 3  
months

3 months  
to 1 year 

1 to 5  
years

More than 
5 years

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

British Pound 5,735 0 0 5,735 0 0

Euro 11,417 11,417 0 0 0 0

Swedish Krona 26,531 81 0 0 26,450 0

43,683 11,498 0 5,735 26,450 0
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b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 132,671 125,174
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17,589 15,038
Loans and receivables (i) 858,941 920,841
Foreign exchange forward contracts 418 1,949

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 2,211,765 1,982,920
Foreign exchange forward contracts 48 81

(i) The amount of loan and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk 
The following table discloses the PTA’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The PTA’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are 
past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the PTA. 

The PTA does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds. 
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Aged analysis of financial assets

2016 Note
Carrying 
Amount

Not past  
due and not 

impaired 
Up to  

1 month
1 to 3 

months
3 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
years

More 
than  

5 years

Impaired 
financial 

assets

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash and cash equivalents 36 132,671 132,671 0 0 0 0 0 0
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19 17,589 17,589 0 0 0 0 0 0
Receivables (i) 21 9,948 7,233 1,691 989 33 2 0 0
Amounts receivable for services 23 848,993 848,993 0 0 0 0 0 0

1,009,201 1,006,486 1,691 989 33 2 0 0

2015 Note
Carrying 
Amount

Not past  
due and not 

impaired 
Up to  

1 month
1 to 3 

months
3 months 
to 1 year 

1 to 5 
years

More 
than  

5 years

Impaired 
financial 

assets

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash and cash equivalents 36 125,174 125,174 0 0 0 0 0 0
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19 15,038 15,038 0 0 0 0 0 0
Receivables (i) 21 10,723 8,858 877 841 147 0 0 0
Amounts receivable for services 23 910,118 910,118 0 0 0 0 0 0

1,061,053 1,059,188 877 841 147 0 0 0

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the PTA’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity 
analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item. 

Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

 Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

2016 Note

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate 
Carrying 
Amount 

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 
rate (ii)

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 

 1 to 5 
years

More 
than 5 
years

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 36 2.26 132,671 0 132,671 0 132,671 132,671 0 0 0 0

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19 2.26 17,589 0 17,589 0 17,589 17,589 0 0 0 0

Receivables (i) 21 9,948 0 0 9,948 9,948 9,948 0 0 0 0

Amounts receivable for services 23 848,993 0 0 848,993 848,993 0 0 64,232 266,096 518,665

1,009,201 0 150,260 858,941 1,009,201 160,208 0 64,232 266,096 518,665

Financial Liabilities    

Payables 30 102,779 0 0 102,779 102,779 102,779 0 0 0 0

Other current liabilities 33 2,056 0 0 2,056 2,056 2,056 0 0 0 0

WATC loans (iii) 31 3.73 2,106,930 2,106,930 0 0 2,799,185 72,078 472 139,839 693,068 1,893,728

2,211,765 2,106,930 0 104,835 2,904,020 176,913 472 139,839 693,068 1,893,728

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(ii) Variable interest rates represent the most recently determined rate applicable to the instrument at the end of the reporting period.

(iii) The principal repayment of the WATC loans is based on a 25 year repayment schedule. 
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 Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

2015 Note

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate 
Carrying 
Amount 

Fixed 
interest 

rate

Variable 
interest 
rate (ii)

Non-
interest 
bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to 1 
month

1 to 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year 

 1 to 5 
years

More 
than 5 
years

% $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 36 2.70 125,174 0 125,174 0 125,174 125,174 0 0 0 0

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19 2.70 15,038 0 15,038 0 15,038 15,038 0 0 0 0

Receivables (i) 21 10,723 0 0 10,723 10,723 10,723 0 0 0 0

Amounts receivable for services 23 910,118 0 0 910,118 910,118 0 0 61,125 221,794 627,199

1,061,053 0 140,212 920,841 1,061,053 150,935 0 61,125 221,794 627,199

Financial Liabilities    

Payables 30 114,775 0 0 114,775 114,775 114,775 0 0 0 0

Other current liabilities 33 1,593 0 0 1,593 1,593 1,593 0 0 0 0

WATC loans (iii) 31 4.06 1,866,552 1,866,552 0 0 2,315,960 70,420 0 118,217 560,543 1,566,780

1,982,920 1,866,552 0 116,368 2,432,328 186,788 0 118,217 560,543 1,566,780

(i) The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities.

(ii) Variable interest rates represent the most recently determined rate applicable to the instrument at the end of reporting period.

(iii) The principal repayment of the WATC loans is based on a 25 year repayment schedule.
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the PTA’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on  
the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the 
reporting period.

–100 basis points +100 basis points

2016
Carrying 
amount Deficit Equity Deficit Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 132,671 (1,327) (1,327) 1,327 1,327

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17,589 (176) (176) 176 176

Total increase/(decrease) (1,503) (1,503) 1,503 1,503

–100 basis points +100 basis points

2015
Carrying 
amount Deficit Equity Deficit Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 125,174 (1,252) (1,252) 1,252 1,252

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 15,038 (150) (150) 150 150

Total increase/(decrease) (1,402) (1,402) 1,402 1,402
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Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the foreign currency rate sensitivity of the PTA’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period 
on the surplus for the period and equity for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout 
the reporting period. 

-10% +10%

2016 Deficit Equity Deficit Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

EUR – Euro (1,032) (1,032) 1,032 1,032

GBP – British Pound (131) (131) 131 131

SEK – Swedish Krona (2,645) (2,645) 2,645 2,645

Total increase/(decrease) (3,808) (3,808) 3,808 3,808

-10% +10%

2015 Deficit Equity Deficit Equity

$000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

EUR – Euro (1,142) (1,142) 1,142 1,142

GBP – British Pound (573) (573) 573 573

SEK – Swedish Krona (2,653) (2,653) 2,653 2,653

Total increase/(decrease) (4,368) (4,368) 4,368 4,368
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Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts 
that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

2016
$000

2015
$000

41. Supplementary financial information
Write offs
Public property written-off by the Executive Council during the period (i) 539 0
Revenue written-off (i) 38 42

577 42
Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
Loss of public moneys and public and other property through theft or default 0 4

(i) In 2015-16, $37,644 (2014-15: $41,548) of bad debts were written off. In 2015-16, $539,279 was written off the PTA’s asset register.

42. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
The PTA has not identified any material events after the end of the reporting period that would require adjustment or disclosure to be made.
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43. Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are shown below.  
Narratives are provided for key variations selected from observed major variances, which are generally greater than: 

• 5% and $25 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and, 

• 5% and $25 million for the Statement of Financial Position.

Statements of Comprehensive Income (Controlled Operations)

Variance  
Note

Estimate 
2016

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2015

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between  

actual results for  
2016 and 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 166,933 167,494 158,495 561 8,999

Supplies and services 246,893 240,879 218,944 (6,014) 21,935

Depreciation and amortisation expense 1,A 267,328 337,578 279,938 70,250 57,640

Finance costs 94,352 83,508 83,588 (10,844) (80)

Grants and subsidies 506,740 491,581 478,531 (15,159) 13,050

Energy and fuel 30,338 27,446 26,041 (2,892) 1,405

Loss on disposal/write-off of non-current assets 0 0 21 0 (21)

Other expenses 18,316 22,745 21,896 4,429 849

Total cost of services 1,330,900 1,371,231 1,267,454 40,331 103,777
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Variance  
Note

Estimate 
2016

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2015

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between  

actual results for  
2016 and 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Income

Revenue

User charges and fees 222,511 210,453 214,295 (12,058) (3,842)

Operating lease revenue 5,466 5,466 5,466 0 0

Commonwealth grants and contributions 8,014 4 4 (8,010) 0

Interest revenue 750 1,430 1,375 680 55

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 430 146 0 (284) 146

Other revenue 38,572 47,128 49,915 8,556 (2,787)

Total revenue 275,743 264,627 271,055 (11,116) (6,428)

Total income other than income from State Government 275,743 264,627 271,055 (11,116) (6,428)

NET COST OF SERVICES 1,055,157 1,106,604 996,399 51,447 110,205

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Operating subsidy contributions B 787,487 777,188 737,054 (10,299) 40,134

Services received free of charge 0 856 490 856 366

Royalties for Regions Fund 2,239 2,239 2,564 0 (325)

Total income from State Government 789,726 780,283 740,108 (9,443) 40,175

DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (265,431) (326,321) (256,291) (60,890) (70,030)
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Variance  
Note

Estimate 
2016

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2015

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between  

actual results for  
2016 and 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 2,C 0 486,597 612,310 486,597 (125,713)

Changes in hedge reserve 0 (576) 0 (576) (576)

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 0 486,021 612,310 486,021 (126,289)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD (265,431) 159,700 356,019 425,131 (196,319)

Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives
1)  Depreciation and amortisation expense increased by $70.2 million  

(26%) mainly due to the revaluation of freight network infrastructure (FNI) 
and changes to the useful lives of certain components of the FNI.

2)  Changes in asset revaluation surplus increased by $486.6 million  
mainly due to the valuation of the railway infrastructure.

Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives
A)  Depreciation and amortisation expense increased by $57.6 million (21%) 

mainly due to the revaluation of FNI and changes to the useful lives of 
certain components of the FNI.

B)  Operating subsidy contributions increased by $40.1 million (5%)  
due to higher operating costs.

C)  Changes in asset revaluation surplus decreased by $125.7 million 
(20.5%) due to the revaluation of different classes of assets.  
The FNI class was revalued in 2014-15 whereas the railway 
infrastructure class was revalued in 2015-16.
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Statement of Financial Position (Controlled Operations)

Variance  
Note

Estimate 
2016

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2015

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between  

actual results for  
2016 and 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 76,627 132,671 125,174 56,044 7,497

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7,671 14,629 12,626 6,958 2,003

Inventories 14,396 16,216 16,270 1,820 (54)

Receivables 26,025 33,106 23,993 7,081 9,113

Prepayments 14,586 14,953 15,171 367 (218)

Amounts receivable for services 4 36,336 64,232 61,125 27,896 3,107

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 2,530 0 7,418 (2,530) (7,418)

Current financial asset 0 56 1,172 56 (1,116)

Total Current Assets 178,171 275,863 262,949 97,692 12,914

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,744 2,960 2,412 (784) 548

Amounts receivable for services 5,D 812,658 784,761 848,993 (27,897) (64,232)

Infrastructure, property, plant, equipment and vehicles 6,E 6,024,766 7,135,500 6,445,995 1,110,734 689,505

Intangible assets 6,615 10,798 12,857 4,183 (2,059)

Prepayments 5,600 5,600 0 0 5,600

Non-current financial asset 0 362 777 362 (415)

Total Non-Current Assets 6,853,383 7,939,981 7,311,034 1,086,598 628,947

TOTAL ASSETS 7,031,554 8,215,844 7,573,983 1,184,290 641,861
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Variance  
Note

Estimate 
2016

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2015

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between  

actual results for  
2016 and 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 98,553 102,779 114,775 4,226 (11,996)

Borrowings 7 87,658 125,927 115,356 38,269 10,571

Provisions 40,435 39,485 36,290 (950) 3,195

Other current liabilities 0 2,056 1,593 2,056 463

Deferred income operating lease 5,466 5,466 5,466 0 0

Current financial liability 0 48 81 48 (33)

Total Current Liabilities 232,112 275,761 273,561 43,649 2,200

Non-Current Liabilities

Borrowings 8,F 1,864,532 1,981,003 1,751,196 116,471 229,807

Provisions 15,485 13,470 12,744 (2,015) 726

Deferred income operating lease 181,926 181,926 187,392 0 (5,466)

Total Non-Current Liabilities 2,061,943 2,176,399 1,951,332 114,456 225,067

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,294,055 2,452,160 2,224,893 158,105 227,267

NET ASSETS 4,737,499 5,763,684 5,349,090 1,026,185 414,594

EQUITY

Contributed equity G 3,725,478 3,710,549 3,455,655 (14,929) 254,894

Reserves 9,H 2,005,398 3,103,728 2,617,707 1,098,330 486,021

Accumulated deficit 10,I (993,377) (1,050,593) (724,272) (57,216) (326,321)

TOTAL EQUITY 4,737,499 5,763,684 5,349,090 1,026,185 414,594
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Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives
3)  Cash and cash equivalents increased by $56.0 million (73%)  

due to project deferrals in the PTA approved Asset Investment Program.

4)  Current amounts receivables for services increased by $27.9 million 
(76%) due to reallocation from current assets to non-current assets.
(refer to point 5)

5)  Non-current amounts receivable for services decreased by $27.9 million 
(3%) due to reallocation from current assets to non-current assets. 
(refer to point 4)

6)  Infrastructure, property, plant, equipment and vehicles increased 
by $1,110.7 million (18%) due to revaluation of FNI and railway 
infrastructure.

7)  Current borrowing increased by $38.2 million (44%) mainly  
due to the adoption of the WATC working capital facility and  
additional principal repayment for 2015-16.

8)  Non-current borrowings increased by $116.5 million (6%) mainly  
due to new borrowings to fund the PTA Asset Investment Program.

9)  Reserves increased by $1,098.3 million (55%) mainly due to revaluation 
of FNI and railway infrastructure.

10)  Accumulated deficit increased by $57.2 million (5.7%) mainly  
due to increased depreciation resulting from revaluation of FNI and 
changes to useful lives of certain components of the FNI.

Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives
D)  Non-current amounts receivable for services decreased by $64.2 million 

(7.6%) mainly due to drawdown from the holding account for the bus 
replacement as per the PTA Asset Investment Program.

E)  Infrastructure, property, plant, equipment and vehicles increased by 
$689.5 million (11%) mainly due to revaluation of railway infrastructure, 
purchase of additional buses, railcars and network expansion.

F)  Non-current borrowings increased by $229.8 million (13%) mainly  
due to new borrowings to fund the PTA Asset Investment Program.

G)  Contributed Equity increased by $254.9 million (7%) mainly  
due to equity funding from WA Treasury for the PTA Asset Investment 
Program and debt repayment.

H)  Reserves increased by $486.0 million (19%) mainly due to revaluation  
of the railway infrastructure.

I)  Accumulated deficit increased by $326.3 million (45%) mainly  
due to unfunded depreciation.
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Statement of Cash Flows (Controlled Operations)

Variance  
Note

Estimate 
2016

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2015

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between  

actual results for  
2016 and 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Operating subsidy contributions J 787,487 777,188 737,053 (10,299) 40,135

Capital appropriation – other government agencies 39,696 39,696 63,645 0 (23,949)

Capital appropriations 11 139,661 112,296 94,405 (27,365) 17,891

Perth Stadium account 12,K 122,739 90,687 58,474 (32,052) 32,213

Royalties for Regions Fund 11,988 12,321 3,046 333 9,275

Holding account drawdowns L 61,125 61,125 35,728 0 25,397

Net cash provided by State Government 1,162,696 1,093,313 992,351 (69,383) 100,962

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits (168,285) (166,621) (157,099) 1,664 (9,522)

Supplies and services (277,376) (264,584) (249,521) 12,792 (15,063)

Finance costs (94,352) (83,160) (81,874) 11,192 (1,286)

Grants and subsidies (506,741) (489,652) (476,523) 17,089 (13,129)

Receipts paid into consolidated account (3,940) (4,156) (3,543) (216) (613)

GST payments on purchases 13 (97,537) (127,328) (108,472) (29,791) (18,856)

Other payments (14,331) (14,109) (15,621) 222 1,512
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Variance  
Note

Estimate 
2016

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2015

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between  

actual results for  
2016 and 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Receipts

User charges and fees 222,511 211,843 224,385 (10,668) (12,542)

Commonwealth grants and contributions 8,014 4 4 (8,010) 0

Interest received 750 1,356 1,665 606 (309)

GST receipts on sales 22,766 26,653 26,736 3,887 (83)

GST receipts from taxation authority 74,771 91,306 82,049 16,535 9,257

Other receipts 38,572 47,525 41,181 8,953 6,344

Net cash used in operating activities (795,178) (770,923) (716,633) 24,255 (54,290)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets 14,M (475,054) (554,943) (378,950) (79,889) (175,993)

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 430 7,822 18 7,392 7,804

Net cash used in investing activities (474,624) (547,121) (378,932) (72,497) (168,189)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Repayment of borrowings 15,N (121,021) (154,621) (275,177) (33,600) 120,556

Other repayments (6,565) (5,600) (1,251) 965 (4,349)

Receipts

Proceeds from borrowings 16 206,659 395,000 403,830 188,341 (8,830)

Net cash provided by financing activities 79,073 234,779 127,402 155,706 107,377
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Variance  
Note

Estimate 
2016

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2015

Variance 
between 
estimate  

and actual

Variance 
between  

actual results for  
2016 and 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (28,033) 10,048 24,188 38,081 (14,140)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 116,075 140,212 116,024 24,137 24,188

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 88,042 150,260 140,212 62,218 10,048

Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives
11)  Capital appropriations decreased by $27.4 million (20%) to align  

with the PTA’s Asset Investment Program.

12)  The Perth Stadium account decreased by $32 million (26%) to align  
with the stadium construction program.

13)  GST payments on purchases increased by $29.8 million (31%)  
as the estimate did not reflect GST for deferrals and accruals.

14)  Purchase of non-current physical assets increased by $79.9 million 
(17%) to align with the Forrestfield-Airport Link construction program.

15)  Repayment of borrowings increased by $33.6 million (28%) mainly due 
to the increased use of the Working Capital Facility (refer to point 16).

16)  Proceeds from borrowings increased by $188.3 million (91%) mainly  
due to higher borrowings to fund the PTA’s Asset Investment Program 
and increased use of the Working Capital Facility (refer to point 15).

Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives
J)  Operating subsidy contributions increased by $40.1 million (5%)  

due to higher operating costs.

K)  Perth Stadium increased by $32.2 million (55%) mainly due to the 
change in cash flow of the Perth Stadium project to align with the 
stadium construction program.

L)  Holding account drawdowns increased by $25.4 million (71%) mainly 
due to higher bus replacement as per PTA’s Asset Investment Program.

M)  Purchase of non-current physical assets increased by  
$176.0 million (46%) mainly due to network expansion as per the  
PTA’s Asset Investment Program.

N)  Repayment of borrowings decreased by $120.6 million (44%) mainly  
due to lower use of the Working Capital Facility.
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44. Schedule of income and expenses by service 

Metropolitan 
and Regional 

Passenger Services

Country Passenger 
Rail and Road 

Coach Services

Regional School  
Bus Services

Rail Corridor  
and Residual 
Freight Issues

Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses 

Employee benefits expenses  142,418  134,375  14,654  13,839  4,161  3,385  6,261  6,896  167,494  158,495 

Supplies and Services  200,292  182,721  23,411  21,889  1,897  1,394  15,279  12,940  240,879  218,944 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  179,439  175,856  3,360  4,185  1,495  1,568  153,284  98,329  337,578  279,938 

Finance costs  79,195  78,649  2,009  2,263 0 0  2,304  2,676  83,508  83,588 

Grants and subsidies  371,702  360,914 0 0  119,879  117,617 0 0  491,581  478,531 

Energy and fuel  23,742  21,955  2,657  3,148 0 0  1,047  938  27,446  26,041 

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 0  21 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  21 

Other expenses  19,879  16,039  1,298  1,340  434  622  1,134  3,895  22,745  21,896 

Total cost of services  1,016,667  970,530  47,389  46,664  127,866  124,586  179,309  125,674  1,371,231  1,267,454 

Income

User charges and fees  195,442  199,101  9,994  10,028  5,017  5,166 0 0  210,453  214,295 

Operating lease revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0  5,466  5,466  5,466  5,466 

Commonwealth grants and contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0  4  4  4  4 

Interest revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0  1,430  1,375  1,430  1,375 

Gain on disposal of non-current assets  146 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  146 0 

Other revenue  31,384  34,895  1,161  1,027  1,753 0 12,830  13,993  47,128  49,915 

Total income other than income  
from State Government  226,972  233,996  11,155  11,055  6,770  5,166  19,730  20,838  264,627  271,055 

NET COST OF SERVICES  789,695  736,534  36,234  35,609  121,096  119,420  159,579  104,836  1,106,604  996,399 
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Metropolitan 
and Regional 

Passenger Services

Country Passenger 
Rail and Road 

Coach Services

Regional School  
Bus Services

Rail Corridor  
and Residual 
Freight Issues

Total

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

INCOME FROM 
STATE GOVERNMENT

Operating subsidy contributions  621,876  585,534  30,095  28,638  121,539  118,608  3,678  4,274  777,188  737,054 

Services received free of charge 0 0 0 0 0 0  856  490  856  490 

Royalties for Regions 0 0  2,239  2,564 0 0 0 0  2,239  2,564 

Total income from State Government  621,876  585,534  32,334  31,202  121,539  118,608  4,534  4,764  780,283  740,108 

Surplus/(deficit) for the period  (167,819)  (151,000)  (3,900)  (4,407)  443  (812)  (155,045)  (100,072)  (326,321)  (256,291)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

2016
$000

2015
$000

45 Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators 196 189

46 Special purpose accounts

The Forrestfield-Airport Link Account
A special purpose account was established under section 16(1) (c) of the FMA in this financial year. The purpose of the account is to hold funds 
received from the Commonwealth Government towards project costs for the construction of the Forrestfield-Airport Link project. No transactions took 
place in the current financial year. 

47 Act of Grace payments
No Act of Grace payments made pursuant to authorisations given under Section 80(1)  
of the Financial Management Act 2006. (2015: three) 0 109
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Glossary of terms

ACR Annual corridor report

ASL

Acceptable service level  
(an hourly service during the day 
with at least three trips, i.e. at 
20-minute intervals, in the peak 
flow direction in the morning and 
afternoon peaks).

CaLD Culturally and linguistically diverse

CAT Central area transit

Category A Incident causing serious injury, 
death, or  significant damage.

Category B Incident that may have the potential 
to cause a serious accident.

CCTV Closed-circuit television

Circle 
Route

A high-frequency bus service 
connecting major shopping centres, 
universities, schools and colleges.

CLA Corridor lease agreement

CMR Central monitoring room

CNG Compressed natural gas

CRM Composite rate model

DAIP Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

DER Department of Environmental 
Regulation

DoE Department of Education

DoT Department of Transport

DPI Department of Planning  
and Infrastructure

ECM Evergreen contract model

EDRMS Electronic document records 
management system

EMS Environmental Management 
Systems

FAL Forrestfield-Airport Link

Fare-paying 
boardings 

Covers only those people, 
standard fare or concession, who 
pay (either by tagging on or by 
the purchase of a cash ticket) 
as they enter the system.

FTZ Free Transit Zone

GPS Global Positioning System

HSE Health, safety and environment

Initial 
boardings 

Fare-paying boardings, plus free 
travel on passes, free travel on 
CAT services in Perth, Fremantle 
and Joondalup and free travel on 
services within the Perth FTZ.

IPLS Infrastructure Planning and Land 
Services (PTA division)

KPI Key performance indicator

KRA Key Result Area

LTI Lost time injury

MRWA Main Roads WA

N&I Network and Infrastructure (PTA 
division)

OLE Overhead line equipment

ORS Office of Rail Safety

OSH Occupational safety and health

OTR On-time running

Passenger 
place 
kilometres 

The average seat capacity multiplied 
by the kilometres travelled while in 
service.

PDP Project definition plan

POD People and Organisational 
Development (PTA division)

PPTA Perth Public Transport Area

PSA Property Street Addresses

PSM Passenger Satisfaction Monitor

PTA Public Transport Authority  
of Western Australia

PTC Public Transport Centre

RTBS Regional Town Bus Services  
(PTA branch)

RUS Route Utilisation Strategy

SBS School Bus Services (PTA branch)

Service 
kilometres 

The kilometres travelled  
while in service.

SSMG Strategic Safeworking Management 
Group

STAPF Student Transport Assistance Policy 
Framework

Total 
boardings

Fare-paying boardings, plus free 
travel on passes, free travel on 
CAT services in Perth, Fremantle 
and Joondalup and free travel on 
services within the Perth FTZ, plus 
transfers between services.

TTO Transperth Train Operations  
(PTA division)

WAGRC
Western Australian Government 
Railways Commission  
(PTA predecessor)
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Public Transport Centre, West Parade, Perth, WA 6000 
PO Box 8125, Perth Business Centre, Perth, WA 6849
Telephone (08) 9326 2000 • enquire@pta.wa.gov.au • www�pta�wa�gov�au 

Public Transport
Authority 
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